PSYCHIATRIC SERVICES, s.C.

2727 MARSHALL COURT
MADIESON WISCONSIN 337os
TELEPHONE (808) 23@-93854

January 10, 1992

E. Michael McCann
District Attorney

Milwaukee County Safety Building
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53233-148s5

RE: Jeffrey 1. Dahmer Examination
F-812542

Dear Mr. McCann:

At your request, I examined Jeffrey L. Dahmer. T examined him at the

Milwaukee County Safery Building on October 16, 1991, October 23, 1991,

November 13, 1991, and January 9, 1992, and on December 20, 1991 at the

Columbia Correctional Institution, T understand he is being charged with

fifteen counts of First Degreae Intentional Homicide and that the alleged

offenses occurred between January of 1988 and July of 1991, This exam-
‘ion was conducted in regard to his Mental Responsibility during the

«“€ 1n question and as directed pursuant to Section 971.1¢ of the

Statutes.

My examination consisted of a stucdy of the collateral materials, a review
of his past bersonal history, a discussion of the charges against him,
and an observation as to his present mental status iunctioning, Available
to me was g3 copy of the Criminagl Complaint, police reports and state-
ments, prior mental health records, and cther miscellaneus records.

The nonconfidential nature of our interview, the reasons for this
examination, the present legal Proceedings, the nature of his special
Plea, and the Possible future dispositions were discussed with him. Ho
understood this discussion,

Mr. Dahmer bPresented as an alert and cocperative, 31~year-old, Single
Caucasian male,. He talked freely, related appropriately, and was an
drticulate historian. The information he volunteered Seemed generally
reliable and was Presented in a forthright manner. A typed copy of myv
interview notes has been forwarded to you and will not bdbe included in

this conclusory report,.
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Throughouyt my interviews, his mental stalus examination was within normal
imits. Ng disturbance of speech or motor behavior was noted. JIis mood
did not refjlect any undue anxiety, depression, or inappropriateness,
other than some blandness or flatness of affect. His thought processes
viere coherent, and he denied past and present psychotic symptoms such as
delusions or hallucinations. He comprehended my questions, and his
recent and past memory was quite good. He appeared to bhe of at least

average intelligence.

Diagnostically, there is a history of various personality traits inclu-
ding a tendency towards social withdrawal and trouble forming relation-
ships. Superimposed on his basic personality make-up is ga history of
long-standing involvement with alcohol (Alcohol Abuse/Dependence), and a
g8ay/homosexual sexual orientation., I was not able to substantiate an

as Schizophraenia, a Bipolar (manic-

Ongoing type of mental disease such
depressive) or other type of Mood Disorder, an Organic Mental Disorder,

or other type of psychotic disorder. The main area of psychiatriec
disturbance is obviously in his sexual behavior and adjustment and as
manifested by his capacity to commit several homicides for sexual
purposes and by his capacity to engage in necrophilic behavior. Since
his pattern of sexual behavior is clinically rare (and perhaps even
unheard of) and most unusual and bizarre, no particular single diagnostic
Category adequately covers this most unusual case. The diagnosis of
Paraphilia, Not Othewise Specified, would be a diagnostic category to
note the primary area of pPsychiatric disturbance.

L MilwauRee, his sexual adjustment and functioning, obviously, became
.e inappropriate and pathological and he began using a drug-alccohol
~+Xture tO incapacitate his male sexual partners. (Prior +o this he had

considered and 8ltempted to use a sawed-off baseball bat and a bar-bell.)

iis desire to incapacitate his sexual partners/victims 3ppeared to be an
} and a means by which he

atttempt to prolong their Ssexual availability,
could setisfy his needs for control and to have a “fully cooperative"
(nonresisting) and "completely passive" (nonrejecting) sexual partner.
He later started killing/strangling his partners as a means to incapaci-
tate them and to prolong their sexual availability for a few more days.
He later tried, but unsuccessfully, tao incapacitate thenm Dy the use of a

rubber hammer and a "drill" techniqgue.

While his partners weére incapacitated and/or deceased, he would engege in
various sexual and other necrophilia acts, as described in my notes. The
dismembering and disposal of the body parts did not appear to be
primarily Sexually motivated behavior, but instead was carried oul more
35 a8 matter of necessity and after the bodies were no longer of scxual
value to him. Certain body parts, and especially the victims skulls,
were kept for "momentos' and were used for sexual stimulation purposas,

as were the pictures he took of the victims.

g the mental responsibility issue is whethor
Or not a type of mental disease caused hiim to "lack substantial capacit
during the time of the actual killing (usually by strangulation) of the
victims. Based on my examination and studv of the collateral reporrs,
Wa” not able to substantiate that a typc of mental disease caused him o
) substantial capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his t=haviur,

ot to be able to conform his conduct to the requirements of law. (N

The critial question regardin
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defect/mental retardation is not an issue in this case and he clearly was
nf at least averasge intelligence.)

.is pathologica] sexual needs certainly explains his motivation for
engaging in theses offenses, but they did not appear to cause him to
"lack substantial capacilty" for non-responsibility purposes. He admitted
that he was fully aware of the illegality, impropriety, and "wrongful-
ness" of his behavior, and that he lived in '"horror " of being
discovered. He described various steps and behaviors that he engaged in
and from which the inference can be wmade that he appreciated the

wrongfulness of his conduct.

Even though his sexual desires were described as strong and "lustful”
(his swiords), he described being rather selective in choosing his
partners/victims, and he also mentioned which various conditions and
circumstances that would deter him, or cause him to refrain from engaging

in any homicidal behavior.

Other factors were also present which help account for these offenses.
His ability to engage in various incapacitating techniques for his own
sexual needs certainly reflects an impaired sense of conscience and a
disregard for the well-being of others - an impairment which appears to
have been present for many years and which helps explain the Hick's
homicide. (He called this the '""ultimate in selfishness.”) Some degree of
intoxication was usually present and was certainly contributory to
understanding his behavier. His purposely trying to keep the relation-
ships "impersonal" and "depersonalized" helps explain how he could view
Fis victims as '"objects," thus making it easier to kill them. As time

>gressed, and as the killings ''got so routine" (also the various steps
.or disposal), he admitted, and I concur, that he eventually became more
"desensitized' to the taboo and abhorrent nature of his behavior.

Thank you for this referral and if vou have any further guestions, please

feel free to ccntact me,

Sincerely,

otlscie T, T dil20. 10

Frederick A. Fosdal, M.D.

Diplomate American Board of Forensic Psychiatry
Diplomate American Board of Psychiatry & Neurology
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DR. CARL M. WAHLSTROM, Jr.

1725 West Harmson Street, Suite 744
Chicago. [llinois 60612

Telephone: (312) 942-2815

January 9, 1992

Mr. Gerald P. Bovle
Attorney at Law

1124 West Wells

Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53233

Re: Jeffrey Dahmer

Dear Mr. Bovle:

Pursuant to yvour request of December 18, 1991, I performed a -

psychiatric examination on Jeffrey Dahmer on 12/26/91, 12/27/91,
and 1/1/92 at the Columbia Ccrrectional Center in Portage,
Wisconsin and on 1/4/92 at the Milwaukee County Jail. The
purpose of the examinaticn was to evaluate the presence, nature,
and extent of any mental disease cr defect which may affect the
defendants mental ra2sponsibility at the time of the alleged
crimes., those of two counts of firstc degree murder and thirteen

counts of first degree intentional homicide. In coming to my
opinion, I performed a psychiatric examination for approximately

10 1/2 hours.

Prior to the examination I had an interview with vou i
regarding the circumstances of the case on December 17, 1991, and
spoke with you or members of vour staff either in person or bv
telephone numerous times in regards to scheduling Mr. Dahmer,
arranging transportation, and obtaining additional records and
collateral history.

At the onset of each interview. I carefully explained to Mr.
Dahmer the purpose of the interview and of its nonconfidential
nature. I explained to him that a copy of my report would be
sent to his attorney and then seen by the judge and the state's
attorney. I asked questions regarding his understanding of this
on each occasion, and he stated that he understoccd.
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October 29, 1991

E. Michael McCann
District Attorney

Milwaukee County Safety Building
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53233-1487

RE: Jeffrey L. Dahmer Examination

Dear Mr. McCann:

Enclosed is a typed copy of my interview
Dahmer on Qctober 16.

interview with Mr

Mr. Dahmer was very cooperative and
He talked freely an
historian. His menta
limits, and he appear

My interview notes

been dictated and

Thank vou for this referral,

1991.

d was an articula
1 status examination was cl
ed to be of at least averag

2727 MARSHALL COURT
MADISON WISCONSIN 53703
TELEPHONE (608) 238:9334

notes stemming from my first

we appeared to have good rapport.
te and seemingly forthright
early within normal

e intelligence.

ober 23, 1991, have

from my second interview on Qct

will be mailed shortly.

feel free to call.

Sincerely,

ORIy IALZ O

Frederick A. Fosdal, M. D.

Damel A. Eimermann, M D
Marin 8. Fliegel. M.D.
Freganck A. Fosaal. M D
Ooirmm N Emadvyn M T

Christine E. Hetanger, M.S.SW.

Chanes J. Hooulk, M.0.
Frad H. Kosnecka M.O.
sarws F _ena PR D

and if you have any further questions please

RECEIVED

0CT 311891

Office Of Listrict Attorney
Milwaukee, \Wisconsin 33233

Richard Lavina, Ph.D.
Robert E. O'Connor, M.0.
Asher R Pacht, Ph.D.

Jov K. Rice. Ph.D.
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Mr. Gerald Bovle
January 9, 1992

While 4 of h last 7 victims were unconscious he described -~
'ﬁmmﬂhaﬁﬁﬁgeir skulls then inserting a meta]
- syringe and injecting weak acid or boiling water three inches

into their fronta! lobes. "I wanted to induce a Permanent zompje
like state, to make them Pliable, obey my wishes so they would be
Permanently with me and compliant, SO they would never leave my —
apartment, so I would not get caught. I wanted them coherent to

follow commands but not coherent to have their ewn thought

remember that they had to leave, or lived Somewhere else, thought

photographed his victims to remember what they looked like for
masturbation purposes. Later he remember photoqraphing "to '
remember what the internal parts looked like." 'He described
becoming more interested in the insides again,... the cclors
always amazed me. I never showed the phetographs to anyone.” He
described the entire process as "becoming less Ssatisfying, wish I

Jjust stopped, it seemed like I could not."

He denied Symptoms consistent with Antisocial Personality
Disorder, or sexual sadism. He denied auditory or other
hallucinations. He denied SYmptoms consistent wWwith majecr
depression Oor manic depression. Prodromal or rasidual symptoms
of schizophrenia are present and this disorder cculd nct be ruled
out. He reported several exhibitionistic acts and one episcde of
taking pictureg of a minor with alleged fondling of his penis.

He had two arrests for drunk and disorderly conduct in 198: and
1982, one arrest for discrderly ccnduct in 1983, and one shop
lifting arrest in 1983. He denied robbery as a moetive in any of
the crimes with which he ig charged. He denied symptoms
consistent with any sexual disorder except Necrophilija. He

Specified. He received cour: ordersd counseling after Seing
charged with exXposing himself, Sy Evelyn A. Rosen, Ph.D. fronm
February 23, 1987 to March 7, 1988. There ijs Speculation in the
notes that he never gained anything from this outpatient
treatment and never really made a serious commitment to it. He
s never reported to have been in inpatient_treatment in a mentai

hospital.
MEDICAL HISTORY

No apparent acute or chrenic illness. Current medications:
1) Atarax, for a SKin reaction fr-m scabies.

-



Mr. Gerald Boyle
January 9, 1992

History of head injuries: 1) while walking on the street at age
14, he reports being hit with a billy club in the neck by an
older group of boys, from which he recovered with no loss of
consciousness, 2) hit in the head at age 26, with approximately a
one hour loss of consciousness, kicked in ribs, required sutures
to close head wound. This followed his being robbed.

History of seizures was denied.

FAMILY/SOCIAL HISTORY

Mr. Dahmer was born in Milwaukee to Joyce and Lionel Dahmer
on May 21, 1960. His family moved to Ames, Iowa while nis father
attended graduate school in chemistry, and remained there until
he was 5. They then moved %o Doylestown, Ohio for one year., then
Barbertown, Ohio fer 2 yvears, then Bath, Ohio where he lived from
age 8 to 18. Tt is in Bath, Ohio that he attended grade school,
3rd to Sth, then East View Junior High School, 7th - 8th, and
then Revere High School from which he graduated. He reported
starting to drink and use marijuana at about age 17. He did not
have definite career goals. He entered Ohio State University in
ganuary, 1979 and attended three months, dropping out after not
doing well with self described heavy drinking. This is shortly
after his parents were divorced and the murder of Steven Hicks.
He then enlisted in the army and was discharged on March 26,

1382, somewhat early secondary to an alcohol proplem. He then
worked in Florida at a restaurant. He returned to Bath, Ohio
then moved to Milwaukee first with his grandmother then in his
cwn apartments. In May, 1989, he began a one vear term in “-he
House of Corrections for second degree sexual assault and
enticement of a minor for immoral purposes. This was a work
release program and he continued to work at Ambrosia Chocolate
Company, a job he started in January, 1985. He was fired from
Ambrosia secondary to excessive absenteeism shortly before his

arrest by Milwaukee Police on July 22, 1991.

MENTAL STATUS EXAMINATION

Mr. Dahmer presents to the examination room on each occasion
accompanied by correctional personnel. He is dressed in jail
clothing and appears neatly groomed with a several day growth of
beard. He is oriented to person, place, time. and situation.

His mood is depressed. His affect is generally bland and
appropriate to his mood. His thought content is positive for
suicidal thoughts without an active plan, he states, "If I had my

way I would p B~ '%h—anganeginﬁtiéT\{iye animals at a
shelter.” He denies homicidal ideas or prE?.

8



Mr. Gerald Boyle
January 9, 1992

He reported some intrusive images of the victims, which he
described as unpleasant. He reports occasional sexual thoughts
which he "tries to block out.” He is not unrealistically anxious
and expresses no current delusions, paranoid or bizarre ideas.
His thought process is generally logical and understandable at
the time of the interview. He denies hallucinations in any of
the five sensory spheres. There is no evidence of any problems
with his speech and there are no psychomotor deficits in terms of
abnormal movements, agitation or retardation. His intellect
appears grossly intact in all spheres. His short term memory is
good, his long term memory appears intact although he describes
past periods of blackouts when drinking. He is able to describe
expected socially appropriate behavior in hypothetical
situations. His concentration and attention are good. His
insight into his illness is poor. He denied taking any
medication which might affect the mental status examination or
the interviewes in general. His mental state appeared generally
stable throughout the interviews. On 12/26/91 I observed a
scratch across his left wrist which he stated he did with a
plastic spoon, which eased his frustration. On 1/1/92 he was
more agitated after being told he could no longer have pens. He
reported that he made a suicidal threat after being upset over a
cell search. On 1/4/92 he appeared more fatigued than usual.

REVIEW OF PSYCHOLOGICAL EXAMINATION

Mr. Dahmer was examined by XKenneth H. Smail, Ph.D., clinical
psvchologist on 7/28/91 and 8/10/91. His report has been
reviewed and relied upen by me in part in forming my opinions on
this matter. He reports administering a battery of psychological
tests consisting of the MMPI-2, the Wechsler Adult Intelligence
Scale-Revised, and the Rorschach. These were all administered
within six weeks of the arrest. Dr. Smail concluded that in
regard to his I.Q. tests, "all scores remain within the normal
range.” In regard to his MMPI-2, “the profile raises the
possibility of a major mental illness, either cf the quality of a
schizophrenic disorder or a major affective disorder.”™ The
possibility of substance abuse would need clinical exploration.
The computerized test interpretation indicated that the
respondent was either "likely to be either blatantly psychotic at
this time.” or to be subject to a “severe breakdown under
stress.” Mr. Dahmer's responses to the Rorschach (a projective
test) were too few and vielded "limited clinical information.~

O



Mr. Gerald Bovyle
January 9, 1992

DIAGNOSIS _
Based on DSM-III-R criteria

Axis T 1) Paraphilia, Not Otherwise Specified
Necrophilia (severe manifestations)

2) Alcohol Dependence: Mild

3) Psychotic Disorder, Not Qtherwise
Specified (severe manifestations)

Axis II 1) -Schizotypal Personality Disorder
2) Borderline Personality Disorder
Axis III Related physical conditions: none known

Axis IV Severity of Psychosocial Stressors
: (5) extreme, serious chronic mental illness

in self
Axis V¥ Global Assessment of Functioning (1-90 scale)

Highest Past Year Code 1-10 (lowest possible
score range) Present are, persistent danger
of severely hurting/killing others, some
danger of hurting self, behavior considerably
influenced by delusions along with extreme
impairment in interpersonal reslationships.

Current Code 20 Some danger of severely
hurting self or others.

SUMMARY

Jeffrey Dahmer is a 31 yvear old, white male charged with a series
of 15 murders. He was examined on four occasions while
incarcerated in Wisconsin and extensive records were reviewed
along with psychological testing. These examinations were
performed for the purpose of determining the defendant's mental
state at the time of the crimes with which he is charged and to
develop treatment recommendations. (Please refer to the front of

this report for my opinions.)

10



Mr. Gerald Boyle
January 9, 1992

The extensive record review, psychiatric and psychological

examinations reveal a long history of serious ongoing progressive

mental illness (see Diagnostic Section).

Thank you for this interesting referral. I you have any
questions, please contact me.

Sincerely.,
A

&/%.U,/L&Lb’r)

Carl Wahlstrom, Jr., M.D.
Psychiatrist

11



RECEIVED

0CT 311991

Offi~e Of .- t-ict Attorney

RE: Jeffrey L. Dahmer .
Milwaukee, \Wisconsin 53233

10/16/91 Interview Notes:

Made the comment that he used to “cherish® his privacy - does not like all this attention and oublieity., Mentioned
working the third shift at Ambrosia ang enjoying getting off work in the 07ning and having coffee ang gonuts. Nouig

then sleep from 19 a.a. to0 apoys § .8,

31 years old and born on S/21/69. Was tal¢ thai [ «as Df aoscinted and said tais did not ssiher hia. He asked aheut
the length-of training I had. Saic the pleasures in ife he has lef: are ‘o3¢ ang Cizaretias. Then said, “it's kine
of pathetic - it's my own faujt - 1f 1 had chosen & 2i¢*srent cath, life would have been ¢ifierent.” Said ne is
continuously watched - said it's harg o get to sleso with the light on in his cell - syicice precautions, When askes
if he was suicidal he said, “honestiy, I have no syicisal desire - it wouid put me in 2 werse predicament - [ wouig
find ayself in hell." Saig he believed in heaven and heil - not religious prior to his arrest. Sincs that tine,
sald, "1 have tise to do a lot of reading - evaluate my life - | never read auch before - I just turnes on the tv.°
Ooes a lot of reading in his ce;} - receives material froa the Sister in jail - bibles have been sent to his. Does
not have a televison or newspapers wnile in jail and is “coapletely” cut off.

Stands &' tall and weiohs 170 lbs. Sai¢, I never put any stock into talking about wy life,” Prior to his arrest
said he had contrel over his lifs - now ne has Ao control st all.  Acain when asked 2bout being suicidal, saic % =e
was 1atoxicatea shen he was arresise ing that fe 33y nave salc something abcut suizice to tne police but that it wac
(rye. Has never mace i suliise :tiaep:. Meniiinec :r Inclvicual cosaiiling suicice while he Was in the &ray in

a0y - gunenc: wound o the neag neac,

35 zane or not during the tises of the crimes -

Understaod the reason far cur 38ELING 10 te, 1o ceraraine if |

tnat’s the oottom line - that’s the pain reason.’ Unzarsiod Ye wzs deing cnarged with 17 counts cf first 2sgraa

intertional nesicice.” fstimazss ve was irresiac In late July - around the I7th - at his home - then taken to jail ca
: n

sent t2 any ncsditals for observaticn. Is aot an any
robles. Caught cold at CCI - his bed Was on the flioor
oiai - understocd for 2 prodatisn revocation.

@ Tuesaay evening - has peen in Jatl ever since - nas not
secications 3t NS time cther than Dimetasp for : cold/s
ang there was a draft - has neen at 27 ‘wo tizes - eix we

o8
inus 2
ks ¢
Khen asked why he was on probatign he said, “for taking pictures of 3 13-14 year old quy some years ago.” Had a bench
trial. After his arrest, was in Jail for six days and then placee on bail. Plead no contest - his attorney, Jerry
8oyle, was retained by nis parents. Prior to his trial, saw a3 psychclogist by the name of Lagell - his office is nesr
Northricge - referred tg nia Oy Atiorny 2oyle - hac ‘hree sestings with Lodei] - a report was sent to 8oyle (arcunc
1988). Said he aiso saw 2 lady psycnologist with the State 2!, Ko one testified - just the reports - did not sae
the report. Did not know the nase of the judge that santencec his - racognized the nams of Gardner. Was sentencad '2
one year with work relsase privileges and five years probation. ¥as ajso ordered to attend DePaul for outpatient
alcohol treataent after completing his Huber tise - nins aonths - released around 3/89.

Participated in the DePayl Qutoatient Program for six sgnths - originally had seetings thres times 2 wesk and then

weekly aeatings - groups and individual counseling - for alzonolicn. Did not recall the name of the female therapist.

Said Defaul was “not really helpful - I didn't consider having an alcohol probles - I didn't crave it - | drank on
weekands - sometises | went overboard and that's when 1 got into trouble - I drank on weekends during the program ang
continued after the progras.” 0ig not think he was an alconoiiz. Also said the court ordared outpatient treatmen:
for the sexual aspects of his case - hie¢ £0, Donna Shestar, 133e irrancesents to see William Crowely, M.D. - hag 'nres
outr=rient vISits with Or. Crowlay - 3n hour each iise - Pt s4e - sam Or. Crowley in May and June of 133
iivecis of his original casa - Crowely

collecting backgroung inforsation - 4id ot T R T
fecosaended antideoressant sedication JUt Ne never 52t is oo Tt tiliEl - 414 not feel e needed antigesracs:

1eCication. Saic he was somewhat sac an¢ upset over Fimgmsi - a: sul id not feal depresseq - just feei:i-;-



1ack of direction and emptiness - 1 wasn't crying or suicidal.” Kad one visit with Cromiey ever two weeks - at Social

¢~ “=~ps on Walnut Street - their last visit was two weeks prior to his present arrest.

sard Crowley did not know about the homicides - never told anyone ever - *] kept to myself pretly much - so this is
whole new ballgase to me (talking about things) - now that this boap has fallen - there is no need to hide anything -
cospletely unload sy consciencs - to hide nothing.” Said talking about matters has helped - “the pressurs of
concealing over the ysars - buill up a tresmendous amount of pressure - [ was very good at suppressing esations -
denial was a big part of my life - just buried thes with alcohol and other things < so it’s a relief to be forced to
try to put things right - one thing that's clear to se now is that the truth will come out.” (Agreed with me that he
vas leading 2 “double-lifs.”) Said, ‘I just tried to put it out of ay aind - suppress it so it wouldn't bother ae -
work and activities helped - exceot on the weekends wnen [ drank and had free tise - I was becoaing obsessed with sex,
7 quess - it started a long time ago - wnen [ was 1§ - the first time I mace sy mistake - it’s tainted my whole li‘e
ever since.”

Has had thres court ppearances - no one has testified - waived his prelininary heafing = "I think we entered a guilly
clea.” Undersicod his trial was scheduled for late January, 1992. Understcod haa entered 2 plea of “not guilty by
reason of insanity - over a month ago.” Has not had any court appearances since that time. {Ths nature cf his piea,
the bifurcated trial. and the possible future dispositions were explained te nin.) Sai¢ ne heard of the Mencota and
Ninnebago Mental Health Institutes since being in jail = never heard of thea before. Saw Dr. Palerno one time - Jast
Sunday - for two hours. Said he has been examined "aany tines® by Or. Smail - estimated about 10 tises for about an
sour each tise. Said someons fros Corrections interviewed hia for one hour at CCl - gave hia inkblot tests - in
reqard to his placement in prison (a female psychologist froa OCI).

Said he takes a day at a tise - was not sure how he wants nis case settled. When asked why he confessec he said,

“that was to aake amends to what I brougnt into aoticn - I owe it to the fasilies and net to keep it hidecen.’
indersicod he ¢ig not have to talk to the police - was teid thic by the police. 3Sald, "o make 3 fuil ang comple
~e- “+gsipn - there came a tise 1o tell the truth - I've oriy confessed to the ones tnat [ have coeaitted - it wou

Jicus 10 try o nide wnat ! hag done - the crizes that T nave comsitted - the getectives knew apout it fully

aoout half of them they would not have had the sligntest knewleage - I just want to put an end to it.” Said he has
-aiked :o his &:tcrneys and o ken Smail - saig Dr. Spail nas taped every session. Said he has no regrets that he has

confessed to the police,

4
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¢t morzanai mictaev: Sorn in Milwaukee on S/I1/60 - lhougni el
inauxee for aboul one vear anc shen aoved L0 Ames, 1owa - until
Father was in school there - either in unaegraduate or graduate school. Then movea to Doylestown, Ohio - father was

~ired by Pittsourgn Paint ang Glass - thougnt his father had nis Ph.D. by that time. Lived in Doylestown for one vear
and then moved to 3arpertown, Ohio for two years. Then moved to Bath, Ohio - "that's where I did mest of my growing

45 - 1 lived there until I was 18 years old.” Graduated in 1578 fros Rivere High School in Richfield, Ohio. Grace

school was in Sath - always attended public scmools. Then attenaec 3 sonths at Ohio State University in Coiumous - I
1 was doing so wuch

srank ay way through that.” Attenced one quarter and took general studies - did D level work = I
:rinking’ - tnen quit. Father yrged his aropping out - darents were separated at the tise,

rhe Milwaukee Chilgren's Hospital. Lived In
the age of 6 - hac some aesery of living there.

3
L2
:

a

-nen enlisted into the U.S. Army - entered in 1/79. Basic training was at Fort McClellan, Alabasa - signed up for ¢
<chool. Said basic was “rough’ - his weight went from 220 lbs. to 175 Ibs. Started his WP training and then his MOS
was changed and he was transferred to For Sam Houston in San Antonio, Texas = to the Nedical Field Servics School -
rsok 2 fisld sedic course for two months. Then had two weeks leave and was transferred to Gersany for two years - 2
three year snlistasnt - received a six sonth sarly out due to his drinking. Was stationed at Baumholden, Germany.
tssigned to the 268th Armor division - tank and infantry - performed general duties - took outpatient sick call at ine
clinic until about 10 a.a. and then worked at the sotor pool until § p.». There was a physician on duty at the

zlinie.

cv--vsq drinking alconol “heavy” while in high school - beer ang whiskey - at 3 friend’s house. Also drank scs:
ags while in Sermapy - it was pretty piserable trying iz :3 T runs (the next gorning) with 2 hang over - .
sottonless 2it - | would drink <o much it was pathetic.’ Sais ve raceived an Articls 15 - "I south offed to 3

Lisytenant’ - <10 not receive any alconol counseling ana sas tever sent il the mental health clinic - denjeq c27e



any psychiatric cars or svaluations while in the Arsy. Did not ask for an early discharge but was told that he could
ost out because of his drinking. Raceived an honorable discharge. Did not go ANOL and was never in the stockade,
! he knew what he was doing as a medic - did not do any suturing - perforaed general first aid. Lived in the
.rracks and did not date. Talked about “Annabelle’s Hotel” neardy in Germany. Said there were prostitutes there and
the hotel was near post - he had no interest in the prostitutes - saig prostitution was legal in Germany. Was
discharged in 3/81 - denied going bafore 3 nedical or disciplinary board. Was sent to North or South Carolina for two
days and processed out. Had free transportation to ths city of his choice and he chose Miami.

Lived thers for a week in 3 hotel and later slept on the deach for a couple of weeks - on Collins Avenue untii he
found a job. Talked about the spiders and the mosouitos. Obtained 3 job at a restaurant as a cook and waiter - from
April-Septesber, 1981. Lived in 2 sote] and paid $400/month - 8izini Motel - worked 10-1Z hours & dav. Cantirued to

drink excessively and was fired ior “coaing in late.”

ihen returned to Ohio ang scent time with his fitner and staomother in 2ata - for 2+3 sonths - cantinued crinking
excessiveiy and often case nome late. His paternai grandsother lived in dest Allis - it was decized he could live
with her - moved there around 10/81 - lived there for about § years and paid her $400/month - Catharine Dahmer - she
Is now 86 years old. His first job in Milwaukee was at Milwaukes Blood Plasaa - around 1982 - a ohiebotomist for one
year (inserted the needles). Said the pay was low ang he jot tirea of his jeb. Continued drinking excessively. Wis
unesployed for a couple of years - 83-84. Cellected unesoloyaent for 1.5 years. Had a counle of odd joos through
Flexi Force. Then started work at Aporosia Chocalate Company in 1985 - workea there on the first shift for six sonths
when sent there by Flexi Force. Then he was hireg fuli-tise and was assigned to the third shift - for six years -
from 11 p.x. to 7:30 a.x. Said ne called in worx and was told thit he had one point left, but that was not accurate -
did net have any more peints - cailed in sick because of one of the present cases - spent the night with this
individual and lost his job. Showed up for work and was told nhe did aot aave ny points lef* and was 2ismicsed.
Admitted that ne missed work because of nis alccnoiisa - sctiaatec ne Rissed work azout 12 times during 199i. farned
$10/hour and had medizil and dentai benefits. Netieg anout $275/wess. Mixed sugar and ihe vegetidie o1l and ne
Cocoa pomder - said thers are huncreds of aifferent “orauias for chscalate. Was cisaissed on a Sunzay eveaing -

77 1up for work and was told that he was fired. 0ig not have any income after that - iz gt zallect unemcicyaent

Since living with his grancaother - Yived in in azartzsent 3t J4th Strast ang welils - for about two agnths - wnile
there, ne sai¢ a Laotian ingividual “caught mv eye™ - asked him 1o sose - 100k N0 pictures and they nag scee Srisks -
paid the ineividual and he l2ft. This individual teld Ais sarents - adout ! 3.2, that same evening was arresied it
wOrk 3nc laken 0 jail - 1973,

Father’s name is Lionel- 56 years old and fros Milwaukee - presently works with PPG in Pittsburgh - has a Ph.0. froa
Marquette - in “analytical chesistry.” Nother's name is Joyce Fiiat - from Chippewa Falls. Is the secand Sorn of two
chilaren and has a 25-year-old brotner, David, attending college in Columpus, Ohio. Parents saparated around 1978,
and while living in Bath, Ohio. When asked why, he said, "standard irreconcilable differences - their relationsnis
was shaky for years - they just dign't get along.® Said wother moved out and that the separation/divorce was her
idea. Said, “she seemed to initiate a lot of arguaents with sy father - there was a lot of yelling.” Said neiiner
parent was an alcoholic and denied that either parent was abusive .o sach other or to his. Said his father was
“easygoing” and brougnt a lot of work home with hia - he loved tennis’ - played tennis with Jeffray years ago - they
g0 along well - they have had a good relationship and were close - father never had any psychiatric care. Said aother
vas “enotionally differant over the ysars™ - since living in Doylestown and after her second child was born - was
depressed - apparently saw different sental health personnel - resesbersd being on Darvon for pain. Nhen he was [
vears old, she was possibly placed in a psychiatric hospital in Akron, Ohio - remesbered her complaints being
“tiredness and chronic depression’ - did not think she ever received ECI. Said she did batter after the divorce.

Said they were “somewhat’ close. Said he was “discouraged” about seeing har unhappy over the years. Said she was in
effective aother and a good acther - said he has cared about her over the years “and [ still do - I still have lave
for thes both.” Said he is not Ditter towards thes. Thay saparatec when he was 18 years old and just before he

ctarted college in Colusbus, Ohig.

Mot went 13 Chippewa Fails with his drother. $3i2 mgtze- -.: : ==_-* arser *2 have father move cui., Jef®-s. -
h sther then lived with aother unti] mother and drather «a-t t3 Saizoewa Falls. Father lived in a2 nearby r::

tother told Jeffrey that she was j0ing o go to Chitoewa ©. 273 12 ot eant hip 10 el father thal they es-:



laaving. Jeffrey stayed at hose and did not go with sother because he was about to start college. When father found
& sother had soved out, he was upset with Jeffrey for not letting his know - said it “was hard to stay
. ral.” Said he did not want to go to Chippewa Falls - had visited there when he was quite young to see his
relatives. When asked, said he did not feel abandoned - he xanted to continue with his college plans.
after he started at OSU, father soved back into the house. Before he left for college, he met father's girlfriend,
Sheri. Was unawars of his parents possibly having aftairs over the years - "I never bothered to ask - [ wasn't going
to pry.” After he weat to college, father lived at home for a few years - he was living there wnen Jeffray returned %0
cee his after being discharged from the Aray. Father sarried Sheri one or two years after sother aoved to Chipoewa
Falls. They later rented 2 house in Bath for & few years. Father later soved to Pittsburgn and lives there alone
during the week and Sheri has continued to live in 8ath in 2 rented condominiva - father returns on weekends in his
car. Sheri is about 50 years old and works for a job placesent agency - they @o not have any chilaren - said he likes

Sherl.

Mother stayed in Chippewa Falls until around 1987. david returnec to Bath and lived with fatner arounc 1985 - during
the time that father was living in the first rented house in Bath. Said his parents separated when he was about 18
years old - "It was abvious they weren't getting 2long - a messy divorce - pake each other lock bad.” Said the
divorce was harder on David than on himself - denied that it was a ~devastating” experience for hie. David lived with
zather until he weat 5 college - is now a semior in coliege. Mcther woved from Chippewa Fails to Northern Califernia
around 1987 - does not know the town where she lives - works with AIDS patients. She has a bachelor's degree in
counseling - did not know the name of the school - thought it was in Chippewa falls - she has never remarrisd. Has
had little contact with her over tne years - either by telepnone or through letters. Visitad her in Chipoewa Falls
about 7 years ago and xhile he was living with his grancmother in sest Allis. Mother has iried o keep in touch with
his - will write and call - would call at grandmother’s house tut he would not talk to her - ne feit guilty for not
kesping in touch - put off writing letsers and cailing her. Said he has not deen pining or missing her over the
vears. Said he did not eiss or long for his oarents after ieaving nome - said he #as coing lz¢ much grinking -
“areening sy eaotions in alcanal - I tried to forget their later years wnen their sarriage was so 0ad - tried %9

tne civorce.® Said ne was never close to Davic.

father has vicited hip three times in jail and mother was coming this weexenc - the first tipe in years. (Did nct
know if Df. Ssail was ¢oing to interview thea, but I tald s that it wouid ve inforsative :o have a siatesent fros
the parents as to what they would say apout him.) Said Atiorney gcyle has visited aother in California ang father in
Sittsburg. sas alse seem I 3oston IO +alk 10 3 dooior Freg Seriin tnere iaregart L2 sexyal behavicr - said Dr.
jerlin is go1ng 0 intarview 1B,

When asked if he felt that ~is family probless were recponsible for his later legal disticulties he said, "it's not
the reason for wy deing in this situation - i's not biaming ay parents - not in tne jeast - they had nothing 'S a0
With this.® When asked what he was blaming he said, "I have one person to blaae - the person sitting across from you
- no one alse - no one put a gun to ay head - [ had choices to make and | sade the wrong choices - I could have mace
ditferent choices in the past - it's obvious to se - if [ had more foresignt - if 1 had more motivation to find 3
-arser and worthwhile acts i fill ay cime - rather than drinking ay propiess away - I drank ay emotions ind preolens

away - the pain of my family situation - the divorce - that's what started it.’

after his mother moved to Chippewa Falls, was alone for a couple of weeks in the house - had a car and would drive
around and drink with his friend, Jaff Six - a 6’27 Hungarian - *nis whole thing was finding the best sarijuana and
saoking as much as possible” - the last two years of high school - was with Jaff 3-4 times a week smoking parijuana
and drinking. Ouring the two weeks that he was hose alone aftar nother soved to Chippewa fFalis, said his <aily
alconol incrsased. ®hils on his way home in his car - picked up 2 hitchhiker - Stave Hicks - Hicks was wes:ing shoert
pants and tennis shoes - picked him up on the spur of the soment - told his he had marijuana and alcobol at home -
“.he first mistaks that lead up to all this - had [ driven past, all this would not have happened.” Iolied that it
strange behavior started with anisals. said Jeff Six would lixe t2 drive fast and hit dogs - while living in B30
with his parents - said Six's behavior “aads me cick.”

*
-

souble neraia surgery when he was 3 or 4 years ol¢. rag tac ~iyfaver. Had pelyeyositis for about one year .~

snoulder - #as on Pregniscne, ! tabiet 2 cav for one vear - 3iI "Il renemper his doctor's name - at a clinic on

Lincaln,



Said his first legal diftficulty was while living in 8ath - drunk and disorderly and whils living with his father and
i and after his discharge from the Arsy. Said he was “very drunk and obnoxious - I was involved in 2 polics

.uffle” = was in jail overnight in Akron (1981). Said he was arrested for arunk and disorderly a couple of times in
West Allis -had 2-3 overnights in the Milwaukee County jail - was fined. 0id not recall the judges names or his
attorney’s - while living with his grandmother. Was arrested for urinating at the State Fair - crunk and disorderly -
denied getting involved in bar fights - would not drink alcohol at howe - “always™ in bars, Arrested oncs for
shoplifting - was “short” on money and “wanted” a coat - from 0'Neil’s in the Spring Mall on 27th Street - was caught
and spent one night in jail and fined $25. Was arrested for L & L - exposing himself in a park in Nest Allis - minors
wers walking through the park - 13-14 year olds - three boys - stood about 50 feet away - heavily wooded - they saw
hia and he wanted thes to ses hie. Had his panic out and mas masturdating - they laughed anc left - the pclice caae
later and he was taken to jail for a coupie of days - was fined and ordered to receive counseling - was on probation
for one year and saw 4 iady by the aaee of Dr. Rosen - aid not xnow her first name - sme was in Fix POINL - 3aw her
weekly for about cne year and stcoped when he was off orobation - sald these sessions were not nelsful. Said he was
supposed to be seeing her because of his sexual crobless but said he did nol want td talk to her.

When asked, said his exposing behavior and aasturdating in front of sen went on for about one vear - staried whiie
living in West Allis - would expose hiaself and masturdate in front of teenage boys anc some agult sen - would
fantasize about the kics - would just aastursate Sut not ejaculate. Wanted to opserve their reactions - a good
reaction would be for thea to stare and watch in a1 agairing way. Most observers would pretend not to see his and
walk away. Did this for about one ysar mhile living in West Allis - stopped doing this after his arrest.

Started using sarijuana while in his junior year in high school - Jeffrey Six - discontinued marijuana after
graduating froa high school - used hash a couple of times in Geraany - has never used cocaine - denied involvement
with cther street drugs - uvsed marijuana only during his last two years of high school.

Started drinking alcanol while in hign school. Said his erinxing “tapersd” the last six years - would erink prizariiy
© ekengs. & heavery hout of ¢rinking would Invelve 3 12-pack anc scae Yukcn ack niskey - them would conilinug o
.4k the nex: day ana evening. Zstisated he might have dranx a case of Peer on the weekenos anC at bars - attenaec

bars in West Allis. Arcunc !SBS, said he “discover=q’ gay bars - feit coaferiable in that atacsonere ang likes tne
1ive enterzairment - pale strissers - woulc commonly nave blacxouts - his first one was in Numich at the Czizoerfest.
Missed his tour dus back io base {gave cetails). Saic his only zlconcl treatment was at Defau!l.

(Clesing questions orior to cur teraination.) Siic he was adeitting :o 17 ncmicides, #hen asked, salc he has
realized he has been ‘gay’ since the age of 11 - said he has not Sac any feelings for women. Estisated he nas had
sexual contact with about 100 cifferent men - sometiges he aid not nave to pay. One tise was paid $10 by 3
bS-year-old man - was iaken to a bath house’ and gave this san & blow-joo. Said that half of the time he would have
to pay soseone to have sex - as a last resort. If somsone “caught my eye,’ would pay them to have sex - usually paid
$50 - estimated he has paid someone about 25 times - in Chicago and Milwaukee - would bring thes back to Milwaukee.
Said ha likes ‘light sex” - to lay around and sutual masturbation - watch videos - does not like “heavy sex” - anal
intercourse. Likes autual “blow-jobs.” When asked why he would o one stes farther ang kill them, aentionec
something about “craving control” and “dominating” over thes - sald he santad Lo keep them with hia longer. When
asked about all the dissembering etc., implied that was not for sexual gratification - liked the use of ay word

“adeinistrative’ for handling all the remains.
{END OF INTERVIEW)
0 10/22/91

¢ 10/29/91
% 10/30/91
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Mr. Gerald Bovle

January 9-

1992

Based on my psychiatric examination of Jeffrey Dahmer and

relying on the review of additional records as noted below, I
have reached various opinions in this matter, all within a
reasonable degree of medical/psychiatric certainty.

The defendant suffers from a severely disablinq'mental
disease that of Paraphilia Not Otherwise Specified,
i.e., Necrophilia.

Over time as the defendant's paraphiliac obsessions
became more powerful, he developed a mental! disturbance
in reality testing of psychotic proportions, and then
began acting out on his bizarre delusional ideas. This
is diagnostically a Psychotic Disorder Not Otherwise
Specified. These behaviors included attempoting to
Ccreate a "personal power center” using human body
skulls and skeletons, creating "zombies." who would do
his will by injecting the brains of living humans with
acid and boiling water and cannibalizing pecple so they
would literally become a permanent part of him.

The defendant's underlying perscnality structure is
extremely primitive, and is diagnosed as a Schizotypal
and Borderline Personality Disorder. This results in
his having a profound disturbance in self? image and
ability to relate to others and includes the presence
cf bizarre ideas and pr=occupations, impulsiveness,
mood instability, and frustraticn intclerance, along
with frantic attempts to aveid real or imagined
abandonment.

The severity of the above-mentioned mental disease
requires continuous treatment in a highly structured

- and secure psychiatric hospital. This is both to

protect himself and others from homicidal and suicidal
behavior, while at the same time providing for an
ongoing assessment of his psychiatric treatment needs.
These needs may include. but not be limited to,
antipsychotic, anti-obsessive, or anti-androgen drugs,
along with psychotherapy.

The defendant's mental disease is of such a degree that
at the time of the offenses with which he is hera
charged. he lacked substantial capacity to conform his
conduct to the requirements of law.



Mr. Gerald Boyle
January 9, 1992

RECORDS REVIEWED

1.
2.
3.

4.

)
)
)

)

)

10.

11.

12.

)

Amended criminal complaint.
The confession given by the defendant to the police.
Work product notes from your office which supplemented

the confession by adding additional information
provided by the defendant to you and your associates.

‘Psychological evaluation of the defendant by Kenneth H.
~Smail, Ph.D., clinical psychologist.

The Milwaukee Journal! dated Sunday, July 28, 199].

Videotape of the Phil Donahue show which featured Tracy
Edwards and others.

Observations by the defendant's aunt on his parents
marriage, notes from the defendant's baby book and part
of a letter she had sent his grandparents.

Medical reports of the defendant's EEG, CT, and
cytogenetic studies.

Various police documents from the time of the
defendant’'s arrest, which include statements by Tracy
Edwards and various police officers who searched the
defendant’'s apartment and obtained collateral citizen

interviews.

Various documents fire and police, witness statements
related to the Konerak Sinthasomphone street encounter.

Psychological aevaluation of September 26, 1986 By
Katherine Boesae, M.A., M.S., and David cC. Osman, Ph.D.
after Mr. Dahmer was arrested on a disorderly conduct,
exposing charge, along with the clinical notes of
mental health treatment by Evelyn A. Rosen, Ph.D.,
which was a condition of probation.

Psychological evaluation, Charles M. Lodi, Ph.D., dated
January S, 1989, related to the second degree sexual -
assault and enticing-a child for immoral purposes,
along with related court and police documents.



Mr. Gerald Boyle
January 9, 1992

13.)

14.)

15.)
16.)

17.)

19.)

20.)

21.)
22.)

23.)

-

Missing person investigation of Anthony L. Sears. The
Bath, Ohio investigation, Steve Hicks, West Allis
investigation of Flowers and others.

Work records and notice of termination from Ambrosia
Chocolate, dated July 19, 1991.

Military records of the defendant.

Letter to Judge William 0. Gardner from Lionel H.
Dahmer, dated 3/1/90.

Medica!l drug screening tests from 6/23/89 to 1/30/90,
House of Corrections., aill negative. Violation, first
time by drinking on Thanksgiving pass, November 24,

1989.

Policy report with defendant as victim of a strong arm
robbery, dated 9/26/90.

Bath Township police records where the defendant was
charged with “open container, discrderly conduct,
resisting arrest,” dated 10/7/81.

MPD repcrt by defendant (battery unknown obj.), dated
11/4/88.

Statement by Carlos Cruz, dated July 26, 1991.

Police property inventory of video tapes in defendant's
apartment.

Photographs of victims and the defendant's apartment.

PSYCHIATRIC HISTORY

Mr. Dahmer is a 31 year old white male with a long history of
serious mental illness which was essentially untreated. He
described his experience of growing up in a household with

tremendous conflicts between h

is parents and little affection.

He said that this resulted in ongoing feelings of insecurity,

anxiety, and depression.
disappointment to his fath
did poorly in math.

He reported, feeling as if he was a

growing up. He describes himself as having few friends, and
living an increasingly lonely, private existence.

er, an analytical chemist, because he
He denied any physical or sexual abuse while



Mr. Gerald Bovle
January 9, 1992

He can only remember being attracted to males, which consisted of
initial solitary masturbating experiences, while fantasizing up
until his mid twenties. Following this his sexual experience
consisted of nonconsenting sex with drugged males, anonymous sex
in bookstores or bath houses, and sexual experiences with dead
bodies, those of which he had killed. He can not recall ever
having an ongoing mutually consenting relationship in his entire
life. As an early adolescent he developed a morbid preoccupation
with “road kills™” and would drag these animals, killed by cars
into the woods near his home in Bath, Chio, open them up and locok
at their insides. Once he defleshed a large dog and bleached:
it's bones and skull. Another time he defleshed a beagle's head
and impaired it on a pole. "as a stupid prank.” Following an
unprovoked attack by older boys where he was hit on the head with
a billy club, he first recalled persistent homicidal and sexual
fantasies. He developed homicidal fantasies and plans toward a
jogger who he found attractive. He saw no alternative to this
behavior when asked, stating he "did not kanew how to meet him.”
This type of fantasy persisted and culminated in killing a
hitchhiker, Steven Hicks. He recalled dismembering the body and
masturbating while locking at the internal organs and skull. He
stated that he felt he had a choice regarding his benhavior at
this time and knew it was wrong. He stated that knowing he
"could do what I wished (to the corpse) without worrying about
rejection... I would have total control. added to excitement and
pleasure.” When I asked him, had he experienced rsjection
befcre, he stated "no.,” that he “not approcached anveone before and
not been rejected.” he stated further that "killing and doing
what I wanted™ was a solitary masturbatory fantasy for vears. He
said that he never talked to anyone about his homosexuality and
did not feel it would be accepted by the family. He stated that
“from age 16 on sexual thoughts took up a good part of his day,
at least 1/2.” He considered himself "hypersexual, main focus of
my life, it interfered with having a normal life.” He had begun
to abuse marijuana and alcohol in high scheol. Marijuana abuse
ended after high school but alcchel abuse persistead.

He has met DSM-III-R criteria for alcohol dependence and it
interfered academically., occupatiocnally, and socially, to varving
degrees over time. He stated that his feelings over his parents
divorce and feeling horrified about murdering Mr. Hicks, resulted
in increased drinking. He reported various attempts to resist
his sexual thoughts and repetitive violent thoughts over the next
9 vears. These included alcohol abstinence and sexual repression
while at his grandmother’'s house in 1983-1984. Following this
reriod he was gradually less able to resist his desires. He
recalled going to the wake of an 18 vear old stranger, with the
idea of digging up the body.



Mr. Gerald Bovle
January 9, 1992

He said "I wanted a nice looking guy without having to hurt
anyone.” He bought a shovel and returned to the grave two weeks
later "I was going to dig him up, but it was winter, the ground
was too hard, I wanted to enjoy the corpse sexually, viewing
pictures, see what it looked like inside.” He said that this way
he would “"have control without having to hurt anyone and not
having to worry about anyone else's desires." During another
attempt to displace his desires, he hid in the Boston Store in
the Southridge Mall after hours then stole an "attractive male
mannequin.” He brought it home and attempted to sexually satisfy

himself with it.

Following this period he began to frequent bath houses, book
stores, and gay bars and would have casual sex, “one night
stands.” He began to drug males in the baths to "keep them there
longer, avoid unwanted anal sex and avoid rejection.” He
remembered taking Steve Toumi to the Ambassador Hotel, drinking
and drugging nim (Halcion) and having some mutual “light sex,
fall asleep and woke up on top of him and he was dead. I had no
intention of hurting him."” He described "absolute horror, knew I
did it.” After this he stated that "the compulsion/drive was too
strong.” He had been trying to resist, but quit after this. He
stated that he "did not get a thrill out of killing, I wanted it
to be painless, not a hate crime, not racial, not sexual
orientation hatred, five were straight male hustlers, physique
was the main thrust, no malice toward any of them.” He described
the planning of the killings which he knew were wrong. He
attempted to conceal the crimes by either disposing of or
concealing the becdies, althcugh this clearly became more

discrganized over time.

After the fifth killing he began to experience various
bizarre beliefs which influenced his behavior. One of which was
that of making a "temple” or "power center” with skeletons and
skulls hoping it would "be a means to get in contact with spirits
that would aid me in getting power, to magically give me
abilities and talents that I did not have.” One power he
mentioned was, “financial - make me more money,” such as in “real
estate investments.” I asked him if he ever thought of
cenventional ways of studying real estate, like taking a course
and he.stated that he “never did.” He thought money made in this
ways would allow him to "move to a warmer climate like Florida."
He also stated that the power center would give him “social
abilities to control others without having to go to extremes."

He denied being involved in any cult groups. He had in the past
bought the satanic bible and "read it and threw it out.” He
stated that these ideas were his own. He also stated that he
tried to create zombies.

()Y
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2727 MARSHALL COURT
MADISON WISCONSIN 33708
TELEPHONE (608) 238-9334

sctober 30, 1991 REC;l\IED

E. Michael McCann
District Attorney 0CT 311331
Milwaukee County Safety Building

Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53233-1487 Oifi-e Ot . izt Attorney

Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53233

RE: Jeffrey L. Dahmer Examination

Dear Mr. McCann:

Enclosed is a typed copy of my interview notes stemming from my second

interview with Mr. Dahmer on Qctober 23, 1991.

Mr. Dahmer was again very cooperative and we appeared to have good
rapport. He talked freely and was an articulate and seemingly forthright
historian. His mental status examination was again clearly within normal
limits, and he appeared to be of at least average intelligence.

I +ill plan on continuing my examination next week, either in Milwaukee
at CCI.

Thank vou for this referral, and if you have any further questions please
feel free to call.

Sincerely,

Dkl e e D A

Frederick A. Fosdal, M. D.

FF:.££
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2727 MARSHALL COURT
MADISON WISCONSIN 33708
TELEPHONE (608) 238-9334

sctober 30, 1991 RE(\;'VED

E. Michael McCann
District Attorney 0CT 311331

Milwaukee County Safety Building

Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53233-1487 Oifi-e Ct . iut Atterney

Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53233

RE: Jeffrey L. Dahmer Examination

Dear Mr. McCann:

Enclosed is a typed copy of my interview notes stemming from my second
interview with Mr. Dahmer on Qctober 23, 1991.

Mr. Dahmer was again very cooperative and we appeared to have good
rapport. He talked freely and was an articulate and seemingly forthright
historian. His mental status examination was again clearly within normal
limits, and he appeared to be of at least average intelligence.

I +ill plan on continuing my examination next week, either in Milwaukee
at CCI.

Thank vou for this referral, and if you have any further questions plecse
feel free to call.

Sincerely,

Frederick A. Fosdal, M. D.

FF:££
Dar*  Timermann, M.O, Chnstine E. Hertznger, M.S.SW. Richarg Levine. Ph.0. Edwin O Sheico~ -
Me hegel, M.D. Chartes J. Hoduiik, M.D. Rovernt E. O'Connor, M.D. Ruth T. Shesocr ™
“recumick A Foscal. M.0. Frea H. Koenecka M.D. Asher R. Pacnt, Ph.0. Donna Uneg &

Taipn D Froeuch. M D Jarce F Lavna PA O sov o fica PR D Barcara A var -~ -



RECEIVED

0CT 311831

Office Of ... t-ict Attorney
Mitwaukee, Wwisconsin 53233

~"~: JEFFREY L. DAHMER

10/23/91 Interview Notes:

Since my last interview, had a visi: from his mother - about threé times - she lives in Fresno, CA - has nol seen her

since she lived in Chippewa Falls - she is still "suoportive.’
Said ne never stoppea drinking aicshol - drank auring wesxencs wnile living ia Milwaukes - {n milwauxee since 39} -
OePaul was his only alcohol treataent.

Has seen Or. Falermc cne sore :ime.

Said hie first “sexual experience’ was when he was !4 years oid - with a !3-year-olc boy from across the street - they
were in a tree for% and unsressed and nlayed with each ctner and kissea each other - this hagcened 2 coupie times -
had baen his friend for a few years. Said they wouid approach each other and it was by autual consent - around 7th or

8th grads.

Heterosexually, said he never tried to initiate 3 relationship - had no desire - did not date cr call girls over the

years = "I knew where I stood - I knew [ was gay.” Said feeling this way and realizing this was nat that upsetiing of

traumatic {0 his years ago. Said he first becase aware of his “interest in the physique of better lcoking guys.”

Said hic involvesent with the 1I-vear-2id oy from across the street was an “isolatec incident.’

I iunior high school, sai¢ he had 3 "tascination” wita Troag «ills® - dogs killec on the roac. Denied purscsefully

T g any animais and cuiiing tnea up. Said he cicxec s the aniaals 2ff the roac an2 wanteg i see what was lngils
thee - he was "curious.” He was going to ceflash anc clean the skeieton of a particuiar large dog - ¢id not finisa

the project. CSaid tnis nenavisr was not sexvally mciiveizg ang ne 2it Aot derive any cartizular saxyal pleasure from

ccing this. Said this benavicr with the deac animals jasteg for a cous le years - about ‘en anisals altogether -

sostly dogs and a few raccons - lasteq until he was 17 vears cig or until nls junior vear in Aigh scnoel - then ot
incerest.”

vext aentioned the death of Hicks. Said he was living alone at home for a couple wesks and after his sother had zovea
to Chippewa Fails - father ws living 5 miles away in & actel. faa >een drinking and picked up 3 hitchhixer on
Cleveland massilan Road - a young wan with a bare back and short pants - in June or July - returned home ang they had
sone besr. Said he was atiracted to him - Hicks wanted to return to ris destination - Hicks mas not gay - wantes
Hicks to stay - while Hicks was sitting down, hit Hicks Dy surprise ‘rom behind on the head with a barbell - knockes
nim out - they hac besn together for apout %0 minutes defore the assaull - ha¢ interest in his shysique. (Denied
1ating gays or 3lacks as a reason why he hit him or others.) Denied orevious approaches or atiempts to make
nomosexual contact - did not have any “opportunity” because he lived at home. Said his picking up Hicks was his first
approach. Said he wondered “how do I gat this guy to stay’ - did not isk him to stay and did not offar hism money.

Had the idea to hit him over the head for about 2 haif hour - they we-: drinking Busch beer and he was intoxicated.
Then strangled him with a barbell - °I was pretty panicked.” Hit his on the head with : barbell - "I didn’t xant to
get caught so [ went all the way and finished it (strangled hia) - I cracked his skull.” Said he killad hia to get
rid of a witness and to end Hicks' sutfering - thought he prooably would be disabled because of the head injury.

said, "I daflnxtely wantad to sake sure no one found out aoout it.® Said he had been drinking throughout the cay ing

really felt ‘panicked” after he killed Hicks. Said the alcohol *clouded my thinking.®

caid ne sat on the bed ang wondered "wxhat should [ go now. 3 ssucle tours later, took the boay to the crawj sgite
* “teo horrified.” Did not attespt anything 3. ;.

and waitea for darxness. Said he did not sleep that nignt anz ‘eit

1ty the assaul® or afterwaras. The next day. dig 3azi.qzit2 11 f-sat of tne body and toucned the body - i~ °e
5. and oenis area - did not have oral eex - agmitied ttit ¢ w33 jroused by the pody. (Had heard of necrcpi:

o1t coagone whe was 2live - deniec having anv -

P

sefore, S5ald his interest orior 1o Lhe Hicks ayrger #as i



thoughts or fantasies about necrophilia or being involved sexually with soseone after heir death.) Said he was “very

worried” about his lagal situation - knew no one was coming back to the house ‘but I had to dispose of the svidence.’
g sscond day, bought a hunting knife and then sasturbated again - cut him open o view his insides - then cut off

.15 head, aras and legs - “to make him light enough to carry® - not sexually motivated behavior but dispesal bemavior.

During the secand night, took trash bags with the parts to a large ravine - around 3 i.s.

On his way to the ravine,

was pulled over by the police for driving left of center - the policeman called for a back-up - ne passad the sobriety
Told the policesan it was trash for the landfill. Was asked
why he was out so late - said he was upset with his parents’ divorce and he decided to go for a "late drive.” The
policeman shined a light in the back seat and this mace him “really nervous.™ He was not arrested and he returned
hons. ({Said one of the officers was now Lisutenant Munsey - Munssy came to Milwaukee to intarview his - then

test - the policesan asked what was in the back seat.

discovered he was one of the stopping officers.)

Sai¢, "I wisnec | had been caught - it would have put a stap o is.”

The next sorning, put the bags with the body parts in a 10 ft. drainage pipe in his backyard and smashed the apening
of the olse closad. A few vears later, after his discharge frea the Aray and while liviag back hose for ibout six

gonths with nis father and stepmother, opened up (e pipe

- wnen his parents were gone - found the dones and broxe up

*he bones wiih a rock and scatiered the pieces, "caall pieces so they would not be izentified.” At the time of the

homicide, said he threw the knife and Hicks' necklace over a bridge - about two weeks later.

an outside trasn burner,

Burned Hicks' clothes in

(Then saié that in over half of the hosicides, the pclice never would have known and he would not be charged - said he
wanted “notning concsaled” and that is why he has besen so cooperative.)

8laned the Hicks' hosicide as 3 “big factar™ in his starting to abuse alcohol - said alcshol helps him not think abcut

t
ave

“in the dack of sy ain¢ - I arank the meeories zmav.’
forget.” Tney dic not have a fight prior to the 2ssault.

o Tzontcoi cver mial”

i Said there was nothing in the news or on telsvison about Hicxs - he was never questioned. Said he was “curious’
when he was dack living at hcme - he cecided to “comcietely dispose of the evidence.® Sald Hicks' death was always

Di¢ not xnow dicks' family - "2 horror that I wantae to

ahen askez about the other homicides, he said he wantad inea

........

(2%

sopeone hoae’

t0 stars coilege - ner leaving wag not cevastating.
- for hososexual contact.

Talked apout the publicity he has recaived and disagreed wiih

was not a victia of sexval abuse.

Said "I was attracted tc his (Kicks) enough that I wantes o keep nim - that sas the first tise.’

(S~

[

. .
2 1C
PR
cist
vin

gver saaeone.” Saic he was atiracted to tneir isoks and “they're with ae and I can xeep iiem.”

clinging type benavior ang denied Deing aware of anmy intolerang
ving was

Salg ner .e1

ing lett alone or 22
29 203 1nat Ne st
£

rovided a ‘wincow of coporiunity tC dring

td

Said he wnanted to knock Hicks out because he wou.d then

iacapacitated - “the 2bility to exercise coeciate conttcl
Jenieq any orevisus

Sald nic mether's

necause ne wag §0.1%

sose of the articles - nhas not read any of thea,
Definitely denied being molested during his childhoos - by his pareats, relative or inyone else. Definitely said he

Later, in Germany, said he bought male pornographic magazines and routinely masturbated - on a daily basis. Said he
started masturbating in junior high school - called it an “obsession - to reljeve tansion.” For stisulation, he would
uyse homosexual videos and pictures. After the Hicks' homicide, salc he was detarred from any further contacts - also
said he was “too busy with college and the Army ang Miami.” When asked about his sexual feelings, said his practice

was to "always” have male magazines available for sasturbation purposes.
and was not approached for homosexual purposes.

In the Arsy, said ha had no “opportunity’
In Miari, was “too Susy working - [ never had anyone to take back ::

a hotel.” Said he continued to drink excessively during those years 1o help suppress his mesories - also said he

becane “hooked” on beer and mixad drinks by that time.

Said he dic not re-experience the feeling of separation or scaepocy ieaving hia again - never toid anyone apou: «°:

hz.  neq L2 Alcks.



Again, when asked about killing anisals curing his childhood, said his animal venavior cniy occurred with anisdls
killed on the road, as described apove. Did not save parts of the animals except for the one time he was going to
wat the skeleton of a large dog - did not finish the project.

In Miami, did not have a cir and worked long hours and had little money - did not have any hoaosexual contacts - did
not go to gay bars - worked in the tourist section of town. (Agreed that he was somewnat of a “naive  gay

individual.)

Latar returned to his father and stepmother in 8ath - was there for six months - continued tg abuse alzchel - this
lead to arquaents and it was his father's idea that he should live with grandaother in West Allis - he 4id nct want

to. Had visited grancagther a few times auring his caildheod.

Arrived in West Allis around 12/81 - looked for work and helped grandmother around the yard. Said grandmotner was

“heavily” inte church activities - he tried io s:ra:;nten alc life cut - went to church and did not 2rink slcanel for
3 coupie years - stoooed aasturbating and using sen’s magazires - went to a protestant caurch - did nct know sde aame
or cescnination - zranomother was upsat with his drinking - ¢id not ¢rink for about tuc vears. Liveo witd grandaother
for 8 ar 9 years. Contlnued to have hoaosexual desires “but [ did my best to suppress thea.”

During that tiae, at the West Allis library, another male gave him a note inviting his to come Jown $0 the lower level
bathroos “and I'l] give you a blow job."™ 0id not follow through with the invitstion, but wanted to keep on the
straight path and “not tuadle.” After this, said his desires increased and his willpower lessened - started “slowly”
drinking again - on wesxends - drinking enhanced his homosaxual desires. Then started going to bockstores and looking
at sagazines and again started masturbating. Did not know wnere they gay bars were bu* found out in the pornographic.
bookstores. Arcund 1925-8¢, started going to gay bars - this “fueled my desire’ - found oul what a bath ciud was - by

this time had stopped going to church.

Mantioned tne Milwaukee 83th ¢
©old sitoarcung wearing tawels - o tad

,<3 a year aespershic - went there on weexends, even while living with Ris granomotner - sne ¢id ACL KknCw wnere he was
- his parents 4ic n2: know that he was gay - had “ane night starcs” at the dath house {finally had M firsy autuz]
Zonsent hCAOS2xuaj experisncej went 10 the ath house for a ccunie years, After it closed, wouid Cizk ul men ang go
bacx t2 the Wisconsin 0r Aapassacor Hoteis - cn Saturcay-nights - after leaving 2 bar. Said the tath house closad

lub - $14 a night - would look at sale videos in tne viewing .uqnge - he and sthars
s ic was agl illzaal outl naving anai imterccourse was all that was [ilezal. Fal?

because i a coszicie tuperculgsie problee.  Was zaware of tne SIS izzue - §CIasicnaliv nac amal [nlBrCIUTeE ang tnen
woulc use a ccnoom. Dic not like anal Intercourse sut just wanted o lay around, hug and kiss, T Istiaated inat he
you don’t develop a lasting friendship there.’

had been with 100 cifferent men - ages from 18 to late 60's. Salg,
At tne bath house, was usually with somecne new every time - most of tne sales there <id not inter
of thes were “nice looking™ - those were the only cnes he woul¢ bother trying to pick up - was aporoached himself by
less desirable 3en and he would then just sake “ssall talk” with them and turn thes down. The ones that he was
attracted to vsually did not approach hiam - he would have to approach the ones he liked - sometimes they would agree
and sometiazes not - sometimes would have to settle for a lees desirable man and especially aftar ne had besn drinking.
On apcut 30% of the times, the attractive aen would go with nis - 1mplied that he was not ut‘nexy rejectes or
disapoointed - was not devastated by the rejections when turned down - “that's to be exoectea.” Said they have “very

shallow relationships® amongst sach other.

est hiz - oniy 1 ‘ex

Said he never had a2 sustained lover or steady relaticaship - it was not his goal to have such a steady boyfriend dut
he wanted to "play the field” - was not devastated that he did not have a stzady lover - but thought it might have
been “nice.” Said most of the men tend to play tha field and not have a stsady lover. While living at grandsother's
was not able to dring paople home because she was thers, would be gone on Saturday nights - gave grandmother 3 work
excuse 35 'O why he was qone. MWould pick someons up and go o cne of the hotels. Would only have a sexual contact
like this on Saturday and not during the weex. Startad using Halcion, a sleeping pill, at the dath club. If his
partner ant2d to have “heavy anal sex,” - he 4id a0t want iz ing ne would siip them a sleeping pill in their iiz.:-
in order to avoid having anal intercourse. Wouid them enigy s onvsizially while they were passed out - “tne wirxi
© heyr coapafy anc have grai sex.” Sald !

if ne 213 acy coozz-ace o anal intercourse with his partner, then e
.aer wouid usually leave after one oOr two NCUrS - tharefsrs >a ~3c tp 1ncapacitale theam ' keep thes there. ..
ine Haician 4as ‘2 wav '0 keeop them there all night.” Whi's -i¢ zartner was passed out, woulc lay on tap of hia



caress hin, and kiss hia - said they were attractive even though they were passed out. Woul¢ use four half ailligram

tablets of Halcion in with rum and coke - he would offer them drinks up in his room = they did not serve 2lconol

4. tairs in the bath house - just a juics bar. Obtained his Halcion from Dr. Olson = received about 30 a sonth and
nis prescription refilled “sany times® - over a two year period of tise - a specialist in internal sedicine - had

-4 actual visits with Dr. Olson - said he went to see him with a bogus cosplaint of having troudls sleeping - his

source of Haleion - Or, Olson was at the West Allis Mesorial Mospital.

(Said he has told wost of what he has told me to other peaple. Said all that he told ae that was new was related to
the discrepancy betwean his scatiering the bones of Hicks: two wesks after the homicide when it was really a few years
later.)

Said the Halcion was “very fast 2ciing” - usually 4as nct accused by the partner of seing drugges - this hacsenad ance
or twice in Chicago. Also went to Chicago “many times™ after the Milwaukee bath house closed - delonged to two bath

houses thers - tae Unien Club and Man's Country - on Halstead and Clark Streets. They were three tises bigger than

the Milwaukee club. Used his sleecing potion quite regquarly ‘“alaost every tise - it sade things easier - :hen !
wouldn't have to worry aoout d0ing things that I didn't want to d2.° Once or twize the partner would >e upset wnen hs
realized he had peen drugged - was hit one time by one of his partners in Chicago. Said he was the only one ihat was

drugging partnars,

Then discussed the Ambassador Hotel death - the first tiae in Milwaukee - picxed up an individual at the 219 Clud - a
white male - went to the Asbassador Hotel and was “planning on 3 normal night.” Gave him the raicicn mixture - the
partner passed out - woke up lyiny on tap of his partner - the partner had a bdroken rib ang he, Jeffray, had bruised
forearas - assumed he had beaten hia to death - they had been drinking 151 proof rus - “drinking very heavy’ - said he
had no inteations of hurting him - “it shocked the hell out of me - he was heavily bruised throughout the chest area -
said blood was coming out of tne victin's mouth and that he was gead (around 1S87). ODenies any recollecticn of
beating hia anc assumed he “biacked out.” Said, "I %ac nc intention of <oing anything vicient iz nim.' 0id act haow
what happened and could not find the bottle of rua. Sai¢ re woke ug Lhat Sunday aorning and cic act know why it
haew ¢ - did not know wnat o o naxt - “the whole thisg started all cver again.” Fut ine 2say ia & closet ai the

- went to the Grang Mall and dought & large suitcasa with wheels cn it - for 835, Pald for 3 second night at
the hotel and oyt the Bogy insize the suitcase - stayec 3t the hotel until | a.m. and 'hem went z3wn in the alevator
and the laxi driver heised nis put the Body Into the trunx. 7hen went ¢ grandmother’s house. ({whan askea whv ne

~—y N

didn't call the pciice, he said it never crossed his aind - I assuae¢ :ney woulc azcuse ae.”)
t grancacther’s nouse put the sultcase In the fruit cellar in the saseaent - was Thanksgiving iime ang fatner,

stepmother, an aunt and a uncle were there for Thanksgiving - it was z0id cutsige ang the body was “preserved.” Jn
the following Mongay, wnen grancmotner had left for church he “defleshec” the body near a arzis in tne baseasn: - put
the parts in three :rasn bags - “tripled bagged so the weight would not rip through - fist-sized pieces of flesn -
apout 30 lbs. per bag.” When asked why he didn't just cut the limps off and out them in a trash bag, he said that
“limbs might have deen discovered.” Put the bones in a blanket ane crusheg thes and put thes in bags - set ou! adout
five trash bags for pick-up on Monday morning - cleaned up the basement. A week later, threw ‘ne suitcase in :he
trash pick-up. (Agree¢ that he had a 2ig disposal proolzs to contend xith after ne foung tne inaiviaual ceaq &t ine

hotel.)

the victim passing out and then he passed

At the hotel, remespered kissing and engaging in autuaj masturbation and
that when he woke yp he was “horrified” with

out. Did not rememper any bitterness or reason to fignt with hia. Said
wnat he discovered. Said the cutting up and clsaning uo at granosother’s was not for sexual purposes, but was
strictly “work” and disposal purposes. When asked, sala that during later homicides, he might have gotten some sexval
arousesent by the disaesbering - said he also started taking pictures. Said he was never questioned and the death

apparently was not reported. Was working at Ambrosia 3t the lise.

nothing further happened for a coucle of months and until :~.:-v  “hen <tartsd returning :0 bars. An inciviguil aas
4a1ting for a dus in front of the 219 Clup iprodadiy i%3: 1 Titorzdy evening - “he caugnt my eye” - affira: -
$50 " alch videos - they took 3 Bus 0 STth & Natize: tc- . .- i3 itincaother's house - [inis was the fiecn oo

he Jrcught anvbogy alive t0 3randmother's nousa,. .. . U-assacar incicdent made M Tsoider - ] wae - -

311 3n sach ather 3nd enganed th nomosexy:’

enouan - take wy chaaces.” They undresseg in the livi;

- T € S~ g W, 0 e e




behavior. Said this particular individual was “very attractive.” This individual said he had to be hoae that
- ~ning. Gave his his Halcion mixture and he went to the basement and ha passed out. Did not want his Lo leave - wis
.y aroused - he had a very good physiqus.” On the floor, had sax with his while the partner was passed out - “it
.45 not 8nough to satisfy me - I wanted to be with hia longer.® When asked why he just didn't use more Halcion - said
that grandsother would eventually be waking up “so I decided to - I opted for tha strangling method.” Then procseded
to choks him to death - adeitted that he was "drunk.” Said thay were drinking decaffeinated coffse and Irish Crese.
Said he was concernad about this partner waking up and getting into trouble. Said he strangled hia in order to “keep
complate control - I could still enjoy his physique - evan though he's dead they can still be very attractive - he had

a perfect body.”

Then I asked if he had ever considered having a mannequin. Said he had eariier bought hcae a mannequin froa the
Boston Store at Southridge - bought an Aray surplus store sleeping bag cover/taro - waited in the 8oston Store untii
after closing - no one was in the store - put the mannequin in the tarp and walked out the store - also kept the
clothes that were on the mannequin. Used tne mannequin for sexuval purposes for about one aonth - masturbated to the
sannequin and undressed it. Kept it for one month and grandmother discovered it in the closet - then threw it out in

the trash.

(Last minute questions.) Said the later homicides gat "stranger." HMentioned eating body parts - two victias - “10
Ibs. of suscle and one heart.” When asked how he prepared thes, he said he “fried thes in a skillet - they tasted
like beef.” When asked why, he said he was “curious - that they were part of me - I felt some thrill.’ Also said he
began saving body parts for “remesberance - not a total waste.® When asked about the illsgality of what he was doing,
he said "it became 3 compulsion - ay sain focus for living.” Implied that the body parts later had valus to hie.

{End of Interview)

D 10/24/%1
/% 10/30/91
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. FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES: Jeffrey L. Dahmer Examination
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Study of Case Materials
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rreverRICK A, FOSDAL, M.D.

6647 COLUMBUS DRI
MIDOLETON. WISCONSIN S35¢
TELEPHONE (608) 836-66«

GENERAL & FORENSIC PSYCHIATRY

November 25, 1991

E. Michael McCann
District Attorney

Milwaukee County Safety Building
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53233-1487

RE: Jeffrey L. Dahmer Examination

Dear Mr. McCann:

Enclosed is a typed copy of my interview notes stemming from my third
interview with Mr. Dahmer on Novemher 13. 1991.

Mr. Dahmer was very cooperative and we appeared to have good rapport.
He talked freely and was an articulate and seemingly forthright
historian. His mental status examination was within normal limits.

If you have any questions please feel free to call.

Sincerely,

oo I Foitito

Fréderick A. Fosdal, M. D.

FF.ff

DIPLOMATE AMERICAN S0OARD OF FORENSIC PSYCHIATRY
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RE: JEFFREY L. DAHMER

11/13/91 Interview Notes:

Has not talked to any detsctives for about two months. When asked about his future he sajd, “sndlsss years of
nothingness.” When asked what he thougnt would haccen to hiam he said, "I'll be sentencad and spend the rest of ay ljfe
In prison somewhere.” When asked abaut other options, understood he could be seat to 3 mental hospital. (The
bifurcated trial and the possidle futurs dispositions wers sxplained to hia.)

Said he was going to be cent for a neurclogica! avaluatien next Tuesday !11/19). Hae psychologizal testing dane ny
Or. Saail and Gloria Andersan froa the Deoartment of Corrections - she adainistered tests yesterday “for placeseat in
prison.” Said Smail "did all the tesis” and hag not visitea hin for “quite amnile.” HKas seen Or. Palersg once pore
since 3y last exaoination. Has not hag any court nearings. Sam Dr. Berlin yesierday - thinks he's froa Boston. |s

not looking forward to his trial - "a]l that publicity and the crowds.”

When asked, said he has had three residsnces in Nilmaukee. The first was with his grandmother - saig four homicidces
took place there. The sersnd residence was at 24th b Wells - lived tnere for six months around 1986-87. Sa1d he was
only involved with "just pictures - no violencs there.” The third residence was at 25th ¢ Kilbourn. Moved there in
late 1989, and lived thers until his arrest - all the other homicides took place there - the resaining j2. Danied

that any hoaicides cccurred anywhers else, except the originai one in Ohip.
Said ®izks was the first Noricide (Ohio) ana tha: the secsnd Romicide was Steve Tomey{?) - aroung |985-35 - *he
Aooassacor detai case.  Said ne is npt being cnarged in tra: case,
The third nosicige (the first at his grandmother’s heuse) - thought his name was Doxtator. Saic he was Tiusy rere
far the svening - 2 native dmerican. Saig ne as 3n his way (0 the 219 Bar wnen he saw [oxtatsr stancing at tne
carner - docreached hinm - offered nim $50 o return to arancmather’s anc ce viceotaped. Toox the 18th & National :ue
est “aace small talk’ - zrancaother was as.zen
uosiairs. They undressed and "laid around on e sofa’ for apout an nour - had oral sex, Doxtator had o be back :a
the soraing - they went to the basasent and he {Doxtator) drank the Halcion mixtyra. They kissed ang jaid around ‘ar
awhile. Doxtator passed out and then he stranclied hiam with his hands - "It just 100k : few minutes” - expressag
surdrise, When asked why he killed hin he said, "that’s the caly way I coule keep nia thers.® Kept his boagy for .
week - wantzc his for 3 period of time. (We discusseq the various choices he had before killing him. Agreed thiw -::

first cheice was staying with hia for cevera) days or a weex alive - "if he would have ccoverated, I wouis not have

had to kill him." Said “the seconc bes:® alternative was to have him there - gead - “he wasn't f01ng 2 30
“anly when the nouse was empty.” lept e 208y in ik

anywhere. ") Sai¢ he would foncle ang lay with the corose -
taseaent fruit cellar - nude. Would have anal sex with the dogy ana lay on it - (did not like anal sex done :o A
but did enjoy doing it to others). Also said he zasturbated before “defleshing’ Tomey in the basasent. Menticne
keeoing the skulle of Tomey 3and Doxtator. Again said the reason 3e killed Doxtator - "the only way to have compls:e
control and have them stay” - for sexual purposes - an object - “their physical attraction was the deciding factor ;-

wno I picked” - and who he would ask to take home.

and waike§ the rest of the Way to grancacider’c. wac in iMe living roos -

2
13,
<

Said it first crossed his sind to use a corpse for sexual purposes when he was about 14 years old and in junisr it

schocl - fantasized having a Sody to use (like 2 2annequin), Agreed, that the “ideal situation” would be :5 have :-s
other in2ividual cooperate with hia, live with hia, and trave! with him. Said that alternative “never aater:a).:z: -
s0 he did the second best thing. Said he never went on a long weekend or a trip with another gay person - sa;: -2
never hac a close homosexual relationship - never aet anyane =ho would co that with his.

r1zides occurred during that time. Said he ¢ s

ent o the dathhouse in Milwaukes for about two vears - ~: -
010G to the dathhouse “keot ae somewng: - -

“experinent” with the Halcion 3ixture first at the hatnhnouse

SR




for awhile.® After the closure of the bathhouss, the hosicides started - said the closing ended his ability to fing
satisfaction for one night - found this frustrating. Was living with his grandmother at the time - thersfors could
not bring somsons hoss to her house. Dsnied having any intsrsst in killing any of his sexual partners at the
bathhouse - said he settled for one night stands.

Said it progressed to “wanting mors.” Then startad using two hotels in Milwaukee - aftar the dathhouse closed - for a
faw aonths - always on weekends - the Ambassador and the Nisconsin Hotals - went to a hotel about IS5 times - about
half to each hotel - always on weeksnds - never during the week because of work - he did not have time to go to bars
to pick up men. Used the Halcion mixture each ime at the hotels - the individual wculd wake up and leave. Stopped

using these tuo hotels after the Ambissador ceath case.

After thal case, said he tock two or three 2es ack b0 hig grandacther’s whom he dic ngt kill - they later laft, 3ais

there were four homicides at grandmother’s, including the Ambassador case. When asked how he decided which ones he
let go he said, “those that left - I aet wnile [ was guite crunk - I lost sy attraction to them as [ sovered up.®

At his second residence, brought one individyal back and they had sex an¢ the individual ieft - gid nct kill nia
because he gid not want to keep him. That same alterngon, took a picture of the Laoiian sale and the police mere
later called and he was arrested - this Laotizn was the brother of a later Laotian whoo he kiiled {Sinthascaghons!.

Said ha wasn't going to hotels while living at his secong residence. Any homosexual contacts quring that time lzck
placa in “viewing bcoths™ at magazine siares - he and the other gay person would kiss and masiurpate eacn other in ine

hooth.

At his third residence - said 12 homicides took nlace there. Estisated that three ingividuals came back there with
his and he ~“id not kill thew and they left. In reparg to the first individual that jeft, said that he, Dahmer, crznx
the wreng cup and drank the ¥alcion mixtu=e and «ngcres hieself out - the ather incivicual le’! ang r3zzec nip of
apout $3u0 vhe other wc individuals that survives wers tnere for the aignt and Jeft in tne serning.  wner as«es xnv
"t kill thes, ne sai¢ inat scmstizes nis Rinzover was c0 3ad Lhat he didn't have the Tensrgy i3 xill ilee. ¢

ne dizn :

Keep thek, 2r thai they were At aiiraltive encugh oo Ala. GAQreed that in total, there were apy U5 incivizuils

brought dack 0 his third resigence.) Sai¢ ne anly nag homcsexual contacts at his resizence, or at ide bath nouses -

Chicagce wnile living at nis tnirg residence

fetizates he made 3sut [0 trips to Shisace - twe aiznts peroorip. Made fler ne wag I7a8i7iic:

the acaiciies atb his resicence,  Salc he wenl il CRizags to fing someone ! -#510@nCe an3 w20 thag

-3 sceceling Lr‘" = twc peoplie case back with n1a. Founc/2et the first one at a Chicage bus sizp. The secang ane

cane from Carol's Bar - both were killed. Said, “just the aistance was greater - the Chicago zuys had zefinite :ise
sar nigntcliubs,”

liaits - 1 likeq Chicago tetter - greater variety - »et:

Said killing thes ¥as not the sa'xsfyxng part - "killing was jus! a means 1o an eng.” Then sais he tried o raxe :
coupie victims into “zomoies.” Sald “ne, [ ¢idn't get 3 kick out of that at all (killing thesj - that’s way [ :i-.a:

10 saxe it as painisss as sossible - wnile ‘hev we-3 zsizer - T wasa't into torture.’ Said ire nopizigec were -1
nate molivatec crimes.” Said seven out of ihe .7 ware ngt Riack, therefore they were n0% raciaily molivalac orees
3

(an atteapt to disclaim any of the allegations against hia). Said Hicks and Cash D and the iast victin wers not :
{alsc three others 2). They came back io his res:zence ‘27 aoney - said they were the "hustisr’ type - “proctiiii:s
prostituted themsaives focr soney. Therefore, his aotivaticn mas not hcmesexual hate Z-iaee -

- hetergsexual aen who pro b
T was not largeting any particular race - hate was ~o: 3y sotive - lust was.® Again stated that killing the

individuals an¢ gisaemoering thes was not part hie sexual act.

While at his third residence, did not go to booksizres ‘or sexval purposes - just went to Chic
apartaent - did not use hotals. Said the bath n~.sas nisinzes titles were health c‘u“s - “tnelr real Susinaes i o:
hoaosexual brothel,” Sald these bathnouses are ¢oer “Id =cuss 3 Jay, 7 4ays a weex.

3go or use

Sald, "I wanted a resesbrance to keep.® Then 3silat .: c: cied (ne ckulls - had 2 complete skeleton. i;: .
asked if ne 9idn'% obtain 3anv pleasyre or exc:iiese-: . Tospottem one sald, Cthai'c s msconcestice



I then asked hin what he thought was wrong with his and he said, "y consuaing lusi lc experiencs their bodies < the

desire never left - there were tines | couldn’t fultill it because of tise and work reasons - the fecus of sy lifs was
to find fulfillment and satisfaction with good-looking guys - cannibalisa and the saving of body parts wers Just
off-shoots - just having thea for 3 few nights was not enough - then I got into the off-shoots - they couldn’t be kept

indefinitely.*

$aid the bodiss could be 1sft intact for a fex days and then he would have to dispose of thes. Expressad surprise

that the last body decomposed so rapidly - had 1a990ts on the face within two days. Would kill thes and had use of
their bodies for a faw days - before the body decomposed - had “2-3 days tops.® Would ‘lay around - body rubbing -
nasturbation and anal sex.” Described the masturdation as a form of dry-husping.

Said he never heard of any gay person drugging his sexual contacts or killing his contacts in order tc vees ‘hag - o

wasn't trying to imitate anyone - all the igeas came from within.” (Complained about the Master's article.) Said, "I
carried it auch too far, that's for sure.®

~-

Said it was common that his contacts would want to stay, but they couldn’t and thus he hac to kill thea :5 kees thes.

Said, "I was trying to think of a way to not have to kill thea.” {Described the “zombis' -ases.) Said he would ariil

a saall hoie through the top of the skull and into the brain - on about four or five victias - used a Saster
{described where ne got it, ete.) Injected ¢ilutec muriatic acid into the skull. Used this sase acid to Tacieify” tne
skeletons - half acid and half water - the body parts woula get “wushy” and he would flusn the aixture down the toiia:
- would scoop it out of the barrel after two weeks. Kept !1 skulls - “some didn't dry out so well so I gestrovad
thea.” Saic driiling the hole in the skull was "an experiment - it never worxed out.® Tried this technigue on his
last 4-5 victiss - put acid into the hole on four of e victiss ang boiling water in ane of the victims. Said the
five individuals ¢io not gst into a “zompie” state tinjecieg wnile they were drugged). Wanted the indiviguais to e
“cozn to ay suggesiion - I wanted an ingefinite effecs.” The purpose was that they would de alive. he Socisc xoy.Ls

be sresarveq, tut their personality would be “zoasied - se | woulan't have ic go out looking for partners.” Sut az:
ia .

-

[T I

2
the skuils of four individuais. On the first one, injectes the 3cid into the skuil twize ang the incivizuz) wa
x1ll2¢. On the indiviaual he injscted with voiiing water said, “he was up and about ‘cr one gay after tne myeziicn
I hac o work so I gave hia a secand dose of boiling water anc laft for work - when [ rsturnec the nex: RCTRING VE was
expires.” Szic this incividual was the one he dicked ur at Carol's 8ar in Chizags {Neinderger). Wouic injes: anile
ihe Incividual was aslesp. (When askec, said he :oid this 1o drs. Berlin, Paierwo, Smail and his atiorney.: wner
askad, saiz that this incividual was “up and 22000” for ane day - sald this viciim “szamec tires - e iszikeg in st--t
sentences - he seesec confused - we didn’t have any sexuzi cantact - I was more interserag in finisning the [Z-razs

.......

the frigge.’

~
-
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When aske<, said he tried to be as “painless as possiple’ wnen he killee the viciime, When askec 2w B¢ 21¢ tni:. e
saic that he siranglea them while they were passes out - “all except for the last four or five victiss® (Reaemcers:
their names deing Lindsey, a deaf sute, the Laotian, anc Weinoerger), Nhen askes if he stabbe¢ one of :hew he ::ii:
that he “forgot” - said he stabbed Miller “becauss the pills were wearing off™ - cut his neck.

cag ot

| S

Said ne kest 3 1800
ther - | ¢didn’ he s
the last grandmother casa (met at the LaCage). |
bezause they "dig not dry out well.” Keot !l skulls total. Painted thes ¥ith spray paint - “fake granite -
them an artificial appearance so when | displayed thea in the bedrcom - so they wouldn't iook real - to be on :ne z:s
side (so they would look like artificial skulls) - if they looked real I would get in troudle - in case of a 52
- toolay 1t safe - it also gave them a unifors appearancs after the bleaching.” When asked wnat he was worriec
he said that he was concerned about a possible braak-in and the burglar reporting him to the peiize - agresc tna:

¥as concerned about getting caught - "I did everything in my power so that wouldn't naopen - | went 10 great raiv:
not be discovereg).”

1l faur of the skulls from the viciizs at his grandsother’'s house - for a ‘ew cays - inen "2
t feel safe keeping them - they would nave been discovered while I was st work.” Did keep t
2 oregard to the other 12, said he 2i¢ nct keep two of the sxulics

. .
i Ii2

ar- ;"

Then talked about “acidifying.” Had two 30-gallon barrels - used acid and would make the dody parts into si.:ies .

then flush this gown the toilet. Said he "gave u” sn usin7 trash 2ags - then said he cisposse of half of *re - ::

parts through trash bags and half through the acia:‘lush raui:ine. Said that if the siudge darrsl was fuil, e «



than use a trash bag for flesh - would not put bones in a trash bag - there was toc such of a chance for thes to be
discoversd - “they wouldn't decomposes - so I put all the bones in the acid.” In the trash dag, would put °just fist
size chunks of flash - if I didn't have roos in the barrel - cut in ssall piecas - 25 lbs in each bag - thres bags per
pick-up = all triple-bagged.” Said three trash bags would taks cars of the flesh. Hs would triple-bag to “insure
there wouldn't be breakaga.”™ In conclusion, said 11 weres “acidified” - kept one skelaton - “one of the sore
attractive ones (Miller) and his skelston dried out so well.® Said the two acidifying barrels were in the hallway
closet. Also said he had an 80-gallon pot for cleaning heads - would add Soilex (the same matarial used for removing

wallpaper).

Said he was able to use the body for sexual purposes for a couple days. Ouring that time would take pictures - “te
reseaper what they looked like - the physique was the sain attraction - to resesber thes - to use the pictures late'
to sasiurbate - then the tiae came to get rid of the body and the labor begins.” Would cur the Bogy in a bathtub 3

cut down the front to the pelvic area - then cut up the organs and defleshed the banes. mould put parts into a lrash
bag, or if he was going to acidify, would put directly into the barrel. Always saved the head and would put it in the
freezer (five cubic fcot? - bought at Sears at Southriage - “for the stcring of boay parts’ - bought two sonths afser

the first victim at his third residence - {ash D).

When asked, said, "I had been doing so many horrible things that I became desensitized - I was complately desensitizeg
< it aidn’t pother me - it had to de done t> dispose of the remains - the Ambassador incident was a aistake - I hid %2
rush around to make sure it wasn't discovered - ths only way I knew how to dispose of it - I couldn't leave a whoie
body in the trunk (the cutting up bothered hia the first time) - it got progressively easier to do (Hicks and
Aabassador incident were nard to do) - it was just part of the proceaure (agreed a human being can adap! to anything -

like shooting people in cosbat).”

Said the bones always went into the acid >arrel - excant for the skeleton he saved - put this one into the ketilsz and
reaoved the flesh ang cleaned the bones and "iaid them out io dry.” Saic he woulq ‘ry iC do cne body it a lime - ane
barrel for the bones and one for fiesh - would seak for two waeks in the acid solution - wouig then iake the »ar-
into the bathroom 3ng used 2 piastizc scooper - tosk a half nour 0 emsty the darrel inca the toilet - useg 15 fly
- the teilet never clogged - would then rinse and clean out the parrels.

o]
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atwean his vicoims, he said that towarss he eng there was an overla: -
he Black incividuai he zet at 27th Street and weinperger overiappecd -
setz of boay parts in :he same aCic nartel, Whep asxed wny lney

When aske¢ if he wasn't getting come overlap b
the deaf muse an¢ the Laotian overiapped ind t
sus tneir flesn In trasn bags. Mever hac s
averlapsed he said, "I aian’'t have the time or energy to deflesh thew.” Until he got arouna 10 cefleshing tnes {inese
latter cases) put the body into his bathtub with a bleacn/water solution - "o keep the smell cown.” Then sickes uo
his next victim and when defleshed this victim, weuld deflesh tha orevious victim - did theas both together. wWnen
asxed, said the latter victim woul¢ not know that there was 4 body in the tyb. Agreed that he “got lazy’ aoou:

properly disposing of the bodies.
the bathtud in ihe bleach/wa:z’

salution - “to keep the smell down ang keep thes oreserved until [ could ceflesh thes.” After e ysed his .ast vi:t.2
for sexval purposes for a couple days, he then cisposed of he and Neinberger at the same time. Had two bogises xec: :°
the tub in this manner. When asked if he ever took 2 bath, he said he took showers < would drain the tud ang shower

with the body in the tud - showered about :hree times a week.

Said his secand tc last victim [Weinberger) was dead ‘or about a week and kast him in

nts ] 7

When asked, said he was employed on a requiar basis and worxed until his second $o last victim - was with this vic::s

and called in sick and lost his job.

Said the deaths cf the 12 victims were spread out gver two years - six were in 1991, Said that after the thirs ¢r
Y

fourth viciia, the disaesbering and the deflesning “bacame pretty automatic.
When asked. again said that two or thres individuais ai grinsaotner’s woke up and left/were let go. There werz :. -
tx0 or three such indivicuals at his last residence,



.\

\
Said, “the urge was to ksap them with ae - to masturbate and play with them - this overrode any noraal hasitation to
have second thoughts about killing thes® (his desire for sexval plesasure overrods the taking of life issue). Aqain,
when asked what was wrong with hia he said, "an inability to sake soral and rational dacisions and to rasist this

sexual lust I had - it cancelled out all norsal rational thoughts.®

Said Baccardi doas make a 151 proof rum - said he usually drank it and the victias commonly drank decaffeinated coffss
and Irish Crese - "it's expensive, but tastes good - the hot coffes would dissolve the pill." Jetfray would usually
drink rum and coke. Said the victis was usually intoxicated and that both he and the victis had usually been drinking
earliar in the evening and before taking the Halcion mixture. (Agreed that it was unwise/reckless to give anyone who
is intoxicated slesoing pills. Then said that he alsost killad one of his partners earlier while experimenting at the
bathhouse - alaost killed him with Halcion - gave him five tablets - called the EMS to the bathnouse ang ne reoae with
the individual in the ambulance to the hoszital. A* the hospital, they thougnt the ingividual had drank too such.)
-— —Again, when discussing the disregard for husan 1ife issue, said he “viewed thes as objects - strangers - if [ knew
thea, I could not have done it - also the alcohol.®

Said that both he and the individual he picked up had deen drinking < they both would fee! somewhat intoxizated - they
would return to his apartment ang drink there - usually beer or rua. Said he was usually intoxicatad when ne Jave

thea the Halcion aixture - a couple times he was somewnat sober when he gave thes the sixture - had drank eariisr, dut
did not feel intoxicated. Said, °I need about a 6-nack to get buzzed.” Would continue to drink besr after they were
drugged and passed out, or would drink the 15! proof rus - before and after tne victiz passad out - usually just peer.

When askea, said he used a nylon strap to choke the last five or six vistims - said it was “quicker® - bougnt it for
strangulation purposes. Killed three or four o thew when he was feeling somewhat sober - “it mage it a little nors
¢ifficult.” When he strangled the others, he wis “somewhat arunk® - was not bothered - excest for the Ambassaccr
case. (Did not blame alcanel and was not atiriduting nis behavior to aicohol.) Said, “it {aiconoi) jus: pu: ze i- :
etter socd - It aace me fee] - i incrsased the lusiful desire - it removes innititicns.”
T Again, when ciscussing nis attituces about the life of the vizliss and whal was ¥rong with his he said, “rne justiul
gesire overcewered any narsal moral choices.”

®hen asked adoul why his sex drive should be so s:irong he said, “a consusing interes: -
any seng2 of fulfillaent and satisfaction - a 22ainugue crze - relentless is 2 gocd way ¢

plezsure anc sensaticn.” (Agreed that he was 2ften having several orgasas a day.)

the only thing tha: gave »e
Y e N

mob yb o Sar mamgeme
wdw 4w i w7 o4 0as

Said he spent “thousands” of dollars on videos and porncgraphy - estimated he owned about 30 vidsotapes anc
“countless” magazines. Said, I just like the cnes that showcase the physique.’ Menticnec the 27th Street Zocxsiars,
the J&R News and the Denmark (burned down). When asked if oornography and the vidsos causee his behavier he salc,
“they fueled it - definitaly fueled the desire.” Said the videos and the sagazines kept nim arousec ang stiauiiz:: -
byt not the cause - it does desensitize a person.” Dig not watch any videos or magazines depicting homiziasi
behavior. Said the mest violent material he saw was “siavful bondage in pictures - I'a no! ints anything sagisiis -
tying, wnipoing or burning. (Then said that :iis haopened to his one tims - he was passed out and “hog-tiec” - :ne
Ban that picked hin up was sticking a candle “you know where™ - burned his (Dahmer's) thigh - the scar sveatuaii» .:°:

< while on pass from work-release.)

Sald he always had the fear of getling caught by the pelice - knew he was engaging in criminal ang iilegal bersv:ze -
“the desire was strong enough that it didn't matter - cesire warps your thinking that you can't find any peace ¢
rest.” When asked what was so pleasurable, he saic, “to feel their body and physique and masturbate and have 3a

orgasa,”

Salo he worked during those two years - all this activity was waskend behavior. During the week at home, wov:: «::o°
videos, use the pictures he had taken, masturbats using the skulis, and do disposal/clean-up work. Soselimec w:. :
clean-ud work on weekends.
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FRZUDERICK A, FOSDAL, M.D.

GENERAL & FORENSIC PSYCHIATRY

65647 COLUMBUS DRI
MIDDLETON. WISCONSIN 53s¢
TELEPHONE (608! 836-66.

November 25, 1991

E. Michael McCann

District Attorney

Milwaukee County Safety Building
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53233-1487

FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES: Jeffrey L. Dahmer Examination

11/13/91

11/19/91

11/725/91

11/25/91

B TV

Study of Case Materials
Psychiatric Examination - Milwaukee County Jail

Attorney Conference - McCann

Travel

10:00 AM - 7:00 PM 9.0 hrs.
Dictation of Notes 1.5 hrs.
Preparation of Notes 1.5 hrs.
BALANCE DUE: 12.0 hrs. $1200.00

PLEASE REMIT TO ABOVE ADDRESS
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January 10, 1992

frey Dahmer - 1/9/92 Interview Notes

Q: Frederick A. Fosdal, M.D.
: Jeffrey Dahmer

A: Or. Dietz - we were talking about did I see anything in the Matural Kistory Museus - talking about natural history
auseuas and [ remembersd way back in high school our cliss took a trip to a natural history auseus and [ saw this
{Akron, Ohio - high school or junior high) and in the sciencs section they had these folding panels that you just
pulled across-and in sach section in betwesn the sheets of glass was this cosplete husan cadaver - in about four
sections. I hadn't remesbersd that befors this. . The doctor asked se shether | found this intsresting and I told his
about as interesting as the rest of the students did - that we looked at all the sections - it was lengthwise 3 full

person - it was kind of shocking.

2: 0id that axcite you or turn you on.
A: No - it was just something I hadn't thought of defore.

Q: Anything else - we were talkino about jogging sowe semoriss.
A: Ne were talking about video tapes that ! had sean, and I resembered while [ was still at grandaa’s that I rented

thess two video lapes - Faces of Death - they show different stiges of death and sutopsies and things like that -
it's a factual based fils. A lot of peopls rent that.

Q: It's educational?
A"t really - it's sore of an exploitive fils - it satisfies people’s curiosity as to what people look like when

.y are dead and autopsies and things like that. I watched it a couple of times just far curiosity - like other
pecple. Taps one and Tape two - 2 sequel. Those are the two points - post everything e:se was what w»e covered

betueen us.

.

:: Did you have anv gquesticns?
4: Mo, he asked the same thing - [ don't have very many questicns - just waiting to get it over with,

0: what's going to happen in a couple of weeks - do you know?
3: Nothing until the trial -

v Do vou understand the trial phase and all that?

4: Yaguely,

3: The law changed in 199) and set up a three phase trial when vou enter an insanity plea. So, first phase is quilt
- the DA has to prove you quilty beyond a reasonable doudbt - thal can go on for weeks if you have a full phase -
there is some talk that you sight plead guilty to the firc: snase. The second chase has o do with whether or nc:
you were mentally responsible (legal responsibility issue! ard there the defendant has the burdern of proof !2
chow that he was not responsible for the crimes, [f you sre found responsible ycu are sentanca¢ and if you are
found nonresponsible you would go to the Mendota State Hoscital. There are pros and cons either way.

At You and I both know that there's really not any pros in this situation. One thing I want wade perfectly clear -
somenow [ have to make it clear that none of these crimes wers aotivated by racial hatred or sex hatred for gay

o}

Those are Zoth wrong and that is what the pacers “ave nlayed up according to what the prisoners have Zee

veople.
c~,antag 318 - that's why ['n 3etting so much flacx

saying. The papers didn’t know what thas sotive was 53 i ev
from other prisoners.
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One raason ['s here is to clear up misunderstancings - like the point you just made - the fancy word is nscrophile

- has soasbody talked to you about that?
“aah - Jerry explained a little bit of it.

At least ay understanding is that it implies these peoole have to be dead before you could enjoy thes and that was
not sy understanding. [ was concerned it you are going to be labeled or branded as a necrophile.
That's not the best description to be labeled with.

It was sy understanding that you engaged in sexual behavior with decaased people which is one thing but that does
not necessarily mean necrophile - that you needed thes dead to enjoy thes - you never implisd that to me. You
hinted that it was done for other reasons - prolongation - availability and control - you had a nonrejecting kind
of situation. '

Yeah, and that's true. It did seea that after they wers cospletsly in sy control after strangulation that it
becase easier to fulfill sy sexual desires, whethar that labels me what you just said.

It becase easier to gat relief or satiéfaction after they were dead.
Yeah - or at least after they wers drugged.

Now would that help? You would get satisfaction to hiave the person incapacitatad.

It gave se a feeling of total control over thes. I could take my tise and not worry about entsrtaining thes,
keeping them satisfied - the issus of having control of them sade it more exciting for me. And then as things
progressed, [ was branching out into the cannabiliss aspect - trying to find greatar fulfillment and satisfaction
and the taking pictures of the intsrnal organs and the saving of ths heads. It was just further branching out

trying to find greatsr satisfaction - stisulation.

Kinky kind of things - like a husband and wife trying differsnt things?
Yeah - ] didn't start doing all these things all at once - it sort of built up.

.28 3 necrophile - has to kill a parson befors he can enjoy thes and I thought you could enjoy thes alive and

sedated and you would rather have thes alive,
Trus - that's why [ started that drilling.

The killing was not dore to bring about their dsath - that was the sexual thing - thare is such i deing, dut inat
is not wy uncerstanding of you. To you the death was kind of 2 means to an end - it was a vehicle by wnich i

prolong ths relationship.
That's a1 good way - that's what it was - right. Because of time restraints, not having a house of sy own - it

the only way to make it possible, at laast in part.

¥as

Do you see the diffarence? It say be subtle - you are still having sexual contact with deceased people - pecple
are still getting killed, but that's not the reason, Your wanting to keep thes alive speaks against a jure
aecrophiiic orodblen,

Yeah - we were - he showed the video tapes - we had the tv and ver here and we watched the Return of the Jagi i)
the emperor character- the Exorcist IIT tape and he had 3 lot of electronics equipsent brought in. :

What about the viceos?
I was just pointing out to his
in the sovie - science fiction - good special effacts.

the sajin character - Return ¢f the Jedl - that he uses a iot of control and cower

S0 you were imoressad wilth the =mperor.
Right - that was the main focus - he exuded tolal coatrol - sower over Als esoire. [ could identify with nip - !

ysed %0 watzh it efors [ went $2 bars - 1o sort of osych syself up.

" d1d you want power over?
asoects of life - financial, social, sexual.




¢: Did you want to be king of the world?

A: Yeah - that would have been the ultimate - carrying it to an extrems - that would be nice - at least in sy own

= "0 I wantad aore power and control. I didn't feel like I hag any poser,

@: You were an employee so you were locked intd somebody else’s wishes there - you weren't your own boss.

A: Which I didn’t like - no - never got any satisfaction from the job. Then we watched a counle of pornography tapes
- I showed hin the ones that appealad to se the most - one that showed the strip tease act that goes on in Chicago
that I used to watch.

Q: So he brought thes - tha police have thes.

A: Yeah - they have all sy tapes.

Q: How do'we stand on the necrophile issue?

A: I think how you described it -

Q: Do you think you've besn consistant on that? wWhat I's afraid of is that at trial therse's going to be a mixed

- understanding - we've got three different forsulations going on - either you are or you're not - the tara itself
is vague - there are not chapters and books written adout this, but [ guess thers are some peopls that this is
their thing.

A: I understand. That wouldn't aake sense to me to that axtant because | was trying to keep thes alive during the
last period with the drilling - by having them dsad. that was the only way I knew how to control thes cospletely
at the tise.

3: You could have had i very compatible coooirative partner - wouldn't that be good enough?

Ar It would have, but I naver did run into anydody who was willing to be permanantly cooperativs.

d: Mas it the control - was that exciting for you - or did it just sake things sasisr for you.

0777 't was exciting having cosplate dominance.

[ )
. se

0id their being dead - did that spoil the sexual experisncs at all?
No. It didn’t until [ had to do the dismesbering and everything.

DId It matter auch o ysur enjoyment of the guy thal he was deceased.
o because at thal point I had comolets control and so that heightened the excitzsent.

It was pore exciting than with a live person.
Yeah. But if e hac been alive and completely in a zombie-like state - totally compliant that would have been

oetter.

Don’t you need some participation on the other guy's part?
dhen [ was <01ng this - no. Because of the participaticn - in mos: instances wouldn't have besn camolete

:cmpliance to ay wishes - and I was never interestad in dcndage or torture - that's how some people fulfill their
desire for control, and I was never interested in that - ! didn't want o causa any pain.

It was just as such fun when the guy was dead - you couls snjoy him - it didn't spoil it that he was deceassq.
It was only later on that !

"0, because that was the only mechanisa I could gat comolets cantrol at the time. ‘
tried to change that - to render thes in a zowbie-like state - to keep thes alive - so they would be with as f{::

3 auch longer period of time - alive, intaractive, but on sy teras.

Has this contrcl thing always been - where else has tha: shown in your life?

It started with that bike incident with the bat and e dike - :hat't when | first started thinking like tha:.
Feseaper that jogger I saw along the country road - hat sas :he first %ime | aver thought of taking soseone >v
£ when 1 was around 5 or 16. A jogger along the czunt-w roac - and he was attractive - prodably arouns ::
9. .. And so I sawed 2 baseball bat in half - toox the mazz.s zirt - took ay bike and waited for hie along :-e
1ountry r3ac and was planning on knocking him out anc snjov:-: *:p sexually in ihe woods - that xas the firs:
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thought of violence - probably shen [ was 15 or l4.

The intarest then was to have a guy knocked out in the woods and enjoy his.
Uh-huh. That is the first tise I had thoughts of doing soaething lika that.
came by and so | abandoned the idea - I just went out once waiting for his.

] went out and waited, but he never

It's kind of similar to what you endad up doing latar isa’t it?
Right - starting with Hicks, [ was 18 when [ et Hicks,

Had that beesn on your aind for awhile?
Yeah - for a few months. It started coming into focus about two years after I was attacked by those group of

seniors in high schoal - I was walking dack froa a friend’s house one night and was aporoached dy thrse senjors
and one of thes had a billy club or something and whackad ae on the back of the neck real hard for no reason.
Unprovoked - when | was 14 - 9th grade maybe. They hit ae once and I ran amay from thes and ran all the way hose.
I don't know if that triggerad anything - the technique that ! was using - I never thought about it until I
startad talking about all this stuff with people - I naver gave it any conscious thought through the years.

The idsa of incapacitating someone by a blow and then having sex with this disabled person - have any idea where

this idea came froa.
No, I don’t - no conscious idea. The bast way to get control of soseone.

But you knew months bafore that - maybe ysars - that you would enjoy hoscsexual bshavior.

I was 14 when I had the consanting seeting with Tyson at the club houss. In the comsunity I was living in,
homosexuality was the ultimate taboo - it was never talked about - there was no outlet. Thers was never any
oppartunity for a good sex life - I never saw any coportunity norsally to mest anyone like that - it was just an
issus that was never discussed in the comsunity at all. Never met anybody that was of the sase mindsat is aysslf,
so i didn’'t see any other way than to do it forcsfully - when [ was 16 - that's when the idea first came. That's

the only way I could think of making it possible to satisfy syself.,

irs you saying that had there been other avenues for you?
Had I set somsone who | thought was gay, [ probably would have done things differsatly - but [ never did.

T still think there is a qualitative difference between being & homosexual necrophile or a hetzrosexval necrophile
- the only way I enjoy wosen is if they are dead and that is why I kill thes - so | can get thes in a deceased
state - that is part of the pleasure - I get sore plsasure wnen a person is all bonded up or SN benavior - that
further enhances sy sexual expsrience. My understanding of your sexuality is that you didn’t need to have thes
deceased for your saxual needs - it was just a vehicle - not administrative - somehow logistical seans to in end
type thing. Have you besn able to count the numper of aporzacnes you have taken 1o achieving this end? We can
give the Saseball bat one time and then you get into - is the next vehicle just the Malcion - did you sake a Big

jump to Halcion - was thers anything in between?
No - them it goes to just using visual pictures and sagazines up until Hicks - good looking sen.

As far as vehicles to render the person submissive - dsath ic the ultimate subsissizn - ullimate passivily - s¢
vou can do your own thing. There was the basedall bat. bartells - what about alconel?
Most of thes didn't want to drink enough to de in that sode - alcohol played 2 cart, but the Halcion - I started

using that in the bath house here in Milwaukee. T did try ether ang chlorofors later, but it never seeaed to worx

- it never seesed to lengthen the unconscious state - [ tried it on a couple - the ones that [ was drilling - ai:

the drilling people - it didn’t work for some reason.

You wanted to prolong the seczated state?
Yesh - without using more pills. I don't know why it didn': work - [ used one of those dust sasks you can buy it
Y [N

the harcwars store and ysad a sedicine aropper 1o drop i, Sul it dicn’: seew t2 have any effect, | tried a
aallet one time whan [ was out of pills.
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Q: Well these ars all different ways to try to achieve the same thing. But again, it wasa't to get thes deceasad so

that you could snjoy them because that wis -
No it would have bean such more preferrabla to have someone complately compliant for 2 long period of tise - alive

- that would havs been the best.

8: Ars you really sure you tried that hard to go that route?
A: Well, I tried it with the drilling.

Q: No, to find this compatible partner?
A: [ probably didn't try as hard as I should have when I wis at grandsa’s - because of the living conditions - I was

living with her and it just wasn't possible to have a long tarw relaticnship with anyone liks that - under those
conditions. And then when [ soved into the apartment, I had done it several times and it worked - so [ just
continued with that method. Your saying I should have tried harder.

Q: I'a not imoressed - that you startsd up so sany relationships and that you were abandoned and jilted and had your
heart broksn time and tise again - and finally you resort to what you did.
A: No, I didn’t - no.

Q: I would assuse that there are a lot of pecols out thers that would have liked to have an ongoing relationship.

It's just a matter of finding each other.
A: Uh-huh. Mo, I didn't < I guess I didn’t look hard enough.

9: So, what do you daydraam about? Your interest is in hososexuality.
A: Right. I need some goodlooking guy to -

8: You arsn’!t dreaming about soae incapacitated parson.
A: Daydreaming about thes being cosoletely cospliant with my wishes - being with thes for 2 long period of tise -
having daydreams of incapacitating thes aver since the basaball bat incident - becauss that is the only way | knew

of -

About whooping somebody?
1 son't xnow how such [ daydreamed about that - [ concentrated sy daydreass on i good-looking guy who was lying
there - | never really entarsd any real viclence into sost of the daydreass. He would just lie thers - klssing,

touching, In total compliance with sy wishes.

> a>
.o
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In this reqard, the clubbing the guy - baseball dat, bdarvell - that in and by jtealf - did that hold any sexual

sleasure for you?
Ho. If that was my thing, I would have tortured thes - [ wasn't interestsd in that.

I»

So. the assault aspect - from strangling tc 4ismembering, etz - that's not sexual.
0.

>

x>

There was a lot of work involved in the disposal?
To0 much.

A>r «>
.

You keot some stuff - it wasn't all junk for you.
Mo, I wantad 10 keso the skulls an¢ sometimes the genitals - so I didn't feel like I was losing the person

.

completely.

X &3

So. just that much of a keepsake - vou could use that and kind of recreats the guy - ! have a skull and | can

think af the guy.
_&: Right - that's wny [ took the pictures too.

>

¥: S0 you could use those for arousal purposes - could you acijaily arcuss yourself with the pictures :nd the <x_..-
Yeah,
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That could turn you on just like looking at 2 magazine?
Yeah - in fact it was betiar becauss it vas more personalized - if ] had been able to get one of these chasbers -

it's a freezs drying chamber - I would have usad that - it preserves the person in life-like condition
persanently, Prasarve the body indefinitely. Ysah - they have such things now days.

So the parts could be used as a turn-on. You could excite yourself < get an erection and all that stuff.
Yeah - but it wasa't as good as having 4 whole person.

Have you had vour best sexual experience with one of your pick-ups - a really sreat evening?
Yeah - only when they are under sy cosplete control theugh. .

You sust have had guys that just totally went along with you - have a wonderful evening together - wasn't that as

good?
Not as many as you would think becausa 1 lot of thes wantad anal sex which [ wasn’t interested in, and they just

wanted to hop fros roos to room in the bath clubs,

So, even shared partners throughout the evening - it isa't just one guy -
Sosstimes it is, but a lot of the times it isn't. Vary prosiscuous.

So, was your best sver with a live person? _
Ko, it was with 2 guys that I drugged - while they sars drugged.

Your best deceased sxperisnce was never as good as your best drugged experience - is that what you are saying?
Right. T had a lot of good drug experiences - it workad rather well.

It’s too bad you didn't stop thers,
Yeah, that's right - that's true.

But that wasn’t snough?
Xo - it wouldn't have lasted long enough.

It didn’t have the longevily?
Right.
There were shortcomings in the decsased tachnique too.

I know - that was bettar than nothing. Only being able to be with them for & ‘ew days - at least [ was aple t2
save coasthing fros thea, There was drambacks - they didn’t last forever.

Besiges being 1llegal.
The ultimate dramdack.

You sust have known you couldn't do this forever?
True. [ had a great tarror of being caught = so [ never wanted to get caught. I never wanted to be aporehenced -

that’s why I went to such great lengths to dispcse of tha svidence - using the acid tachnique.

You can do the same thing to a geceased body as you can on a live person can’t you?
Right,

R
Pl

A south job is a msouth job, anal intercourse is anal intercourse, kissing and whataver is all the same isn
Yes,

Ts there something so driving, so pleasurable thal vou “ad :: »ave them in a deceased state to do it?
ie factor of complete contral and the time faclcr. ‘
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So it’s time and control - that's the only advantage to having thes deceased.  Otherwise, the sexual behavior was

the same?
Right.

So, it's like whan she's drunk, [ get to have intarcourse with her - so [ gotta get her drunk - when she's not
drunk, she won't have intercourse - so there's no big prize for you in the deceased state other than the control

issus and the longevity issue?
Uh=huh.

Your squeezed out a faw sore hours - 3 couple of days?
Right.

But otherwise the behavior is kind of the same?
Un-huh. I guess I never took the time to really nuturs any long-ters relationships.

Peopls vary in how attached they becose - sose people readily get involved or fall in love or becons close and

soae pecple are very aloof.
The only long-ters attachaents that [ was interested in was of a sexval nature - as far as regular friendships -

it never intarssted ms too much. After work I like to just go and do my own thing - go to the bars - try to aest
the ideal person that [ was physically attractad to.

¥o nonsexual intsrest in pecple - you didn’t have thoss kinds of friends?
Just work acgquaintances.

tonfidants or people you talked to?
Xo - never had anything like that. Kept everything to syself,

Do you think you are kind of a loner?
Uh-huh. Yes, 1 think so.

Hom about with your family?
after the divorce, I really never kept in touch with thes very much at all.

Where they your confidants while you were growing up and stuff?
o - we would talk about things, but I would usually keep sy innersost feelings to myself.

S0 you didn't confide in thes - sither one of thes? Any reason why not? '
$0. I just felt it was best to keep my privats thoughts private - I didn't really trust sy private thoughts with

anyone elsa - aven family sembers.

Do vou think - it occurred to se last week that maybe this kind of aloofness from peopls in ganeral - standctfish

- do you think this affsctad your ability to have the kind of relationship with a guy - if I's a loner with

seople, [ can be 3 loner with aen ind women - ' _
[ think it did. After the Hicks incident, I really closed ayself off as far as interpersonal relationships - [

felt T had somsthing to hide and it affected ae greatly., I could interact with people just fine at work and
things, but it was alsest like leading a double life - it's almost the way it fell.

You sean you had this whooping secrst to carry around with you? Which msans you can never be honest with somebccy

- you can't be honest with the world anyaors.
Uh-huh. Right - that's the way I felt.

Like you are 2 fugitive from justice and can’t be found out.
Yh-huh - & Jouble life - it affascted all armas of ay life.
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It certainly got worse - right?
It did. ,

In talking about your personality style you are 1 kind of stand-offish kind of quy in general with peopls - thers

is no reason why you should be extresely warz and honest and get real close o a giy an.
Yes, that was ay mindset. [ was never ane that was real interested in getting involved with a big group of people

or anything - sven fros sy sarliest childhood.

Nere you lonely - did you miss people - wers you pissing soasthing?
During high school years it was frustrating to not be able to meet someone 0

yeah it was lonely.

f ay interests so it was frustrating -

¥hat about aftarwards?
And afterwards.

Like in Milwavkee - are you lonely?
Uh-huh.

You felt lonely - being lonely was being by yoursalf - kind of sad - Sose psople don’t aind it.
I can take it to a point, but not years and years,

See, saybe had you been a littls sore suscaptible to fors a2 rslationship with some other guys - sayde none of this

aight have happened.
and if I didn't have such a desirs for the total control and domination - right - if I wasn't so selfish, [ have

to adeit what [ was doing the ultisate in selfishness.

1 askad you about that - it's like putting sy sexual interest ibove their well-being - are you with se on that?
Right - uh-huh - that's accurate.

Which brings uo - that’s a value - that’s an attitude - that's conscisncs - how auch of 2 conscisnce do you have?
rallers and snuff out these psopie and just go in a tonvenignce stors and staal

A guy can rob 2 bank ind shoot §
$50 and shoot the clerk - that parson has a problem with his conscisnce - there's somsthing wrong with their
thers - thare are soss pecole that

attitudes and values - we ail have i conscisace - some are thickar than o
couldn't go through a red light if they are in the siddle of the Nevada dessert decause it's against the law.

Some people are very conscience stricken,
No moral compass. That's why when I first got dack up here to Nilwaukee after [ tried to straightan out sy life
ing - [ progressively started j0ing to the dars

and it didn’'t work with the religious - going to church and everyth
- the bookstores and then I found out what a bath club was and I Lrisd that with a cemetery and a sannequin

Secause I d¢idn’'t want - 1 was trying to find a way to satisty syseif without hurting anyone again iike I did with
iexe, 3yt aftar the Ambassador Hotel - which was not intentional, T had no gorals - no moral cospass after that.

So that sensitivity, or that thoughtfulness, or something was gone?
It was gone.

Syt it wasn't across the board - you didn't become a common thief.
No, but there's a big difference between stealing and doing what I was doing.

S0, the hell with their lite - who they are, or what they are.
It sade it possible (sasier to do it) for se to do it if ! didn't get to know them well

atout them - [ depersonajized thems.

- if 1 didn’t know such

Was that an active process? How do you do that?

Uh-huh. Just not ask tham any questicns about where they ...e or Neir hose life or anything - not having .anj
conversations with them. If [ had gotlen 0 know them anv telief, i+ probably would net have happened - if { it
in a private satting at home and their was time 1D taik, warce it s0uld have Sesn differzat - 1 doen’t ¥now - it
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when | first startsd doing this again [ was living at Grandma's and there just wasn’t that tiss period to do that.

You didn't tell se about the cemetery incident.
0ida’t 12 Did [ tell you about the mannequin?

Yes - I brought it up. I said that you should have a mannequin and you said that once you went and got 3 aannequin

= you just never told se about the cesetary -
Nell, that was around the same tiae period - in Milwaukes - at grandsother’s. Looked throught the obituaries and
ran across 2 guy, 18, who had died - went to the funeral home and viewed the body - he was attractive. After he
was buriad [ went out - I bought a shovel - a wagon type device to carry the -body back and at 12 at aight - 12

sidnight - [ went to the gravesils and was planning on trying to dig hia up.

To take the body - to steal the corpse?
Yss - but it was in the middle of winter and the ground was too hard, so it didn’t work.

To walk out of the cesetery at night with a body over your shoulder?
Not over sy shoulder, byt in the cart that I had - 2 wagon.

What's that all about?
That was another effort to try to satisfy the cravings - the desirss - without hurting anyons.

: Then the killing has alrsady besn done for you. The guy was already dsad - that’s what you needsd.

Right - but I didn’t want to have to do the act ayself.

Where does this fit in?
As far 1s sorals - I didn't want to have to hurt anyone to satisfy myself,

[s this post Torme? A
This is defors Tony - I was living in Milwaukee dut [ hadn't set Tony yet - and evan hin - [ didn't plan on doing

anything.

This is before Tony's death - during that phase you wers doing bath housas and stuff?
Just bath houses. )

So there I don’t have to do the killing - at least I didn't kill the quy, but then I's guilty of robbing 1 grave -
right?

Right.

0id you know you could get in trouble for that - it's not charged very often - thers aren't many people robbing

graves anysore.
But it's 2 auch lower lavel than doing what [ was doing latsr.

But the value for you is that at least now the person is in a1 deceased stata.
Right.

S0 your hope was - at best you might have thes for a couple of days -or if they are esbalmed they aight last

longsr - what sas your thinking.
That was sy thinking. To have thes for a few days.

8ut tha ground was frozen - but you would have besn stuck with i dody on your hands.
Right. Rignt.

You never owned a2 car?
o, just for a short seriod aftar [ came up froe Miaei ind lived with %3¢,
the hue in Milwoukes 31) the time.

Never had a car |0 Mileaukes, s
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¥hat about the guys you would take hose - what did they do with their cars?
They usually case by bus or walked - none of thes had any cars - none of the people [ met had cars.

Was that on purpose?
No - it just worked out that way.

You and a guy go home together in a car - he gives you a ride home and then he’s done with and then his car is
parked down in the street.

¢ That woyldn't have worked.

Mas that an issue?
Yeah - if thay had a car, then I wouldn't ask thes back.

You seet the guy at the tavern, and he says I have a car -
Then [ wouldn’$ have pursued it any further.

This goodlooking guy that owns an automebile would have come back to your place in his car - that would not have

worked out?
No.

Bacause then you have to dispose of ths car - or lsave the car at the bar.
No. Usually they would have wanted to drive the car back - so that's ruled out.

Little things like that made a diffsrence.
Yes.

How does that interfere?
They would have parked the car near the house and that wouldn't have workad - they could have been traced.

How much did you earn a year? ‘ :
About anywhere from $20,000 to $25,000. T wasn't good at saving soney - | usually ats out 3 lot and was paying sy

grandma 3400 month rent and I never seesed to be able to build up any cash.

Spend a lot -on booze?
Uh-nuh - quite a bit.

Do you think historically you had this cavalier (casual, carefres) attitude about killing people?

No - it concerned ae becausa of the chance of being caught - so no thers was nothing cavalier about it.
Do wou think you were kind of thin about that sort of ihing - what bothers me is at the age of 8 you were able
to even consider whopping Hicks.

Yes - there was something wrong with ay morals that's for surs. That's how strong the compulsion - the driving
urge xas - aade some wrong choices.

In general did you feel you were conscientious, or did you do a lot of things that wersn't very wise or reckless?
Yeah ] had ons shoplifting incident hers in Milwaukes - drunk and disorderlies, but nothing major cowpared to
these - [ didn’t have a cavalier attitude towards it - not a carefrse attitude if that’s what you sean. It becase

sasier as tiss went by - after the Asbassador incident.

Can you set up for ae your final arrest?
Okay, 2 week befors the arrest [ had been drinking a can a bear at 1 bus stop - just sitting thers thinking and ::

125 at night and Tracy Edwards came by and sat down next to ae and askad se for a cigarette - he was waiting !:¢
the bus - I gave him a cigarstte - we had just & short conversation - he got on the bus and went hose. A weex
later [ was in the Grand Mal sating dinner, drinking soae >ser in the Garden and was on ay way out s ;¢

.




hose, saw his and recognized hia from the bus stop incident, asked him whether he wanted to go back for $50 for
pictures - he agraed - bought some 15! proof rus - dida’t have pills left - was planning on getting him really
drunk and doing it that way. We got back to the partaent - we were watching the Exorcist video - drinking.

He was worth killing?
Yeah,

Mhy were you out of pills?
I had used thes all up previously. All the pills were used on victims. We wers sitting thers drinking for maybe

an hour - watching the video - [ told him I wanted to take sose bondage pictures and put ons cuff on one hand - he
didn't want to do that and so after putting the cuff on his hand [ have no mescry of anything uatil five minutes
before the polics knocked on the door with him in front, They case in and asked se if [ knew him - asked ne whers
the key to the cuff was - I pointsd to the bedroom, but it was actually in the trash outside - I don't know why I
pointad to the bedroos - they went in - opened the top drawer to the dresser and saw the pictures - they cuffed se
and then they looked in the fridge and saw the head and [ don't rssesber the ride down - [ remeaber waking up and
talking ta the detactive - I don’t resesber tha ride down to the police station.

How such did you have to drink that day?
About 10 besrs over the course of the whole day and that's not enough to make ae blank out - so, I don't know mhy

I lost track of time like that and blanked out.

Wers you drinking any of .3 rum - were you sixing drinks?
The rus was for hia. I don’t resesber drinking anything other than beer.

Drinking was always involved Lo sose dagrese wasn’t it?
Teah, it was.

In all the cases - in gsneral were all alcohol related to some degrae - do you think that helped to do it?
Uh-huh, It lowered ay inhibitions and sade it sasier to go through with the act - it heightaned the sexual

arousal.

How have you been since the arrest - you are still qay?
Yes, I still have those inclinations.

You haven't become neutral or hetarosexval?
Ko, I wish | could, but it doesn’! work that way.

Yoy still have sexval feelings - mhat are they?

Interest in a good-looking guy, but any thoughts of violence I push out of sy mind. I tune it out.

You would still enjoy an incapacitated person? f ycu dad your druthers would it be pleasurabls. Could you 2¢ ::

again? Could you have a drugged person and enjoy him sexually?
[ am trying sy best to push those thoughts out af ay sind - whanever they come to se, I just start reading or

doing something elss - I try not to think about it.

Isn't there a chancs that oeople hearing about what you did might get some bright ideas?

That's an interesting question because I've gottsn letters from peopls [ don't know - guys - who have said that
they are killing people and doing the same thing. ['ve given those lettars to Jerry Boyle and he's had the polics
follox-up on that, I think there's been two letters - but the polics are notified about those.

Killing thes like you are - kill them and use thes far sexual surposes?
Uh-huh. ¥hy anyons would writs about it and putlicize :: lixe that | have no idea. Hopsfully it won': jJive :“e

ny ideas. I don't have any control over that, ihai's F:i- .l
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So basically 75 -100 times in bath houses and hotals - differant ssn - Milwaukee and Chicage - and these you were

not paying for.
19ht ~ they were consensual.

So the payment is to get thea to come home with you.
Rignt,

Did you first try to get thes o come hose with you without paying thes and save yoursel! soney?
[ did, dut it seemed that offering noney always seemed to make them sore willing to cose back, so I just went with

that standard procedure. Nors of an inceantive for thes.

Didn't any of thea come home with you on their own?
Once - Sears - the last guy - he was talking to me in the bar befors we laft - he's the one that started up the

conversation with me, but it always sade it easier if I offered soney so that's what I continued to da.

A lot of thes might have on their own - you're not giving yourself auch credit.
[ don't think they would have. I guess [ didn't give aysalf such credit - I almays offered thes acney.

So all the guys that came home with you - sonsy was part of it. Thers waren't dozens of guys that cass hose and
left without being paid. Hundreds of guys also didn't coss to your apartaent.
Yes. The tises I didn’t offer money mas just in the bath houss.

So if there’'s any drive - I think we kind of ruled out a pure necrophiliac drive - I need to have the quy dead so
I can do ay sex thing - [ want to do things hososexvally with this person and also I want to control this guy - so
the issus is when we ars talking about trying to control sosecns and not kill thes, we are talking about putting

your desire for hososexual behavior ind also your desirs for passivity.
1f it was 2 pure necrophilic drive, ! wouldn't aver have startad using the drilling technique to render thes in a2

raanent zombie-like state.

The standard for responsibility has to do with adility to comtrol your conduct to the requiresents of law - which
agans ability to conform to the law and not kill pecpie. You chose to kill thes as part of your routine to render
them inactive - so to conform, you would have had 1o put your nesd to have them passive aside and would have had
to give ud your homosexual - wnat are you coantrolling - your need -

Keed for total dominancs.

Put that aside and any saxual interest
RIght - which seesed impossible to do when I was oul on the strest.

Sut you did control it at different places and settings - it was there,
Rignt,

We haven't talked such ibout the altar. You brougnt it uo, but [ didn't ask you much - was it crucial?

That was 1 canter ] was constructing in the bedroom - with skuils on ths table of the victims - two compieted
skeletons standing on each side - a large lamp with blue globe lights to give the room (with all the lights off) a
darx blue mysterious affect and with the two incense bdurners on the end of the table - that was where [ was

planning on -

Did you get that far?
No. Xothing got set up.
contact, [ guess, demons or satan - to

It was t0 get In contact with the spiritual forces to gain powar. To parfors rituals to

:--Dn you balieve in that stuff?
c#

1 - ang the purpose of it was o draw power to a8 - in all aspects of ay life - financial, social, sexval.
six sore eonths had gone >y it would have deen completely set up. [ already had the taoie and planned on ger::-;

the lamp - 3ll I nesded was the lamp ind the chair,
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How do you get this far - I don't follow.
Just froa perforaing rituals and cants to satan. | brought the book by = the Satanic 8idle and I was

reading it in the past - I get different at the Occult bookstors. Sa I was in the process of toraulating the
ideas.

0id your ideas - were they satanic - did it come from thes.
It didn’t cons from thes, but I felt that the tesple would help solidify ay control and power. Mot satanic icts -

not religious acts. The Exorcist novie fueled ay fantasies. I concentratsd on the third - that was the best

done. It was sors realistic and ¢it into ay fantasies. I didn't think I was possessed - I did not think | needed

axorcise.

0o you think you are going to testify.
I don’t know - 'y debating whether ! should or not.
My attorney is not saying I can’t - he's sort of leanj

I'll wake that decision in the future - shortly, aight.
ng towards se not testifying but it's ay decision.

Why would you want to testity - I's not sdying you should or shouldn't.
To make sure that the issus of the aotives is cleared up.

You are pratty concerned about it being racial and all that - anything else you would like to covsr,
No, No, everything else will pretty such be handled by the questioning.

It they ask why did you kill thes what will you say?

For sexual control, dosinancs - to satisfy the lustful desires that [ had that ¥ars so obsessive in ay lifs.

Do you have any questions?

; 2/ 2,. A )
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January 25, 1992

T RECEIVED

District Attorney
Milwaukee County Safety Building JAN 27 1992

Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53233-1485 o
Office Of District Attorney

Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53233

RE: Jeffrey L. Dahmer Examination

Dear Mike,

Enclosed is a repiinting of all my notes - corrected a few typos - and
underlined all of JD's comments. This copy should be easier to work with
and all the pages are numbered. From this, you can start extracting
entries that relate to the issues of MOTIVES, WRONGFULNES, CONTROL,
INTOXICATION AT THE TIMES OF THE OFFENSES, and others. This will also

be my data base from which I will testify and be questioned.

. will be next faxing to you suggested expanded wordings to the prongs of
the 971.15 standard, for possible use during opening and closing
arguments, etc. Also, quest->ons for the various defense examiners.

On Thursday, Richard Jaeger sent me a copy of his book and a letter c:
explanation and apology for the Sunday article.

Reep in touch.

Sincerely,

Lol



RE: JEFFREY L. DAHMER {1

10/16/91 Interview Notes:

Made the comment that he used to 'cherish" his privacy - does not like
all this attention and publicity. Mentioned working the third shift at
Ambrosia and enjoying getting off work in the morning and having coffee

and donuts. Would then sleep from 10 a.m. to about 5 p.m.

31 years old and born on 5/21/60. Was told that I was DA appointed and
said this did noi bother him. He asked about the length of training I
had. Said the pleasures in life he has left are food and cigarettes.
Then said, "it's kind of pathetic - it's mv own fault - if T had chosen a

different path, life would have been different." Said he is continuously

ratched - said it's hard to get to sleep with the light on in his cell -

suicide precautions. When asked if he was suicidal he said, " v, T
have no suicidal desire - it would put me in a worse predicament - I

would fj rself 4 11." Said he believed in heaven and hell - not
religious prior to his arrest. Since that time, said, "] _have time ¢ Z¢
a_lot of reading - evaluate mv life - T never read much before - T just
turned on the tv.'" Does a lot of reading in his cell - receives material

from the Sister in jail - Bibles have been sent to him. Does not have a

televison or newspapers while in jail and is ''completely'" cut off.

Stands 6' tall and weighs 170 lbs. Said, "I _never put anv stock into
t i v _1ife." Prior to his arrest, said he had control over

his life - now he has no control at all. Again when asked about being
suicidal, said the he was intoxicated when he was arrested and that he
may have said something about suicide to the police but that it was not

true. Has never made a suicide attempt. Mentioned an individual

committing suicide while he was in the Army in Germany - gunshot wounc to
he head head.
Understood the reason for our meeting to be, " i i was e —

or not during rhe times aof the crimes =- that's the bottom line - - ._ _ _




the majin reason." Understood he was being charged with "17 counts of

Iirst degree intentional homicide.'" Estimated he was arrested in late

July -~ around the 27th - at his home - then taken to jail on a Tuesday

evening - has been in jail ever since - has not been sent to any

hospitals for observation.

than Dimetapp for a cold/sinus problem.
on the floor and there was a draft - has been at CCI two times - six

Is not on any medications at this time other
Caught cold at CCI - his bed was

weeks total - understood for a probation revocation.

When asked why he was on probation he said, "for taking pictures of a_

- v v ." Had a bench trial. After his
arrest, was in jail for six days and then placed on bail. Plead no
contest - his attorney, Jerry Boyle, was retained by his parents. Prior
to his trial, saw a psychologist by the name of Lodell - his office is
near Northridge - referred to him by Attorny Boyle - had three meetings
with Lodell - a report was sent to Boyle (around 1988). Said he also saw
a lady psychologist with the State (?). No one testified - just the
reports - did not see the report. Did not know the name of the judge
-hat sentenced him - recognized the name of Gardner. Was sentenced to
one year with work release privileges and five years probation. Was also
ordered to attend DePaul for outpatient alcohol treatment after

completing his Euber time - nine months - released around 3/89.

Participated in the DePaul OQOutpatient Program for six months - originally

had meetings three times a week and then weekly meetings - groups and

individual counseling - for alcoholism. Did not recall the name of the

Said DePaul was '"'not reallv helpful - I didn't

female therapist.

consider having an alcohol problem - T didn't crave it - T drank on
weekends - sometimes T went overhoard and that's when I got jinto troubie
- T : -
program.'" Did not think he was an alcoholic. Also said the court
ordered outpatient treatment for the sexual aspects of his case - his 2C.
Donna Shester, made arrangements to see William Crowely, M.D. - had thr-=-
outpatient yisits with Dr. Crowlev - an hnur each time - paid for by

saw Dr. Crowley in May and June of °~ ~“!. He was collecting backgzgr:w.:
information - did not discuss the - . 'spects of his original cz:-

Crowely recommended antidepressant ~ion but he never got his



prescription filled - did not feel he needed antidepressant medication.
Said he was somewhat sad and upset over financial problems but did not

feel depressed - "just feelings of lack of direction and emptiness - I
Had one visit with Crowley ever two weeks -

¥asn't crving or suicidal.”
at Social Services on Walnut Street

prior to his present arrest.

- their last visit was two weeks

Said Crowley did not know about the homicides - never told anyone ever -
"T kept to mvself pretty much = so this is a whole new ballgame to me

(talking about things) - now that this bomb has fallen - there is no need

‘to hide anvthing - completely unload my conscience - to hide nothing."
Said talking about matters has helped - "the pressure of concealing over

the vears - built up a tremendous amoupt of pressure - T was verv good at

of mv 1ife - 3Just huried

suppressing emotions - denial was a big part
them with alcahol and other things - so it's a relief to be forced to trv
~ight - one thing that's clear to me now js that the truth

to put things
«ill come out." (Agreed with me that he was leading a '"double-life.')
Said, "I _djust tried to put it out of my mind - suppress it sg it woul<n

LS,

bother me - work and activities helped - except On the weekends whern T

drank and nad free time - I was becoming gbsessed with sex, T guess -

- =

started a long time ago - when T was 18 - the first time I made mv

mistake - it's tainted my whole 1ife ever since."

Has had three court appearances - no one has testified - waived his
preliminary hearing - "I_think we eptered a guyiltyv plea.'" Understood hris
trial was scheduled for late January, 1992. Understood had entered a

plea of "not guiltv bv reason of insanitv - over 3 month ago.'" Has rot
the

had any court appearances since that time. (The nature of his plea,
bifurcated trial, and the possible future dispositions were explained to
him.) Said he heard of the Mendota and Winnebago Mental Health

Institutes since being in jail ~ never heard of them before. Saw Dr.

Palermo one time - last Sunday - for two hours. Said he has been

‘xamined "many times" by Dr. Smail - estimated about 10 times for abou-

an hour each time. Said someone from Corrections interviewed him I:: ok
hour at CCI - gave him inkblot tests - in regard to his placement =:

prison (a female psychologist from DCIi).



e,

'said he takes a day at a time - was not sure how he wants his case
settled. When asked why he confessed he said, "that was to make amends

to what I brought into motion - I owe it to the families and not to keep

it hidden." Understood he did not have to talk to the police - was told
Said, "to make a full and complete confession -

this by the police.
there came a time to tell the truth - I've only confessed to the ones
that T have committed = it would be ridiculous to trv to hide what T had
done - the crimes that I have committed = the detectives knew about it
fully = about half of them the§ would not have had the siightest

" kpowledge - I just want to put an end 1o it." Said he has talked to his
attorneys and to nen Smail - said Dr. Smail has taped every session.

Said he has no regrets that he has confessed to the police.

Past personal historv: Born in Milwaukee on 5/21/60 - thought at the

‘ lwaukee Children's Hospital. Lived in Milwaukee for about one year and
then moved to Ames, lowa - until the age of 6 - had some memory of living
there. Father was in school there - either in undegraduate or graduate
Then moved to Dovlestown, Ohio - father was hired by Pittsburgh
Lived

school.
Paint and Glass - thought his father had his Ph.D. by that time.

in Dovlestown for one year and then moved to Barbertown, Ohio for two

years. Then moved to Bath, Ohio - '"that's where I did most of my growing

up - I lived there until I was 18 years old." Graduated in 1978 from
Rivere High School in Richfield, Ohio. Grade school was in Bath - alwavs

attended public schools. Then attended 3 months at Ohio State University

in Columbus - "I_drank mv wav through that." Attended one quarter and
took general studies - did D level work - "I _was doing so much drinking”
- then quit. Father urged his dropping out - parents were separated at
the time.

Then enlisted into the U.S. Army - entered in 1/79. Basic training was

at Fort McClellan, Alabama - signed up for MP school. Said basic was
sough'" - his weight went from 220 1bs. to 175 1lbs. Started his MP

training and then his HM0OS was changed and he was transferred to Fort

Houston in San Antonio, Texas - to the Medical Field Service Schooi -

took a field medic course for twc mcn'ns. Then had two weeks leav=



Baumholden, Germany. Assigned to the 268th Armor division - tank and

infantry - performed general duties - took outpatient sick call at the

clinic until about 10 a.m. and then worked at the motor pool until 5 p.m.

There was a physician on duty at the clinic.

Started drinking alcohol "heavv" while in high school - beer and whiskey
- at a friend's house. Also drank most evenings while in Germany - "it _
was pretty miserable trving to do PT runs (the next morning) Qith a hang
aver - a bottomless pit - I would drink so much it was pathetic." Said
he received an Article 15 - "I mouth offed to a lieutenant" - did not

receive any alcqhnl counseling and was never sent to the mental health

clinic - denied receiving any psychiatric care or evaluations while in
the Army. Did not ask for an early discharge, but was told that he could
get out because of his drinking. Received an honorable discharge. Did
ot go AWOL and was never in the stockade. Said he knew what he was
doing as a medic - did not do any suturing - performed general first aid.
Lived in the barracks and did not date. Talked about "Annabelle's Hctel"

dd

nearby in Germany. Said there were prostitutes there and the hotel was
near post - he had no interest in the prostitutes - said prostitution was
legal in Germany. Was discharged in 3/81%1 - denied going before a medical

or disciplinary board. Was sent to North or South Carolina for two davs

and processed out. Had free transportation to the city of his choice and

he chose Miami.

Lived there for a week in a hotel and later slept on the beach for a
couple of weeks - on Collins Avenue until he found a job. Talked about
the spiders and the mosquitos. Obtained a job at a restaurant as a cook
and waiter - from April-September, 1981.. Lived in a motel and paid
$400/month - Bimini Motel - worked 10-12 hours a day. Continued to drink

excessively and was fired for 'coming in late."

hen returned to Ohio and spent time with his father and stepmother 1in

Bath - for 2-3 months - continued drinking excessively and often came

home late. His paternal grandmother lived in West Allis - it was d=

he could live with her - moved there arcund 10/81 - lived there fcr

- - . A et e miomA Makmar - cha 1€ nrw 2F



1982 - a phlebotomist for one year (inserted the needles). Said the pay
was low and he got tired of his job. Ccontinued drinking excessively.
was unemployed for a couple of years - 83-84. Collected unemployment for
1.5 years. Had a couple of odd jobs through Flexi Force. Then started
work at Ambrosia Chocolate Company in 1985 - worked there on the first
shift for six months when sent there by Flexi Force. Then he was hired
full-time and was assigned to the third shift - for six years - from 11
p.m. to 7:30 a.m. Said he called in work and was told that he had one
point left, but t+hat was not accurate - did not have any more points'-
called in sick because of one of the present cases - spent the night with
this individual and lost his job. Showed up for work and was told he did
not have any points left and was dismissed. Admitted that he missed work
because of his alcoholism - estimated he missed work about 12 times
during 1991. Earned $10/hour and had medical and dental benefits.
Netted about §275/week. Mixed sugar and the vegetable oil and the cocoa
~--:der - said there are hundreds of different formulas for chocolate.

45 dismissed on a Sunday evening - showed up for work and was told that

he was fired. Did not have any income after that - did not collect

unemployment.

Since living with his grandmother - lived in an apartment at 24th Street
and Wells - for about two months - while there, he said a Laotian
ijndividual ''caught my eye'" - asked him to pose - took two pictures and
they had some drinks - paid the individual and he left. This individuel

told his parents - about 1 a.m. that same evening was arrested at work

and taken to jail - 1988.

Father's name is Lionel- 56 years old and from Milwaukee - presently
works with PPG in Pittsburgh - has a Ph.D. from Marquette - in
"analytical chemistry."” Mother's name is Joyce Flint - from Chippevwa
Falls. Is the second born of two children and has a 25-year-old brothe ™,
David, attending college in Columbus, Ohio. Parents separated around

78, and while living in Bath, Ohic. When asked why, hé said, ''sraci.rio

irracnpcilable differepnces = their ol ~+ionship was shaky for vears -

shov iust didp't get alapng.'" Said morner moved out and that the

separation/divorce was her idea. Saiz, "ehe seemed to ipitiate a .. --

- L L ~ o
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parent was an alcoholic and denied that either parent was abusive to each

other or to him. Said his father was neasygoing' and brought a lot of
work home with him - he loved tennis - played tennis with Jeffrey years
ago - they go along well - they have had a good relationship and'were
close - father never had any psychiatric care. Said mother was
"emotionally different over the vears' - since living in Doylestown and
after her second child was born - Wwas depressed - apparently saw
different mental health personnel - remembered being on Darvon for pain.
When he was 15 years old, she was possibly placed in a psychiatric
hospitai in Akron, Ohio - remembered her complaints being "tiredness and
chronic depression" - did not think she ever received ECT. Said she did
better after the divorce. Said they were "somewhat' close. Said he was
"diﬁ;guzaggﬁ" about seeing her unhappy over the years. Said she was an
effective mother and a good mother - said he has cared about her over the
_vears "and 1 stil1l do - I still have love for them both." Said he is not

_tter towards them. They separated when he was 18 years_old and just

before he started college in Columbus, Ohioc.

Mother moved to Chippewa Falls with his brother. Said mother got a court
order to have father move out. Jeffrey and his brother then lived with
mother until mother and brother went to Chippewa Falls. Father lived 1in
a nearby motel. Mother told Jeffrey that she was going to go to Chippewa
Falls - she did not want him to tell father that they were leaving.
Jeffrey stayed at home and did not go with mother because he was about to
start college. When father found out that mother had moved out, he was
upset with Jeffrey for not letting him know - said it "was hard to stay
gpeutral." Said he did not want to go to Chippewa Falls - had visited

there when he was quite young to see his relatives. When asked, said he

did not feel abandoned - he wanted to continue with his college plans.
After he started at oSy, father moved back into the house. Before he

jeft for college, he met father's girlfriend, Sheri. Was unaware of his

1

.arents possibly having affairs over the years = "T pnever bothered to =254

- T waspn't going to prv." After he went to college, father lived at hcme

for a few years - he was 1iving there when Jeffrey returned to see him

after being discharged from the Army. Father married Sheri one oOr

vears after mother moved to Chippeva Falls. They later rented a hou

(1



.ne during the week and Sheri has continued to live in Bath in a rented
condominium - father returns on weekends in his car. Sheri is about 50
years old and works for a job placement agency - they do not have any

children - said he likes Sheri.

Mother stayed in Chippewa Falls until around 1987. David returned to
Bath and lived with father around 1985 - during the time that father was
living in the first rented house in Bath. Said his parents separated
when he was about 18 years old - "It was obvious they weren't getting

along = a messy divorce = make each other look bad." Said the divorce
was harder on David than on himself - denied that it was a devastating
experience for him. David lived with father until he went to college -
is now a senior in college. Mother moved from Chippewa Falls to Northern
California around 1987 - does not know the town where she lives - works
with AIDS patients. She has a bachelor's degree in counseling - did not
know the name of the school - thought it was in Chippewa Falls - she has
n-rer remarried. Has had little contact with her over the years - either
telephone or through letters. Visited her in Chippewa Falls about 7
vears ago and while he was living with his grandmother in West Allis.
Mother has tried to keep in touch with him - will write and call - would
call at grandmother's house but he would not talk to her - he felt guilty
for not keeping in touch - put off writing letters and calling her. Said

he has not been pining or missing her over the years. Said he did not
miss or long for his parents after leaving home - said he was doing too

much drinking - "drowning mv emotions ip alcohol - T tried to forget

rheir later vears when their marriage was SO bad - tried to forget the

divorce." Said he was never close to David.

Father has visited him three times in jail and mother was coming this
weekend - the first time in years. (Did not know if Dr. Smail was going
to interview them, but I told him that it would be informative to have a
statement from the parents as to what they would say about him.) Said
Attorney Boyle has visited mother in California and father in Pittsbur:.
—~  also been to Boston to talk to a doctor Fred Berlin there in recz2:

.0 sexual behavior - said Dr. Berlin is going to interview him.

When asked if he felt that his familw problems were respcnsible for



. .er legal difficulties he said, wit's pot the reason foC my being in
not _in the least = thev had

t+his situation = I'm not blaming mY parents. -

nothing to do with this." When asked what he was blaming he said, "I-
voy - na ane

have gne person to blame = the person <itting across from
- T had choices to make and I _made the

else - no one put a gun to mv head
e different choices in the past = it's .

wrong choices = 1 could have mad

obvious to me = if T had more foresight =
re to fill my time - rather than drinking

if I had more motivation to

find a career and worthwhile ac

nv oroblems away = I drank mv emotions and problems away = +he pain of my

familvy situation = the divorce = that's what <tarted it."

After his mother moved to Chippewa Falls, was alone for a couple weeks in
the house - had a cAr and would drive around and drink with his friend,
Jeff Six - a 6'2" Hungarian - "his whole thing was finding the best

s possible' - the last two years of high

marijuana and smoking as much a
- was with Jeff 3-4 times a week smoking marijuana and drinking.

school
ing the two weeks that he was home alone after mother moved to

chippewa Falls, said his daily alcohol increased.

picked up 2a hitchhiker - Steve Hicks -
- picked him up on the

while on his way home in his car -~
Hicks was wearing short pants and tennis shoes

spur of the moment - told him he had‘marijuana and alcohol at home - ''Lhe

£ipre+r mistake that lead up to all rhig - _had T driven past. all this

Implied that his strange behavior started with

would not have happened."
said Jeff Six would like to drive fast and hit dogs - while
sick."

animals.
1iving in Bath with his parents - said Six's behavior ''made me

Had double hernia surgery when he was 3 or 4 years old. Has had

hayfever. Had polymyositis for about
1 tablet a day for one year -~ did not remember his doctor's

one year in his shoulder - was on

Prednisone,

name - at a clinic on Lincoln.

~ Said his first legal difficulty was while living in Bath - drunk and
sarderly and while 1iving with his fat

discharge from the Army. Said he was _:2IX drunk and obnoxious = I -.--

invalved in a police geyffle" - was in

nher and Sheri and after his

jail overnight in AKron (198"

Said he was arrested for drunk and 4isarderly a couple times in Wes’



Allis - had 2-3 overnights in the Milwaukee County jail - was fined. Did
not recall the judges names or his attorney's - while living with his
grandmother. Was arrested for urinating at the State Fair - drunk and
disorderly - denied getting involved in bar fights - would not drink
alcohol at home - "alwavs'" in bars. Arrested once for shoplifting - was
"short'" on money and wanted a coat - from O'Neil's in the Spring Mall on
27th Street - was caught and spent one night in jail and fined $25. Was
arrested for L & L - exposing himself in a park in West Allis - minors
were walking through the park - 13-14 year olds - three boys - stood
about 50 feet away - heavily wooded - they saw him and he wanted them to
see him. Had his penis out and was masturbating - they laughed and left
- the police came later and he was taken to jail for a couple of days -
was fined and ordered to receive counseling - was on probation for one
year and saw a lady by the name of Dr. Rosen - did not know her first
name - she was in Fox Point - saw her weekly for about one year and
_~topped when he was off probation - said these sessions were not helpful

said he was supposed to be seeing her because of his sexual_problems. but

said he did not want to talk to her.

when asked, said his exposing behavior and masturbating in front of men
went on for about one year - started while living in West Allis - would
expose himself and masturbate in front of teenage boys and some adult men
- would fantasize about the kids - would just masturbate, but not
ejaculate. Wanted to observe their reactions - a good reaction would be
for them to stare and watch in an admiring way. Most observers would
pretend not to see him and walk away. Did this for about one year while

living in West Allis - stopped doing this after his arrest.

Started using marijuana while in his junior year in high school - Jeffrey
Six - discontinued marijuana after graduating from high school - used
hash a couple of times in Germany - has never used cocaine - denied
involvement with other street drugs - used marijuana only during his last

wo years of high school.

Started drinking alcohol while in hignh school. Said his drinking

"tapered" the last six years - would <“-ink primarily on weekends. =
N e F 3 iateiam cimtd imuesto. = t7-pack and some Yukon Jar -



—

/hiskey - then would continue.to drink the next day and evening.
Estimated he might have drank a case of beer on the weekends and at bars
- attended bars in West Allis. Around 1985, said he '"discovered' gay
bars - felt comfortable in that atmosphere and liked the live
entertainment - male strippers - would commonly have blackouts - his
first one was in Munich at the Octoberfest. Missed his tour bus back to
bése (gave details). Said his only alcohol treatment was at DePaul.

(Closing questions prior to our termination.) Said he was admitting to
17 homicides. When asked, said he has realized he has been '"gay'" since
the age of 13 - said he has not had any feelings for women. Estimated he
has had sexual contact with about 100 different men - sometimes he did
not have to pay. OCne time was paid $10 by a 65-year-old man - was taken
to a "bath house'" and gave this man a blow-job. Said that half of the

time he would have to pay someone to have sex - as a last resort. If
someone ''caught my eve,'" would pay them to have sex - usually paid $50 -

timated he has paid someone about 25 times - in Chicago and Milwaukee -
~ould bring them back to Milwaukee. Said he likes "light sex" - to lay
around and mutual masturbation - watch videos - does not like "heavv sex"”
- anal intercourse. Likes mutual "blow-jobs.'" Wwhen asked why he would

tt

go cone step farther and kill them, mentioned something about "craving

control" and "“dominating' over them - said he wanted to keep them with
him longer. When asked about all the dismembering etc., implied that was

not for sexual gratification - liked the use of my word "administrative"

for handling all the remains.
(END OF INTERVIEW)
D 10/22/91

C 10/29/91
M 10/30/91



RT+- JEFFREY L. DAHMER #2

10/23/91 Interview Notes:

Since my last interview, had a visit from his. mother - about three times

- she lives in Fresno, CA - has not seen her since she lived in Chippewa

Falls - she is still "supportive."

Said he never stopped drinking alcohol - drank during weekends while
living in Milwaukee - in Milwaukee since 1981 - DePaul was his only

alcohol treatment.

Has seen Dr. Palermo one more time.

Said his first ''sexual experience'' was when he was 14 years old - with a
13-year-old boy from across the street - they were in a tree fort and

- iressed and played with each other and kissed each other - this
.ppened a couple times - had been his friend for a few years. Said they

would approach each other and it was by mutual consent - around 7th or

8th grade.

Heterosexually, said he never tried to initiate a relationship - had no
desire - did not date or call girls over the years - "I knpew where I
<+onod - I knew I was gay." Said feeling this way and realizing this was

not that upsetting or traumatic to him years ago. Said he first became

aware of his 'interest in the physigue of hetter looking guvs.'" Said his

involvement with the 13-year-old boy from across the street was an

”‘.E:Jatid ].D:';jiﬂr.”

In junior high school, said he had a "fascination with road kills' - dogs

killed on the road. Denied purposefully killing any animals and cutting

them up. Said he picked up the animals off the road and wanted to see

what was inside of them - he was v"curious." He was going to deflesh an:
van the skeleton of a particular large dog - did not finish the

project. Said this behavior was not sexually motivated and he did r

derive any particular sexual pleasur= from doing this. Said this



behavior with the dead animals lasted for a couple years - about ten
animals altogether - mostly dogs and a few racoons - lasted until he was
17 years old or until his junior year in high school - then "lost

interest."

Next mentioned the death of Hicks. Said he was living alone at home for
a couple weeks and after his mother had moved to Chippewa Falls - father
was living 5 miles away in a motel. Had been drinking and picked up a
hitchhiker on Cleveland Massilan Road - a young man with a bare back and
short pants - in June or July - returned home and they had some beer.
Said he was attracted to him - Hicks wanted to return to his destination
- Hicks was not gay - wanted Hicks to stay - while Hicks was sitting
down, hit Hicks by surprise from behind on the head with a barbell -
knocked him out - they had been together for about 90 minutes before the
assault - had interest in his physique. (Denied hating gays or Blacks as
reason why he hit him or others.) Denied previous approaches dr
4ttempts to make homosexual contact - did not have any ''gpportunitv"
because he lived at home. Said his picking up Hicks was his first
approach. Said he wondered "how do I get this guv to stav" - did not ask
him to stay and did not offer him money. Had the idea to hit him over

the head for about a half hour - they were drinking Busch beer and he was

intoxicated. Then strangled him with a barbell - "I _w trv
panicked." Hit him on the head with a barbell - "I_didn't want to get

we 1 i { 3 - ar
his skull." Said he killed him to get rid of a witness and to end Hicks'

suffering - thought he probably would be disabled because of the head
injury. Said, "I_definitely wanted to make sure no one found out abour
it." Said he had been drinking throughout the day and really felt
"panicked" after he killed Hicks. Said the alcohol '"clouded my

Ihj:k-nz'n

Said he sat on the bed and wondered 'what should T d0 now.'" A couple
urs later, took the body to the crawl space and waited for darkness.
53id nhe did not sleep that night and felt "tog horrified." Did not
attempt anything sexual prior to the assault or afterwards. The nex:
did masturbate in front of the body .an. tcuched the body - in the cn:




the body. (Had heard of necrophilia before. Said his interest prior to
: Hicks murder was to be with someone who was alive - denied having any
prior thoughts or fantasies about necrophilia, or being involved sexually
with someone after their death.) Said he was '"yery worrijed" about his
legal situation - knew no one was coming back to the house "hut I had to
dispose of the evidence." The second day, bought a hunting knife and

then masturbated again - cut him open to view his insides - then cut off
his head, arms and legs - "to make him light -enough to carry" - not
sexually motivated behavior, but disposal behavior. During the second
night,‘took trash bags with the parts to a large ravine - around 3 a.m.
On his way to the ravine, was pulled over by the police for driving left
of center - the policeman called for a back-up - he passed the sobriety
test - the policeman asked what was in the back seat. Told the policeman
it was trash for the landfill. Wwas asked why he was out so late - said
he was upset with his parents' divorce and he decided to go for a '"late
drive." The policeman shined a light in the back seat and this made him
"reallv nervous." He was not arrested and he returned home. (Said one
~< the officers was now Lieutenant Munsey - Munsey came to Milwaukee to
- .terview him - then discovered he was one of the stopping officers.)

Said, "I_wished T had been caught - it would have put a stop to it."

The next morning, put the bags with the body parts in a 10 ft. drainage
pipe in his backyard and smashed the opening of the pipe closed. A few
vears later, after his discharge from the Army and while living back home
“or about six months with his father and stepmother, opened up the pipe

when his parents were gone - found the bones and broke up the bones with

2 rock and scattered the pieces, "small pieces so thev would not be
4 if3 ." At the time of the homicide, said he threw the knife and
Jicks' necklace over a bridge - about two weeks later. Burned Hicks'

clothes in an outside trash burner.

(Then said that in over half of the homicides, the police never would
have known and he would not be charged - said he wanted ''nothing

~ancealed" and that is why he has been so cooperative.)

1t

Biamed the Hicks' homicide as a "hig f2ct0ocf"” in his starting to abu--

alcohol - said alcohol helps him not think about it. Said there wa-




nothing in the news or on televison about Hicks - he was never
.stioned. Said he was "gurigus" when he was back living at home - he

decided to "completely dispose of the evidence." Said Hicks' death was
always "in the back of my mind - I drapk the memories awav." Did not

know Hicks' family - "a _horror that T wanted to forget." They did not
have a fight prior to the assault. Said he wanted to knock Hicks out

because he would then have '"control over him."

When asked about the bther homicides, he said he wanted them

incapacitated - "the abhilitv to exercise complete control over somegne."
Said he was attracted to their looks and '"thev're with me and I can keep
them." Denied any previous clinging type behavior and denied being aware

of any intolerance to being left alone or abandoned. Said his mother's
leaving was not that upsetting to him and that her leaving was discussed
and that he stayed there because he was going to start college - her
leaving was not devastating. Said her leaving provided a "window of

epportunity to bring someone home' - for homosexual contact.

1 ~xed about the publicity he has received and disagreed with some of the
articles - has not read any of them. Definitely denied being molested
during his childhood - by his parents, relative or anyone else.

Definitely said he was not a victim of sexual abuse.

Said, "I _was attracted to him (Hicks) enough that I wanted to keep him -

that was the first time."

Later, in Germany, said he bought male pornographic magazines and
rsutinely masturbated - on a daily basis. Said he started masturbating
in junior high school - called it an "obspssion - to relieve tension."
For stimulation, he would use homosexual videos and pictures. After the
Hicks' homicide, said he was deterred from any further contacts - also
said he was '"too cusy with college and the Army and Miami." When aske-?
about his sexual feelings, said his practice was to "alwavs'" have male
magazines available for masturbation purposes. In the Army, said he

r

n Wwportupitv' and was not approached for homosexual purposes. In

Miami, was "toq busv workipng - I neve- had anvone tg take hack fa

horel."™ Said he continued to drink e:cessively during those years



:1p suppress his memories - also said he became 'hooked" on beer and

mixed drinks by that time.

Said he did not re-experience the feeling of separation or somebody

leaving him again - never told anyone about what happened to Hicks.

Again, when asked about killing animals during his childhood, said his
animal behavior only occurred with animals killed on the road, as
described above. Did not save parts of the animals except for the one
time he was going to mount the skeleton of a large dog - did not finish

‘the project.

In Miami, did not bave a car and worked long hours and had little money -
did not have any homosexual contacts -~ did not go to gay bars - worked in
the tourist section of town. (Agreed that he was somewhat of a "naive"

gay individual.)

o

ater returned to his father and stepmother in Bath - was there for six
months - continued to abuse alcohol - this lead to arguments and it was
his father's idea that he should live with grandmother in West Allis - he
did not want to. Had visited grandmother a few times during his

childhood.

“Arrived in West Allis around 12/81 - looked for work and helped
grandmother around the yard. Said grandmother was 'heavilv" into church
activities - he tried to straighten his life out - went to church and dic
not drink alcohol for a couple years - stopped masturbating and using
men's magazines - went to a protestant church - did not know the name or
demonination - grandmother was upset with his drinking - did not drink
for about two years. Lived with grandmother for 8 or 9 years. Continued

to have homosexual desires "hut I did mv best to suppress them."

During that time, at the West Allis library, another male gave him a nc- -
'iting him to come down to the lowar isvel bathroom 'and I'll give ‘
blow job." Did not follow throuzn = "2 rhe invitation, but wanted

keep on the straight path and ''met = . _." After this, said his 2~

increased and his willpower lessen=: - -~ :"ted "slowlv" drinking az::



on weekends - drinking enhanced his homosexual desires. Then started
going to bookstores and looking at magazines and again started
masturbating. Did not know where they gay bars were, but found out in
the pornographic bookstores. Around 1985-86, started going to gay bars -
this "fueled my desire" - found out what a bath club was - by this time
had stopped going to church.

Mentioned the Milwaukee Bath Club - $16 a night - would look at male
videos in the viewing lounge - he and others would sit around wearing
towels’? this was not illegal, but having anal intercourse was all that
was illegal. Paid a $25 a year membership - went there on weekends, even
while living with his grandmother - she did not know where he was - his
parents did not know that he was gay - had "one night stands™ at the bath
house (finally had his first mutual consent homosexual experience) Went
to the bath house for a couple vears. After it closed, would pick up men
_and go back to the Wisconsin or Ambassador Hotels'- on Saturday nights -
.er leaving a bar. Said the bath house closed because of a possible
tuberculosis problem. Was aware of the AIDS issue - occasionally had

anal intercourse and then would use a condom. Did not like anal
Estimated

intercourse, but just wanted to '"lav around., hug and kiss.'
that he had been with 200 different men - ages from 18 to late 60's.
Said, "vou don't develop a lasting friendship there.'" At the bath house,

was usually with someone new every time - most of the males there did not
interest him - only a few of them were "nice looking" - those were the
only ones he would Bother trying to pick up - was approached himself tv
less desirable men and he would then just make "small talk" with them and
turn them down. The ones that he was attracted to usually did not
approach him - he would have to approach the ones he liked - sometimes
they would agree and sometimes not - sometimes would have to settle for a
less desirable man and especially after he had been drinking. On about
50% of the times, the attractive men would go with him - implied that he
was not routinely rejected or disappointed - was not devastated by the
~~jections when turned down - 'that's to be expected." Said they have

srv _shallow relationships'" amongst each other.

Said he never had a sustained lover or steady relationship - it was

his goal to have such a steadv beoviriend, but he wanted to "plav o=



f 1d" - was not devastated that he did not have a steady lover - but

ought it might have been "pice." Said most of the men tend to play the
field and not have a steady lover. While living at grandmother's was not

able to bring people home because she was there. Would be gone on
Saturday nights - gave grandmother a work excuse as to why he was gone.
Would pick someone up and go to one of the hotels. Would only have a
sexual contact like this on Saturday and not during the week. Started
using Halcion, a sleeping pill, at the bath club. If his partner wanted
to have "heavy anal sex," - he did not want to and he would slip them a
sleeping pill in their liquor in order to avoid having anal intercourse.
Would then enjoy them physicially while they were passed out - "the

warmth of their companv and have oral sex." Said if he did not cooperate

in anal intercourse with his partner, then the partner would usually
leave after one or two hours - therefore he had to incapacitate them to
keep them there. Said the Halcion was-"a,wav to keep them there all
night." While his partner was passed out, would lay on top of him,
caress him, and kiss him - said they were attractive even though they
Wi passed out. Would use four half milligram tablets of Halcion in

+ .h rum and coke - he would offer them drinks up in his room - they did
not serve alcohol downstairs in the bath house - just a juice bar.
Obtained his Halcion from Dr. Olson - received about 30 a month and hac
his prescription refilled "manv times' - over a two vyear period of time
a specialist in internal medicine - had 3-4 actual visits with Dr. Olson
- said he went to see him with a bogus complaint of having trouble
sleeping - his source of Halcion - Dr. Olson was at the West Allis

Memorial Hospital.

(Said he has told most of what he has told me to other people. Said a2..
that he told me that was new was related to the discrepancy between his
scattering the bones of Hicks two weeks after the homicide when it was

really a few years later.)

Said the Halcion was "yery fast acting'" - usually was not accused by -
partner of being drugged - this happened once or twice in Chicago.

w to Chicago " v_times'" after *he Milwaukee bath house closed -
beronged to two bath houses there - - . Union Club and Man's Counir-

Halstead and Clark Streets. They war. “hree times bigger than the



"“ilwaukee club. Used his sleeping potion quite reguarly "almost every
~me - it made things easier - then T wouldp't have to worry about doing
things that I didn't want to do." Once or twice the partner would be
upset when he realized he had been drugged - was hit one time by one of

his partners in Chicago. Said he was the only one that was drugging

partners.

Then discussed the Ambassador Hotel death - the first time in Milwaukee -
picked up an individual at the 219 Club - a white male - went to the
Ambassador Hotel and was "planning on a normal night." Gave him the
Halcion mixture - the partner passed out - woke up lying on top of his
partner - the partner had a broken rib and he, Jeffrey, had bruised
forearms - assumed he had beaten him to death - they had been drinking
151 proof rum - "dr.ipking verv heavy" - said he had no intentions of
hurting him - "it shocked the hell out of me'" - he was heavily bruised
throughout the chest area - said blood was coming out of the victim's
mouth and that he was dead (around 1987). Denied any recollection of
k\‘ting him and assumed he "blacked out." Said, "I had no intention of

4 ing anvthing violent to him." Did not know what happened and could not
find the bottle of rum. Said he woke up that Sunday morning and did not
know why it happened - did not know what to do next - 'the whole thing
started a3l] over again.'" Put the body in a closet at the hotel - went to
the Grand Mall and bought a large suitcase with wheels on it - for $35.
Paid for a second night at the hotel and put the body inside the suitcase
- stayed at the hotel until ! a.m. and then went down in the elevator and
the taxi driver helped him put the body into the trunk. Then went to
grandmother's house. (When asked why he didn't call the police, he said

it never crossed his mind - "I_assumed thev would accuse me.")

At grandmother's house, put the suitcase in the fruit cellar in the
tasement - was Thanksgiving time - father, stepmother, an aunt and a
uncle were there for Thanksgiving - it was cold outside and the body was
"preserved.”" On the following Monday, when grandmother had left for

church he "defleshed" the body near a drain in the basement - put the
P>~ s 1n three trash bags - "tripled bagged so the weight would no: - .

i .ough - fist-sized pieces of flesh - ahout 30 1hs. per bhag." Whe-

asked why he didn't just cut the limbs off and put them in a trash '



‘he said that "limbs might have heen discovered." Put the bones in a
+anket and crushed them and Put them in bags - set out about five trash
nags for pick-up on Monday morning ~ cleaned up the basement. A week
later, threw the suitcase in the trash pick-up. (Agreed that he had a
big disposal problem to contend with after he found the individual dead

at the hotel.) .

At the hotel, remembered kissing and engaging in mutual masturbation and
the victim passiné out and then he passed out. Did not remember any
bitterness or reason to fight with him. Said that when he woke up he was
"horrified" with what he discovered. Said the cutting up and cleaning up
at grandmother's was not for sexual purposes, but was strictly "work" and
disposal purposes. When asked, said that during later homicides, he
might have gotten Some sexual arousement by the dismembering - said he
also started taking pictures. Said he was never questioned and the death
apparently was not reported. VWas working at Ambrosia at the time. .

S "hing further happened for a couple of months and until January. Then
irted returning to bars. . An individual was waiting for a bus in front

of the 219 Club (probably 1988) - on a Saturday evening - "he caught mv
eve' - offered him $50 to watch videos - they took a bus to 57th &

National and walked to grandmother's house - (this was the first time he
ever brought anybody alive to grandmother's house). Said the Ambassadcr

incident made him "bolder - T was drunk enough - take mv chances. " They

undressed in the living room and laid on each other and engaged in
homosexual behavior. Said this particular individual was "verv
anfractive." This individual said he had to be home that morning. Gave
him his Halcion mixture and he went to the basement and he passed out.
Pid not want him to leave - was "verv aroused - he had a very good
phvsique." On the floor, had sex with him while the partner was passed
out - "jt was not enough to satisfv me -~ I wanted to be with him longs-."

When asked why he just didn't use more Halcion - said that grandmother
would eventually be waking up "so I decided to - T opted for the

Strapgling method." Then proceeded to choke him to death - admitted r: .-
he s "drupk." Said they were drinking decaffeinated coffee and Ir:.:
C. ate. Said he was concerned about this partner wvaking up and get::-. .

1nto trouble. Said he strangled him in order to "keep complete copt oo




I _could still eniov his phvysique = even though he's dead they canp still

be very attractive - he had a perfect bhodv."

Then I asked if he had ever considered having a mannequin. Said he had
earlier bought home a mannequin from the Boston Store at Southridge -
bought an Army surplus store sleeping bag cover/tarp - waited in the
Boston Store until after closing - no one was in the store - put the
‘mannequin in the tarp and walked out the store - also kept the clothes
that were on the mannequin. Used the mannequin for sexual purposes for
about one month - masturbated to the mannequin and undressed it. Kept it
for one month and grandmother discovered it in the closet - then threw it

out in the trash.

(Last minute questions.) Said the later homicides get "stranger."
Mentioned eating body parts - two victims - "10 lbs. of muscle and one
_heart." When asked how he prepared them, he said he "fried them in a

«ilet - thev tasted like beef.'" When asked why, he said he was ''curious
- +hat thev were part of me - T felt some thrill.'" Also said he began
saving body parts for "rememberance - not a total waste.'" When asked
about the illegality of what he was doing, he said "it became a
compulsion - my main focus for living.'" Implied that the body parts

later had value to him.

(End of Interview)

D 10/24/91
C/M 10/30/91



JEFFREY L. DAHMER #3

11/13/91 Interview Notes:

Has not talked to any detectives for about two months. When asked about

his future he said, "endless vears of pothingness." When asked what he

thought would happen to him he said, "I'll be sentenced and spend the
rest of mv life in prison somewhere." When asked about other options,
understood he could be sent to a mental hospital. (The bifurcated trial
and the possible future dispositions were explained to him.)

Said he was going to be sent for a neurological evaluation next Tuesday
(11/19). Had psychological testing done by Dr. Smail and Gloria Anderson
from the Department of Corrections - she administered tests yesterday
“"for placement in prison." Said Smail "did_all the ftests" and had not
;visited him for "guite awhile." Has seen Dr. Palermo once more since my
~ast examination. Has not had any court hearings. Saw Dr. Berlin
vesterday - thinks he's from Boston. Is not looking forward to his trial

- "all that publicitv and the crowds."

When asked, said he has had three residences in Milwaukee. The first was
with his grandmother - said four homicides took place there. The second
residence was at 24th & Wells - lived there for six months around

1986-87. Said he was only involved with "just pictures - po violence

there." The third residence was at 25th & Kilbourn. Moved there in late

1989, and lived there until his arrest - all the other homicides took
place there - the remaining 12. Denied that any homicides occurred

anywhere else, except the original one in Ohio.

Said Hicks was the first homicide (Ohio) and that the second homicide was
Steve Tomey(?) - around 1985-86 - the Ambassador Hotel case. Said he is

not being charged in that case.

-he third hcmicide (the first at his grandmother's house) - thought -

name was Doxtator. Said he was '"jusr there for the evening - a nat:

American.'" Said he was on his way to the 219 Bar when he saw Doxte-

P e IR - - - . - e - s



g ndmother's and be videotaped. Took the 18th & National bus and walked
) rest of the way to grandmother's. Was in the living room - "made
small talk" - grandmother was asleep upstairs. They undressed and "laid
around on the sofa" for about an hour - had oral sex. Doxtator had to be
back in the morning - they went to the basement and he (Doxtator) drank
the Halcion mixture. They kissed and laid around for awhile. Doxtator
passed out and then he strangled him with his hands - "it just took a few
minutes" - expressed surprise. When asked why he killed him he said,
"that's the only wavy I could keep him there.”" Kept his body for a week -
wanted him for a period of time. (We discussed the various choices he
had before killing him. Agreed that his first choice was staying with
him for several days or a week alive - "if he would have cooperated. I
would not have had to kill him." Said “"the second bhest' alternative was
to have him there - dead - "he wasn't going to go anvwhere.") Said he
would fondle and lay with the corpse - 'onlv when the house was empty."
RKept the body in the basement fruit cellar - nude. Would have anal sex
with the body and lay on it - (did not like anal sex done to him, but did
er— vy doing it to others). Also said he masturbated before '"defleshing"
1. 2y in the basement. Mentioned keeping the skulls of Tomey and

Doxtator. Again said the reason he killed Doxtator - '"the gnlv wav tn
have complers contrnl and have them stav'" - for sexual purposes - an
object - '"iheir phvsical attraction was the deciding factor in whao I
pRlle " - and who he would ask to take home.

Said it first crossed his mind to use a corpse for sexual purposes when
Qe was about 14 vears old and in junior high school - fantasized having =
scdy to use (like a mannequin). Agreed, that the “"ideal situation" would
De to have the other individual cocperate with him, live with him, and
~ravel with him. Said that alternative 'never materialized," so he did
“he second best thing. Said he never went on a long weekend or a trip

vith another gay person - said he never had a close homosexual

relationship - never met anyone who would do that with him.

Wenft to the bathhouse in Milwaukee for about two years - no homicides
¢ red during that time. Said he cid "axperiment" with the Halci~n
mixture first at the bathhouse. Sa:: - wn3 to the bathhouse "kep: -

zemewhat satisfied for awhile." Afte- r4e closure of the bathhouse.




homicides started - said the closing ended his ability to find
satisfaction for one night - found this frustrating. Was living with his
grandmother at the time - therefore could not bring someone home to her
house. Denied having any interest in killing any of his sexual partners
at the bathhouse - said he settled for one night stands. |

Said it progressed to "wanting more." Then started using two hotels in
Milwaukee - after the bathhouse closed - for a few months - always on
weekends - the Ambassador and the Wisconsin Hotels - went to a hotel
about 15 times - about half to each hotel - always on weekends ~ never
during the week because of work - he did not have time to go to bars to
pick up men. Used the Halcion mixture each time at the hotels - the
individual would wake up and leave. Stopped using these two hotels after

the Ambassador death case.

fter that case, said he took two or three men back to his grandmother's
+hom he did not kill - they later left. Said there were four homicides
at grandmother's, including the Ambassador case. When asked how he
r

decided which ones he let go he said, "those that left - 1 met while T

was quite drunk - T los* mv attraction toQ them as I sobered up."

At his second residence, brought one individual back and they had sex and
the individual left - did not kill him because he did not want to keep
him. That same afternoon, took a picture of the Laotian male and the
police were later called and he was arrested - this Laotian was the
brother of a later Laotian whom he killed (Sinthasomphone). Said he
wasn't going to hotels while living at his second residence. Any
homosexual contacts during that time took place in "viewing booths" at

magazine stores - he and the other gay person would kiss and masturbate

each other in the booth.

At his third residence - said 12 homicides took place there. Estimated
iat three individuals came back there with him and he did not kill them

and they left. In regard to the first ‘individual that left, said th=’

he, Dahmer, drank the wrong cup and drank the Halcion mixture and Kkr. p!

himself out - the other individual left and robbed him of about SZ2C



in the morning. When asked why he didn't kill them, he said that
sometimes his hangover was so bad that he didn't have the "ﬁnﬁnix_LQ_kill
them,'" or keep them, or that they were not attractive enough to him.
(Agreed that in total, there were only 15 individuals brought back to his
third residence.) Said he only had homosexual contacts at his residence,
or at the bath houses in Chicago while living at his third residence.

Estimated he made about 10 trips to Chicago - two nights per trip. Made
trips to Chicago even after he was committing the homicides at his
residence. Said he went to Chicago to find someone to bring back to his
residence and keep them - a scouting trip - two people came back with
him. Found/met the first one at a Chicago bus stop. The second one came
from Carol's Bar - both were killed. Said, "just the distance was
greater - the Chicago guvs had definite time limits - T liked Chicago

better - greater varietv - bhetter pnightclubs."

Laid killing them was not the satisfying part - "killing was 3just a means

to an end."” Then said he tried to make a couple victims into '"zombies."
Said "po. I didn't get a kick out of that at all (killing them) - that's

whv I tried to make it as painless as possible - while thev were asleep -
I wasn't into torture." Said the homicides were not "hate motivated
crimes." Said seven out of the 17 were not Black, therefore they were
not racially motivated crimes (an attempt to disclaim any of the
allegations against him). Said Hicks and Cash D and the last victim were
not gay (also three others ?). They came back to his residence for monev

- said they were the "hustler" type - "prostitutes'" - heterosexual men

who prostituted themselves for money. Therefore, his motivation was not
homosexual hate crimes - "I_w i 1 - te
vas not my motive - lust was," Again stated that killing the individuals

and dismembering them was not part his sexual act.

While at his third residence, did not go to bookstores for sexual

- ~urposes - just went to Chicago or used his apartment - did not use
.otels. Said the bath houses business titles were health clubs - "r-__ - _
real busipess 1s 3 homosexual brothe!."” Said these bathhouses are -~

"24 hours a dav., 7 davs a week."




said, "I wanted a remembrance to keep." Then boiled and painted the

skulls - had a complete skeleton. Again, when asked if he didn't obtain
any pleasure or excitement out of killing them he said, "that's a

misconception."

I then asked him what he thought was wrong with him and he said, “"my
consuming lust to experience their haodies - the desire never left - there

were times T couldn't fulfill it hecause of time and work reasons - the
focus of mv life was to find fulfillment and satisfaction with
good-looking guvs - cannibalism and the saving of bodv parts were sust
off-shoots - just having them for a few pnights was nat enough - then I
- got into the off-shoots - thev couldn't he Kkept indefinitelv."

Said the bodies could be left intact for a few days and then he would
have to dispose of them. Expressed surprise that the last body
decomposed so rapidly - had maggots on the face within two days. Would
~ 111 them and had use of their bodies for a few days - before the body
decomposed - had "2-3 davs tops." Would "lav around - hodv rubbing -

masturbation and aral sex." Described the masturbation as a form of

dry-humping.

Said he never heard of any gay person drugging his sexual contacts or
killing his contacts in order to keep them - "I wasp't trving to imitate
anvone =~ all] the jdeas came from within." (Complained about the Master's

article.) Said, "I_carried it much too far., that's for sure."

Said it was common that his contacts would want to stay, but they

couldn't and thus he had to kill them to keep them.

Said, "I _was trving to thipk of a wav to not have to kill them."
(Described the "zombie' cases.) Said he would drill a small hole throuzx

the top of the skull and into the brain - on about four or five victims -
~ed a baster (described where he got it, etc.) injected diluted muriar- -
-id into the skull. Used this same acid to "acidifv'" the skeletons -

haif acid and half water - the bodv ::""s wuuid get "mushv'" and he w. ..
flush the mixture down the toilet - . ! scoop it out of the barr-;
N A omve o~y e —~ - US| - .

after two weeks. Want 11 <cbnl'c



destroved them.'" Said drilling the hole in the skull was "'an_experiment
- it never worked out." Tried this technique on his last 4-5 victims -
put acid into the hole on four of the victims and boiling water in one of
the victims. Said the five individuals did not get into a "zombje' state
(injected while they were drugged). Wanted the individuals to be "open
to mv suggestion - I wanted an indefinite effect." The purpose was that
they would be alive, the bodies would be preserved, but their personality
would be "zombied - so T wouldn't have to go out looking for partpers.”
Put acid into the skulls of four individuals. On the first one, injected
the acid into the skull twice and the individual was killed. On the
individual he injected with boiling water said, "he was up and about for
one davy after the injection - I had to work so I gave him a second dose

of boiling water and left for work - when I returned the next morning he
was expired." Said this individual was the one he picked up at Carol's
Bar in Chicago (Weinberger). Would inject while the individual was
asleep. (When asked, said he told this to Drs. Berlin, Palermo, Smail

" 1d his attorney.) When asked, said that this individual was "up and

—

about'" for one day - said this victim ''seemed tired - he talked ip short

centences - he seemed confused - we didn't have anv sexual contact - T

was more interested in finpighing *he 12-pack in the fridge."

When asked, said he tried to be as "painless as possible" when he killed
the victims. When asked how he did this, he said that he strangled them
while they were passed out - "all except for the last four or five
victims" (Remembered their names being Lindsey, a deaf mute, the Laotian,
and Weinberger). When asked if he stabbed one of them he said that he

“forgot" - said he stabbed Miller "hecause the pills were wearing off" -

cut his neck.

Said he %ept all four of the skulls from the victims at his grandmother's
house - for a few days - then "disposed of them = T didn't feel safe

keeping them - theyv would have been discovered while I was at work.'" Did

teep the skull of the last grandmother case (met at the LaCage). In
.egard to the other 12, said he did not keep two of the skulls becaus-=

they “did not drv out well." FRept 1 skulls total. Painted them w.-

"fake grapnite - tq give -hem apn artificial appearapce

spray paint -
when T Aicplaved them ip the bedracm - s~ thev wouldn't look real - . o




4 looked real T would get ip trouble - in case of a break-in = to play jt

safe - it also gave them a uniform appearance after the bleaching." When
asked what he was worried about he said that he was concerned about a
possible break-in and the burglar reporting him to the police - agreed
that he was concerned about getting caught - "I1_did evervthing in my

power so that wouldn't happen - I went to great pains (to not be

discovered)."

Then talked about "acidifving." Had two 30-gallon barrels - used acid
and would make the body parts into "sludge" and then flush this down the
toilet. Said he ''gave up" on using trash bags - then said he disposed of
half of the body parts through trash bags and half through the acid/flush
routine. Said that if the sludge barrel was full, he would then use a
trash bag for flesh - would not put bones in a trash bag - there was too

much of a chance for them to be discovered - 'thev wouldn't decompose -
— _I put all the bones in the acid." In the trash bag, would put '

ist size chupks of flesh - if T didp't have room in the barrel - cut in

bt

'Juet
ol B -

small pieces - 25 1bs in each hag - three hags per pick-up = 3l]

riple- ." Said three trash bags would take care of the flesh. He

would triple-bag to "insure there wouldn't be breakage.'" In conclusion,
said ‘11 were "acidified" - kept one skeleton - '"gne of the more

attractive ones (Miller) and his skeleton dried out so well." Said the
two acidifying barrels were in the hallway closet. Also said he had an

80-gallon pot for cleaning heads - would add Soilex (the same material

used for removing wallpaper).

Said he was able to use the body for sexual purposes for a couple days.
During that time would take pictures - ''to remember what thev looked like

- the physigue was the main attraction - to remember them - to use the

pictures later to masturbate - then the time came to get rid of the bodw

and the labor begins." Would put the body in a bathtub and cut down th=2

F-ont to the pelvic area - then cut up the organs and defleshed the

snes. Would put parts into a trash beg, or if he was going to acicit-
would put directly intc the barrel. Aiways saved the head and weuld
it in the freezer (five cubic foot? - “ought at Sears at Southridge -

"fAar~ tho <taring nf hadv parrs" - Scuz-- rwo months after the firs:s



Mctim at his third residence - Cash D).

When asked, said, "I _had heen dging sQ manv horrible thiggﬁ_Lhﬁi_I_hﬁgﬁmg‘

desensitized - I was completely desensitized - it didn't baother me - it
had to be done Lo dispose of the remains - the Ambassador incident was a
mistake - T had to rush around to make sure it wasn't discovered - the
only wavy I knew how to dispose of i+ - I couldn't leave 3 whole hody in
the trunk (the cutting up bothered him the first time) - it pgot
rrogressively easier to do (Hicks and Ambassador incident were hard to
do) - it was just part of the procedure (agreed a human being can adapt
Io anything - like shooting people in combat)."

Said the bones always went into the acid barrel - except for the skeleton
he saved - put this one into the kettle and removed the flesh and cleaned
the bones and "laid them out Lo drv." Said he would try to do one body
at a time - one'barrel for the bones and one for flesh - would soak for
two weeks in the acid solution - would then take the barrels into the
<hroom and used a plastic scooper - took a half hour to empty the
varrel into the toilet - used 10 flushes - the toilet never clogged -

would then rinse and clean out the barrels.

When asked if he wasn't getting some overlap between his victims, he said
that towards the end there Wa8s an overlap - the deaf mute and the Laotian
overlapped and the Black individual he met at 27th Street and Weinberger
overlapped - put their flesh in trash bags. Never had two sets of body
parts in the same acid barrel. When asked why they overlapped he said,

"1 didn't have the time Qr _energy to deflesh them." Until he got around

to defleshing them (these latter cases) put the body into his bathtub
with a bleach/water solution - "tg keep the smell down." Then picked up
his next victim and when defleshed this victim, would deflesh the
previous victim - did them both together. When asked, said the latter
victim would not know that there was a body in the tub. Agreed that he

"got lazv'" about properly disposing of the bodies.

+ his second to last victim (Weinberger) was dead for about a weer
Rept him in the bathtub in the bleach/water solution - "'tg keep rhe S
down and Keep them preserved until T ~~yld deflesh them." After he




ais last victim for sexual purposes for a couple days, he then disposed
of he and Weinberger at the same time. Had two bodies kept in the tub in
this manner. When asked if he ever took a bath, he said he took showers
- would drain the tub and shower with the body in the tub - showered

about three times a week.

When asked, said he was employed on a regular basis and worked until his
second to last victim.- was with this victim and called in sick and lost

his job.

Said the deaths of the 12 victims were spread out over two years - six
were in 1991. Said that after the third or fourth victim, the

dismembering and the defleshing "bhecame prettv automatic."

When asked, again said that two or three individuals at grandmother's
woke up and left/were let go. There were also two or three such

_individuals at his last residence.

Said, "the urge was to keep them with me - fto masturbate and plav with
them - this overrode anv normal hesitatian to have second thoughts about
killing them" (his desire for sexual pleasure overrode the taking of life

issue). Again, when asked what was wrong with him he said, "an _ipabilitv

to make moral and rational decisions and to resis+t this sexual lust T had

= 1t cancelled out al] normal rational thoughts."

Said Baccardi does make a 151 proof rum - said he usually drank it and
the victims commonly drank decaffeinated coffee and Irish Creme - "it's
expensive, but tastes good - the hot coffee would dissolve the pill."
Jeffrey would usually drink rum and coke. Said the victim was usually
intoxicated and that both he and the victim had usually been drinking
earlier in the evening and before taking the Halcion mixture. (Agreed

that it was unwise/reckless to give anyone who is intoxicated sleeping

t
3

pills. Then said that he almost killed one of his partners earlier wh: 6.
‘Perimenting at the bathhouse - almost killed him with Halcion - gav.-
aim five tablets - called the EMS to the bathhouse and he rode with
individual in the ambulance to the hcscital. At the hospital, thev
)

thought the individual had drank too much.



Again, when discussing the disregard for human life issue, said he

“"viewed them as objects - strangers - jif T knew them. [ could not have
1 .l - ] !l 1::hi]0"

Said that both he and the individual he picked up had been drinking -
they both would feel somewhat intoxicated - they would return to his
apartment and drink there - usually beer or rum. Said he was usually
intoxicated when he gave them the Halcion mixture = a couple times he was
somewhat sober when he gave them the mixture - had drank earlier, but did

not feel intoxicated.
.Would continue to drink beer after they were drugged and passed out, or
would drink the 151 proof rum - before and after the victim passed out -

usually just beer.

Said,

nI i 1 t A 6-231:]: to get h!]ZZEd-"

When asked, said he used a nylon strap to choke the last five or six

" ctims - said it .was "guicker" - bought it for strangulation purposes.
Rilled three or four of them when he was feeling somewhat sober - "it
made it a little more difficult."” When he strangled the others, he was

"somewhat drupk' - was not bothered - except for the Ambassador case.
(Did not blame alcohol and was not attributing his behavior to alcohol.)

Sa

id, "it (alcohol)

increased the lustful desire -

just put me in a bhet*er mood - it made me feel

- it

it removes inhibitions."

Again, when discussing his attitudes about the life of the victims and

what was wrong with him he said,

DQEma1 mQ:a] :bC:'(.Es "

When asked about why his sex drive should be so strong he said,

the ©

"+he

lystful desire ogverpowered anv

nly thing

i

G

rhat gave me anv sense of fulfillment

copsuming interest -

and satisfaction =

a continuous urge

-

relentless is a good wav to put

Y

~several orgasms a day.)

Said he spent

1t < tA1
Lthousands

e j!

of deollars

estimated he owned about 30 videot.a:

llT

Tyt

liko

tho Anog

that

showec2s

e

({Agreed that he was often havinzg

~1deos and pornograpny -

oo less" magazines. .

ssiaue. Mentioned the _~



Street Bookstore, the J&R News and the Denmark (burned down). When asked
if pornography and the videos caused his behavior he said, '"they fueled

it - definjtely fueled the desire." Said the videos and the magazines

kept him aroused and stimulated - "but not the cause - it daes
desensitize a person.'" Did not watch any videos or magazines depicting
homicidal behavior. Said the most violent material he saw was "plavfy]
bondage in pictures - I'm not into anvthing sadistic - tving, whipping or
burping." (Then said that this happened to him one time - he was passed
out and "hog-tied" - the man that picked him up was sticking a candle
"xgu_knéﬁ_ﬂhgxg" - burned his (Dahmer's) thigh - the scar eventually left
- while on pass from work-release.)

Said he always had the fear of getting caught by the police - knew he was
engaging in criminal and illegal behavior - "the desire was strong enough
that it didn't matter - desire warps vour thinking that vou can't find

any peace or rest.'" When asked what was so pleasurable, he said, '"'to

———
. (3

.ol i v

Said he worked during those two years =~ all this activity was weekend
behavior. During the week at home, would watch videos, use the pictures

he had taken, masturbate using the skulls, and do disposal/clean-up work.

Sometimes would do clean-up work on weekends.

D 1/19/91
CcC 11/25/91
M 11/26/91



RE: JEFFREY L. DAHHER b

F-912542

12/20/91 Interview Notes:

(Interviewed at Columbia Correctional Institution) 31 years old. Has
not had any further court appearances. Sleeps until around 11:00 am and
then meets with his attorney = one of the attorneys is usually with him
all week - mentioned attorney Boyle' "$6,500 lap-top Toshiba computer."
Has been at CCI since 11/23/91. Last court appearance was around 10/1 -
about dismissing =ome motions. Trial is scheduled for 1/27/92. Has not

seen Dr. Smail at CCI, or since my last interview. Has not seen Dr.

Polermo at CCI, but saw him 3-4 times in Milwaukee. Saw Dr. Anderson
during the morning the day before my last examination - has seen her two
imes. Saw Dr. Berlin during the afternoon on the day before my last

examination - has not seen him since. Saw Dr. Freedman 2-3 times 1n
Milwaukee and once at CCI - was given the Rorschach and the TAT in

Milwaukee and the MMPI at CCI.

"+q determipe what mv

Again, understood the reason for our meeting to Dbe,

mental state is or was in the past." (I then mentioned the sinus changes
on his x-rays - "I _don't care = T would if I were on the streets.")
Mentioned the extensive security at CCI when he was brought here. Denied

any suicidal thoughts or intents at this time - described how he uses a

plastic Bic shaver and how he could commit suicide with it if he wantecd
to - he is in isolation and they would not be able to get to him in time
- "wut I don't plan on doing i+ ." Talked about his attorney doing much

- may have to see another

traveling and interviewing potential examiners

examiner from Chicago.

Over the years, said he has forgotten the names of some of the victims

hey would just use their first names - “i+ was standard procedure to

keap things impersonal - don't ask 2 .of nf personal gquestions = Jus”

small talk." Said there were three vi-tims at grandmother's - three

individuals were not killed there, Tu® et from her residence.



When asked how he felt after the Doxtator homicide - said he was

o . i that I was doing it again - it fuyeled my desire - it was too

late to stop - it was on my mind during the week = to pick up and keep
them permanently - T was in too deep of trouble, so it didn't matter - T
think that's accurate - too far past that point.'" (Denied attempts to

stop or self-reform at that point.)

RICHARD GUERRERQ (count 2 - victim 4 - after Hicks, Tomey and Doxtator.)
Met him at the entrance to the Phoenix Bar - on Water Street - a gay bar.
Had not seen him before (Guerrero) - was leaving the bar - had a 6-pack
with him and it was closing time - "gspur of the moment'" - approached him
and talked about sex and a video tape - offered him money, but did not
pay him. .Was Hispanic - about 5'10" - appeared “"attractive'" - asked him

only because he was attractive - said he would not have approached him if
he was fat and bald. The two of them took a bus to grandmother's - was
“eeling "fairlv drunk" - drank from 10:00 to 2:00 am. Before 10:00,
sould be "relaxing'" at home - did not go out from 7:00 to 11:00 Dbecause
some individuals would not be wanting to leave at that time. At home, he
and Guerrero took their clothes off, laid on the bed together for about
one hour - said he kept the sound down low so he would not wake up
grandmother - they were upstairs in his bedroom. Went downstairs and
made a coffee and Irish Creme mix and added &4-5 Halcion tablets (always
used Halcion). Gave it to Guerrero and he drank it and fell asleep -
Guerrero said he had to leave about 5:00 am. JD did not go to sleep.
Found him attractive and knew that he would kill him to "keep him
permanentlv.'" Grandmother would wake up around 7:00 am and go to church
around 11:50 am. Took him to the basement that morning and "before she
came back'" (from church). Did not dispose of Doxtator for about one week
- did Guerrero right away - "it was too big of a risk to keep him all
week." TKept the skull and used Soilex at grandmother's that morning.

Prompt disposal of Guerrero - said it was "foo stressful having Doxtator

there all week (worried about being discovered)." Kept Guerrero because
> was ''verv attractive'" - disposed of the body in two hours - three 25
5. bags - flesh and bones - tripled bagged - put in the Monday morn:-n<

5

trash - watched from his window "fo malke sure pothing went awry'' (wal

the trash pick-up). When asked, said he was concerned about the par’ -

. . P ORI re - L - —_ - P L N



apparently that worked" (throwing it in the trash).

Usually drank less at grandmother's - Irish Creme and coffee only - she
did not have liquor in the home - had Irish Cremeé in his closet - knew
would only be able to use him sexually after he was killed for a few
hours because grandmother would be getting upP- Got up with her - the body
was left on his bed - had breakfast with grandmother - she never went
into his bedroom - "to bhe with her and appear normal."” Said he was
"halfway drunk" - 6-8 beers at the bar - felt sober in the morning. KRept
the skull - cut up his clothes into small pieces - put them in the trash
Monday morning. Used the body for sexual purposes until érandmother woke
up - masturbated while he looked at the body and touched the body - no
anal sex. Said he "knew it was horribly dangerous - was taking a
horrible risk - but the desire was there and no other source of

catisfaction in mv 1ife." (Admitted that there was some mental struggle

_ as to whether or not to take his life.)

Later moved into his 24th Street efficiency apartment - for two months.
Met the Laotian - took pictures of him for $50 - pictu;es in his

underwear and gave him the sleeping mixture - he did not fall asleep.

The victim left and went home and possibly passed out at home and then
later told his parents. Was arrested about 1:00 am and spent six days in
the county jail. The police searched his apartment - they did not find
the skull - had only one skull (Guerrero). Admitted that he was ''holding

his breath'" (was worried about them finding something or "a_second
search') - one skull was the only concern he had. Was later placed on

bond and moved back in with grandmother. Was charged with enticing a
child for immoral purposes. After being on bond, then disposed of the
skull - "it was too dapngerous 1O keep it.'" Was then examined by Dr.

Lodell. Went to trial in Judge Gardner's court - Wwas sentenced to one

vear with work release. Three months later, started his one year at the

Huber dorm.

non

During those three months, met ANTHANY SFEFARS at the LaCage - a gay =+

2nd and National - at closing time. when asked, said that during

time he still had desires, but ther= was to0O much "legal activityv”

v e diA emms iAo+~
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fulfilling. On the way out of LaCage, around 2:30 am, started up a

conversation with him - "he was verv willing to go back" - got a ride in
Sears' friend's car - Sears was Black - said race did not matter - "ijyst

so thev're good looking -~ color does not make any difference.”" Had he

not found anybody attractive, said he just would have gone home. Got a
ride with Sears's friend - JD and Sears were in the back seat - Sears was
giving JD a blow job in the back seat - they were both "fairlv drunk."
Got out at 57th & Lincoln(?) and walked fwo blocks to grandmother's
house. . He would ask his victims how long they could stay - Sears said he
had to be back by 7:00 am. Said Sears was very '"'special.'" Made him
coffee and Irish Whiskey in the kitchen - then went to the bedroom and
they "plaved around'" - kissing and masturbation. Sears passed out and
then JD strangled him with his hands. Said he wanted a "momento -
keepsake.'" (When asked, agreed that he had a disregard for their life -
said he would not have done it if he had known them - they were strangers

to him - "I _hlanked it out of mv thinking - the ultimate in selfishness -
cons: ri lse." 1Implied that selfishness has always been

a trait of his - perhaps not a "blatant'" trait - "iJust i i

processes.'' We discussed the choice/balance between his sexual pleasure

Strangled Sears and left him on the bed -
Laid with him for about one

and the individuel's life.)
grandmother got up and later went to church.

hour and had anal intercourse. Said a dead victim was not as good as a
ive one - '"the best vou could hooe for under these circumstances."
Agreed that had he been.living in his apartment, he might have tried to
keep a relationship with Sears going - "he was verv special.”
Grandmother was gone about four hours - it was Easter time. Used the
body - Kept the skull with flesh on it - preserved the head in a bucket
of acetone. Bought the acetone cn Mcndayvy for this purpose - 'tg dress

down' the flesh and keep it preserved - called a taxidermist and asked

how to preserve a rabbit head - soazked the skull in solution for one week

after the brain was removed - this was hard to do - removed the first
vertebrae and used a '"long desert spoon and hollowed out the skuyll"™ -
wnrked on it all Monday in his bedrcem - "'made sure the door (bhedreocm?

.s_locked'" when he went to work sn **2 +<hird shift. FKept the skull -
the flesh on for one week in a buc:-- - "he closet - then drained c:.
the acetone and said this skull i - were preserved well - kep-

At af soluricn For one week - ool .7 = would masturbate wh=n



looked at it. Also preserved the penis and testicles (said the size of

the penis was not important).

Said the head later became "mumifjed' - kept it and bought a Samsonite
cosmetic case and put the skull in the case. He.eventually had to start
his work-release program - put the case in his locker at work - for nine
months -~ a combination locker - did not worry about someone finding the
head. (When asked, said that as long as the trash was picked up on a
Monday, he worried less - if the bags were at the curb for several days
and there was a later in the week trash pickup at grandmother's - that
‘would have caused problems.) Said Sears was '"yerv nice lookipng.'"  When
asked, said the gentials were "for a keepsake - for displavy purposes'" at
his apartment on 25th Street. Had bought a "black lacguered podium" in
his bedroom. Did not have any guests - (agreed it would have been rather

shocking to see the penis and testicles on display).

After finishing his work-release - did not see the suit case for nine
months - Sears skull became moldy - cleaned the flesh out and kept the
skull and genitals. Wwhen asked, agreed that the skull and the genitals
were more for "historical' interest - the genitals were not used for
stimulation/masturbation purposes. Instead, would go to book stores for
magazines and videos for stimulation purposes - said he spent ''thousands"

on pornographic materials. Said he was able to keep the various victims

fairly separate. When asked, said Sears was '"aqne of the best so far - =
the top three." The last victim at grandmother's residence.

(As part of another discussion said, "I've never heard vgices - I wapt =2
purge mvself of evervthing (tell evervthing)." Then mentioned that he

was with Dr. Berlin for about two hours.)

Said that he was sentenced to his work-release program about a month
after killing Sears. When asked what he was doing with his desires, sa:
that he was just using pornography - saw some other men, but did not I:ind
chem attractive, so he did not approach them. He continued to go out
(before starting work-release) and went to the Chicago bath clubs -

only for one-night stands. Then said that the '"ideal situation" wo .

have been to have '"a_home and a regu' . .r ‘aover," Then clarified a

[N




misunderstanding that I had and said that most of the gay people do have
a8 steady lover, but that he did not - "pretty much a loner in the middle
of a crowd." Said that he was somewhat in the ''middle" as far as
desirability goes - was not considered completely undesirable and was
approached by other men - was also not considered the "hest catch." Saig
that "bhest catches'" for him would have been male dancers - "the best

looking - the Chippendale look" (the touring male strippers for ladies
shows). Said, "looks are evervthing - T was very shallow in my desires."

Said the majority of gay men are paired off.

At the bars, said he would drink and "scan the crowd" - did not dance -
did little talking. When asked, said he had friends at work but did not
g0 out with them - did not have any social life - just the bars and the
bath houses - admitted that he felt lonely - agreed that had he more
interaction with people he might have had less homosexual/homicidal

urges.

After being released from work-release, lived back at grandmother's for s
few months - did not commit any more homicides. Then moved into a new
apartment for a couple months and continued going to bars. Was in the
work-release program from 6/89 to 3/90. Then lived at grandmother's for
three months and then moved into his apartment in the summer of 1990.
When asked about the apparent lapse between victims (Sears and Smith) -
said that during that "drvspell" - continued to engage in pornography znd
attend bath clubs (Chicago only) - one-night stands - no more homicides -

was going to wait for his apartment.

Two months later (summer of 1990) met RAYMOND SMITH - "Cash D" - said he
was Black - "attractive - 3 male hustler'" - after closing time - offered

him money - Smith was waiting to get picked up - told JD hé was a male
hustler - not gay - "if no money - no sex" - offered him $50. Smith
wanted $100 - agreed to wait to get money from the bank the next day.
Gave him the drink mixture. (Then said that about a month prior to th::
his apartment, he got the coffee cups mixed up and he, JD, drank :--
drugged coffee and passed out. Was tnen robbed of $300 and said "rhre

tables were turned.'" Had used about “:- = Halcion tablets.) While S.:.

was passed out, strangled him and lai“ ~ith him for a few hAnre - r..¢



on the black table - took about 20 pictures - did not consider trying to

get him to remain voluntarily because he knew that he was not gay and not

interested in a relationship - "that was my modus operandi at that time -
no struggle (interpal) - mv conscience was seared.'" (Then implied that
his conscience was "seared'" after the Ambassador Hotel case - said he
drank 151 proof rum with that victim and had no intentions of killing
that victim - Tormy). In regard to ""Cash D," said there was no
particular internal struggle about killing him - "iust that area of my
canscience that had no rule at all - I just viewed them as obijects - it
made it easier - there was no malice at all - T didn't hate them =
otherwise I would have tortured them - I tried to make it as painless as
possible.”" Said there was always some sort of sexual contact before the
strangling - said the strangling was a means to an end. Afterwards, felt
a sense of control and power - "I could do whatever T wanted with them

and T didn't have to worrv about what thev were going to do (leave,

Et: }.“

(Then said that Dr. Polermo's ''analysis' was that "these people were evil

and I was trying to destroy evil.'" Said he told Dr. Polermo that he was
"totally off base -~ that's bunk - he's pretty convinced of that
(formulation) - I never gave him any information to reach that
conclusion."

Took pictures of '"Cash D" on the table - two days of this. Then took him
to the bathroom and did the defleshing 2nd dismembering - the first one
at his apartment. Put the flesh in trash bags - there was a "huge"
dumpster in the back of the apartment building "ém T didn't worrv abour

the pick-up dav." Wanted to keep the skeleton - bought a large 80-gallon

kettle at a restaurant supply store on Water Street for cleaning the
bones - said he did not bury the remains because of the "apartment
settipng." Used four boxes of Soilex and would boil ‘the bones for a few
hours and then rinse off the bones - they were very clean afterwards -
‘11 the bones come unattached - bought the Soilex at the Ace Hardware
store - had asked the taxidermist before and was told about Soilex.
would put the bones in a container and soak them in a bleach solut:

about a day and then put them in the =-luset for a month to dry out -

i — Lo- - I rlaom CT = A e hrAvy o



“usable for about three days. Worked the Monday 11 p.m. shift. Then
" eturned home to get some sleep and continued doing the boiling work
(agreed he got quite proficient). Said the *Cash D" case ended with a

box of bones.

Next case was EDWARD SMITH - the "Sheik'" - summer of 1990. Saw him at
the Phoneix Bar - around one a.m. - Smith was dancing and "caught mv eve

- I approached him and he was verv willing.'" Took a taxi back to his
apartment - did not know his real name - was called the Sheik because he
wore a turban around his head - never saw him before - "tall and nice
looking." Gave him the drink mixture and strangled him - took some
pictures - "the same scenario." (A week before, said he bought a floor
freezer at Seafs at Southridge - to store bones that had flesh on them -
in case he was too tired to clean them afterwards.) Used the body for
sexual purposes for a few days - no anal intercourse with Cash D or the
Sheik. Defleshed in the bathtub and cleaned the bones - put them in a
second box in a hallway closet with the skull(s). (When asked about the
_camera, said he bought an Onyx Instamatic Polaroid - did not own a camera
sfore - bought it before the Cash D case. Cash D was the first to be

photographed. Used a Polaroid camera so that he would not have to send
the film out for processing - "I _didn't want to take the chance.'" Bought

the camera two months after Sears.) Said that having their bodies for
"T could keep something and enioy

sexual purposes was quite fulfilling -
the control and the contact and not have tQ rush like in a bath hous=.

1

(Said he did not want to testify at his trial.)

T™hen mentioned LOUIF PENAT(?) - one month later - Hispanic - 15 years <.d
at the 219 Club - had seen him before

but thought he was older. A busboy
- after closing time, offered him money - then took a cab back to the

apartment. ''Laid around" for about three hours. Penat said he would meet
him the next evening - he had to get home early before his mother woke up
- did not give Penat the drink mixture. Agreed to meet him at 12 nocn -

Penat was not there and then returned at 12 midnight and he was there

some confusion over the meeting time. Had bought a rubber mallet at =-
—army surplus store. Returned to the apartment and took pictures - ‘i.
,t know how to keep him - had him lie on his stomach for a pose -

him in the back of the neck with the ruiner maliet to knock him ou-x



»ing to try the mallet instead of sleeping bills - it did not work and
Penat got dressed and threatened to call the police and left. Returned
later and asked for money to use the phone - there was a phone three
blocks away - JD thought he was going to call the police = asked JD for a
couple dollars change - assumed he was going to call the police so he
grabbed him in/near the apartment doorway -~ admitted that he attempted to
strangle and kill him at the moment - did not want him to call the
police. Then they started talking - talked him out of calling the
police. JD then walked him to a cab stand at 7 a.m. and gave him some
cab money home. Said Penat did call the police - he told that police
that he was hit on Water Street and carried back to the apartment - the
police did not believe him (the detective told him this after his
arrest). JD was never questioned - no charges. Agreed that he "lucked

out."

Found the next individual at the 27th Street Bookstore - did not recall
~ s name (ERNEST MTLLFR) - at 3 a.m. - after closing time - on his way to

‘ne bookstore to buy some pornography. (Said he was involved with more

white men than black men.) Approached Miller on the street - offered him

money - '"tfall and muscular" - Miller agreed - knew he would kill him.
Gave him the drink mixture (did not have any pills available in regard o
Penat - since the Penat episode, made an appointment with his doctor -
said he couldn't sleep - obtained a small refill - only two or three
Halcion tablets). Did not know Miller was from Chicago. Returned to the
apartment - only had three pills - Miller became slightly drugged -

"defipitelyv attractive'" and wanted to keep him - used a knife and
if I tried to

punctured the carotid artery = "ho wasg unconscious. but
c+rrapngle him., he would have woker up = one neat stab wound and died

quicklv." Stabbed him on his bed - much blood on the bed - most of the
blood soaked in between the mattresses - used bleach to clean off the
stains and threw out the sheets - wanted him because he was '"'so_

tr ive." Took pictures on the table - in various poses and then
would use them for masturbation purpcses later. (Said his pictures wer:

good if not better for masturbat.”" Purposes than the ones he baon:

Said the body was useful for abecut - -~ = 12¥S -~ kept the body on thc
or the table while he was at workF. " 42 would have a normal n:6-

work - he got his job done (agrae! .= leading a double life).



that killing "got so routine™ that he was able to concentrate on his
work. Said that "on purpose' he did not ask them who they were so that

he would not get to know them - "ﬁg_thx_ngg_thggii."

4

After the third night, took the body to the bathroom - did half the
dismembering and then had to go to work. The next morning, the manager
stopped him in regard to a complaint about a bad smell. The police were
called and checked the wrong apartment - had actually kicked the door in.
He then finished his cleaﬁ-up job before he went to work that night.

Kept various organs and muscles - rinsed them off for later consumption -

put them in clean bags - the first time. Did this out of "curiositv - +o

cee what thev tosted like™ - later, felt that after eating them they then
became "part of me." Kept the heart, liver, kidney, thigh, arm, and
abdominal muscles. Kept about 25% of the muscles - in gallon freeze bags
- 50-75 bags - one to two pounds per bag - first time had done this.

—.  There was nothing in the freezer before, but now the freezer was full -
three boxes with bones were now in the closets. Prepared about six mezl.s
with the body parts. One month before his arrest, threw out about =0
1ts. worth of the bags because he had lost his job and did not have anv

2o Ay s

money and would have to move out - was doing housecleaning and got r:x:
the parts. Then mentioned painting the skulls - Miller's, Cash D's, and
Sears' - three skulls - painted them in artificial color in case &aryon=
saw them - one individual from Chicago saw them and JD said they were

"artificial."

The next individual was DAYID THOMAS - met at Wisconsin and Water Stre==7.

o e~

- Black - did not know his name - waiting for a bus - one a.m. fisr=:
him money - sexually propositioned him - usually after making a péass.
person agreed - "a hit or miss" situation - was sometimes turned down

bars. (When asked, said he was never hit by a person on the street 3
One time was hit with 2

a-

Fe,o -
- = .

a pass - a few times was told to scram, etc.

beer can and knocked out and kicked in the ribs - at his second
- moved out of his

- thought his form-

apartment. After his arrest for enticing a child

second apartment and was living with grandmother
apartment would be empty, SO he went back there with this individues.
someone had moved in - went to the tasement of the apartment bui..:

T B a1 -~ e A .
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had stitches in his head - told the police he was mugged. The second

time he was ever attacked was while on work-release - did not go home fc-

Thanksgiving dinner - was "too embarassed to _go home' - his relatives

were there - including his father. Went to bars instead and drank nearl-
a whole bottle of Yukon Jack - was "extremelv drunk." Was picked up by
an older man and they went to his apartment (not JD's) - he (JD) was

"hogged tied" - the other individual engaged in 'strange sexual bondage

acts." JD started yelling and was let down and ran off.

Returned to the

Huber Dorm - "yery drunk and very late'" - was kept back from work for twc

days because of being late.)

(Thomas continued.) Returned to JD's apartment - gave him the drink

mixture - strangled him - "same scepario (his words)."

Then changed his

routine - "I wanted to cut down on the chances of anvone discovering me .’

Then bought two heavy duty trash barrels with a cap

pour in the acid - did save Thomas' skull. Said it

in the cover - to

was "a_gsafer wav *-

1S e _remai """ Said all previous bones were kept for later
reassembly. Later "acidified" some sets of the bones, but kept the bes:

set (the 27th Bookstore case - Miller) for assembly.

thaet he tried to dry out the skulls of Guerrero and
degrees in his oven - the water in the bones popped
skulls and ''made them crumble" - so threw these two
there was nothing left of Thomas ' body (éxcept the
was the first time he took a picture of the abdomen

pictures for masturbation purposes.

|
D
(91

(Then mentioc
the Sheik's - 12§
and spoiled the
skulls away.) Sa:ziz
skull?). Said this
slit open - used th=

Next individual was CURTTIS STRAUGHTER (2/18/91). After a two week
vacation - saw him at a bus stop near Marquette - approached him - the:

went to bars and drank. Returned to the apartment and masturbated and
had sex and watched videos. (Then mentioned watching the video Exorcis:

3 - watched it frequently - "I felt so evil and deprived bv this t me.
the movie appealed to me - I related to it - I watched it before [ ==2.
to bars and brought people hack." Said he did not believe he was

possessed by the devil, but said he did not understand what he was '’

to.) Strangled Straughter and defleshed him - saved his hands ani

genitals and kept them in formaldeh-. - kept the skull -

" -



5
7

Learned that formaldehyde worked better than acetone.

(When I commented that he was apparently not interupted during his
routines, he said that the manager once knocked on the door about the
smell. He let him in the apartment and showed him the freezer - told the
manager that there was spoiled meat and the manager believed him - said
he would take care of it right away - the body parts in the freezer
loocked like regular meat. Was never interupted prior to or during the
time of killing the victims. When asked what it would have taken to stop

him he said, "to agree to make it permanent - a longer commitment.")

Said the apartment smell was always an issue/concern - from the acid
barrels and the odor from the trash barrels. Said by Tuesday or
Wednesday following the Saturday night/early Sunday a.m. pick-up, would
have to dispose of the parts in the barrels. Understood that he would
then not be able to pick somebody up the following weekend because of
parts being in the barrels. Would then substitute by going to the bath

houses in Chicago, or use videos or pictures. Said he was also working
six days a week and was "tired." Said it was "a tiring process to huv
acid and dismember - time consuming in the clean-up.'" Said he would have

to buy new acid - four gallons for each barrel - muriatic - the only acid
he would purchase and it worked and he used it - tried sulfuric acid one
time - it was so strong that it made a cloud in the room - made the

barrel hot.

We then talked about his cycle. After using the body, would then be
involved for a couple weeks with the use of the body parts and the

storage and the clean-up. Said he was often '"tog tired," or "didn't have
the time" to find another victim. During the "interlude,'" said he did

not have any planned times when he wanted to pick someone up again - just
when he had the time - but admitted that the interest and desire were

there.

The next individual was ERRQL TINDSEY (4/7/91) - met at the corner cof
27th and Kilbourn - during the daytime - Black - 'pice looking" = b= - ._
it Just for the mopev." A couple we=ks before, had bought some han-




_ cuffed his hands - said he "Hﬁnlgd_ﬁﬂmﬁgng,Lﬂ;ﬁlﬁl_élOund that was
alive." Used an electric drill and drilled 2 hole into the top of the

skull and brain - filled a syringe with muriatic acid - "1 didn't want to

haye to keep killipg and just end yp with gkull." Did not strangle him -

tried a drill. Lindsey woke up and then JD injected one more time - woke

up again and Lindsey appeared somewhat normal, but said he had a
headache. Was not nandcuffed. Then Gave him the drink mixture and
strangled him - took many pictures. Then said he wanted to ''save_
ggmg;hing_differeng." Laid the body on 2 plastic sheet on the bedroom
£loor - cut from the back of the head to the pack of the spine and took
all the skin off. Tried to preserve it in a salt solution - "just '
apother momento w  Acidified the f1esh and the bones and later had to

acidify the skin - saved the skull.

The next individual - TONY HUGHES (5/26/91) met at the 219 Club after

osing - could not hear - wrote notes and shared hand signals. Returned
to the apartment and gave him the drink mixture - nwyas verv drunk' - g4
not remember giving him the drink mixture - did not remember strangling
him - ''preftiy drunk - 1 woke up and he was dead." Said he was "foc.
tired" toO do anv Gismemberment. Kept the bodv on the bedroom/bath:oom
floor for three davys. (When asked, said that he had anal intercourse
with about half of the victims -~ niyst if T was in the mood." Saic ne

did not like anal intercourse being done toO him, but sometimes enjoved

doing it to others, or to @ body.)

Next mentioned ZONERAK SINTHASOMPHONE - at the Grand Avenue Mall - "h=2-

caught my pve." Propositioned him and offered him $50 - Konerak wés
s the brother

undecided - "he appeared glder ro me' - did not Kknow it wa

of the one he took pictures of years earlier. Returned to the apartment

- took two pictures - drank. Tried the drill and acid technigque. Later~
in the evening, wanted some more beer and jeft the apartment. Had one
beer and left at closing time and returned to the apartment. Konerak =2
on State Street sitting on the curb unclothed - some womén were there

told the women that he was a friend and that he, Konerak, had walks:

.

of the apartment. The police came ~ Konerak did not speak Englis’

Ronerak did not want to go back t9 ++e apartment, but the TWO poit
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Inside the apartment, said the police saw the two pictures of Ronerak in
his underwear (Hughes's body was on the floor in the bedroom) - Konerak
‘as not bleeding through the hole in his head - there was no anal
intercourse before he left to g0 get some more beer - Ronerak was not
bleeding from anywhere. The police left. Gave Konerak a second
injection of acid and killed him - was "disappointed'" that he died (that
this technique was not successful). Took some pictures and had anal
intercourse. The next day, put both Konerak and Hughes in the tub and
defleshed them - kept both heads - the first time ever had parts from two
individuals in the barrels. (Said he got his acid from the Ace Hardware
store near Water Street - said no one was ever suspicious of his buying
the acid ~ $2.50 per gallon.) Thought Konerak was about 16 years old.

Said the next individual was MATT TURNER (6/30/91) - met at the bus
station in Chicagec - offered him money and agreed to return to Milwaukee
- had been to bath houses ~ two nights that weekend - had one lover for
one night only - turned down the second night. Met Turner at the Chicago
bus station - they watched videos and then gave Turner the drink mixture
strangled him and a few days later dismembered him and saved the skull.
ut the flesh into trash bags - did not use acid - put the bones in the
freezer with some flesh left on them - put them in the freezer so that
they would not smell. FKept the skull and the unclean bones in the

freezer.

The next weekend, went back to Chicago - went to Carol's Nightclub - saw
JEREMTAH WETNBERGER there - Weinberger performed oral sex on him in the
corner at Carol's - he wanted to be JD's "househov for the weekend'" -
curled up next to JD on the bus on :the way back to Milwaukee - said th:is
"embarassed him (JD) - T'm not ar exhibhitionist or anvthing." (When

asked about getting caught or getting into trouble, he implied that there
was "'so many close calls and nothirg happened - I felt successful." Sa:id
he never thought about who they might have been, or about their famili-s
- "I _blocked those thoughts out of rv mind.") Returned to his apartmer -

- had sex and watched videos - Weinbterzer told him he had to be back
Monday morning. They drank (before - =; - tried the drill technisu-
h boiling water - "tn make *them -  _ “ila ™ Weinberger woke ':;

nours later - he was ''disaorieptats=: - .:v2 him some more pills ar.:




Q%V second injection of boiling water and he fell asleep. Left him on his
bed. Said the second injection made him comatose. Left for work and
returned and was "happy'" to see that Weinberger was still alive, but
disappointed that he was in a coma - wanted them to be mentally alert
enough so they ''could follow mv commands.'" Said he spent all day Tuesday
trying to revive Weinberger. Took pictures and had sex with him. Did
not know what to do - was hoping/waiting for the effect to wear off and
he would be more alert. Weinberger was comatose when he again left for
work . When he returned the next day, found that Weinberger had died.
Took pictures and masturbated and put him in the bathtub. Beheaded him
and put the head in a bag in the freezer. Left the body in the tub with

a bleach water mix (first time) - closed the shower curtain.

A few days later, met the next victim QLIVER TACY - Black - "well buyilt
and attractive" - at 27th Street - around 3 p.m. - on a Sunday afternoon
— was due to work that Sunday evening - he was ''especigllyv attractive" -

was not gay. (Agreed that he was not ''shv'" - would go up to strangers
Returned to the apartment -

and make sexual propesitions on the street.)
immediztelv’" because he knew he was not gay

Had brought

"

gave him the Halcion mixture

and would not want to stay arcund - did not use the drill.
some chloroform in an attempt to experiment with trying to prolong the
effects of being drugged after the Halcion mixture - to prolong the
period of unconsciousness - brought the chlorofrom at Laber(?) Pharmacy.
they drank alcohol in the apartment that afternoon, but the problem that
arose was that JD was not free and was scheduled to go to work at 11 p.m.
- called in sick - lost his job. Chloroformed Lacy with a dust mask and
dripped the chloroform onto the cloth. Lacy woke-up Monday morning abcut

4 am (this technique did not work, either) - then gave him Halcion and

coffee and strangled him with a strap (said Straughter was the first one

that he used the strap on - see previous notes). Had sex and anal sex -

kept a portion of the biceps - said Lacy was '"gne of the more agttract: -2
opnes." Said he still had frozen body parts from the earlier case, but

.S not going to use them. '"Qn the spur of the moment,' took some f:r~sh
muscle - never froze the biceps - froze the heart for later consump:’ -

took many pictures. Weinberger was still in the tub - did both Lac~

Weinberger together - put the flesh in trashbags and froze the ~=n.-
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the "freezer was full of heads" - Lacy, Weinberger, and the Chicago bus

station case. Said three were painted and several were unpainted.

Said he drank much more and on a daily basis after losing his job -
formerly, just drank on weekends. Said, "I _didn't want to keep on doing
it - that's why T tried the drill technique." Said several individuals

were not gay - at least five - gave their names.

The next and last individual was JOSEPH BRADEHOFT - Caucasian - after he
lost his job. Was drinking excessively - saw him in front of Marquette -

approached him - returned to the apartment in the afternoon - had sex -
gave him the Halcion mixture and strangled him. Did not take any
pictures - on the bed for two days - decomposed rapidly and had maggots
on his face. Placed the body in the bathtub - put the head in the
freezer - put the flesh in trashbags and the bones in the freezer for

later cleaning.

Said he bought a new thicker and stronger 57 gallon trash barrel becauss
the previous barrels were too thin - they allowed too much odor through
the plastic -~ did not like the smell - would open the windows to let the
smell out. When asked, said "verv much sgo" he was behind in cleaning up
the bones. Said he had the bones of the ”Chicago bus station case,"
Lacy, and Bradehoft in the freezer. Said his plans were to keep Lacy's
skeleton, but then acidify the other three skeletons. Had the bones in
the new barrel without any acid in it - had not bought any acid. When he
was arrested, had Lacy's bones in the freezer and Lacy's head in the
refrigerator (had used the head the night before for masturbation

purposes).

A few days later, was at the Grand Mall - approached an individual - hac<
talked to him the week before - the individual came up to JD and asked
for a cigarette the week before on Wisconsin Avenue. JD saw him a week
+ater at the Mall - approached him - offered him money and returned *-
the apartment. The victim drank 151 proof rum - "I drank beer." D.: :
have sexual contact - wanted bondage rictures - the victim agreed :

Sk rerAeA vem e bl

having one cuff placed an hic wrics -
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victim's shirt was off. Did not know why he (JD) passed out (appeared
rather upset and disappointed in himself for letting this happen) "that'g
vhat triggered the whole thing (his arrest).'" The other individual left,
He, JD, woke up in his living room - the police knocked at his door five
minutes later and asked for the cuff key. The police saw some pictures
in the drawer and then saw Lacey's head in the refrigerator. $Said he
does not remember leaving the apartment, or the ride to the police
station. Said he had about ten beers that day and was quite mystified as
to why he blacked out. Woke up and talked to the detectives. Said he did
not feél drunk while talking to the police. Estimated he gave about 15
statements - understood he did not have to give a statement to the police

- nI j!lst wanted to get it off mv ch iI-“

When asked about his sexual desires since his arrest, implied that they

are suppresed and not on his mind - '"because of the circumstances.'" When

~asked if he could Kill someone again, he said he would not because he

would '"consider the conseguences."

D 12/23/91
c 1/1/92



canuary 10, 1992
Jeffrey Dehmer - 1/9/92 Interview Notes

Q: Frederick A. Fosdal, M.D.
A: Jeffrey Dahmer

a: Dr. Dietz - we were talking about did I see anything in the Natural History Museus - talking about natural history
auseuss and I remeabered way back in high school our class took a trip to a natural history suseus and I saw this
(Akron, Ohio - high school or junior high) and in the science section they had these folding panels thal you just
pulled across-and in each section in between the sheets of glass was this complete husan cadaver - in about four

sections. I hadn't resembered that before this. The doctor asked me whether I found this interesting and I told hia
about as interesting as the rest of the students did - that we looked at all the sections - it was lengthwise a full

person - it was kind of shocking.

Q: Did that excite you or turn you on.
A: No - it was just something I hadn't thought of before.

0: Anything else - we were talking about jogging some wemories.
a: We were talking about video tapes that I had seen, and 1 remespered while [ was still at grandsa’s that [ rented

these two video tapes - Faces of Death - they show different stages of death and autopsies and things like that -
t's a factual based filn. A lot of people rent that.

2: It's educational?
4: Not really - it's more of an exploitive £i1p - it saticfies pecple’s curiosity as to whal neople look like when

they are dead anc autopsies and things like that. I watched it a couple of times just for curiosity - like other
people. Tape one and Tape iwo - 3 cequel. Those are the iwo points - mesi everything sise was what we covered

between us.

Q: Did you have any questions?
No, he asked the same thing - I don’t have very many questions - just waiting to get it over with.

. What's going to haopen in a couple of weexs - do you know?
8+ Nothing until the trial -

3: Do you understang the trial phase and all that?
&: Vaguely.

Q: The law changed in 1991 and set up a three phase trial when vou enter an insanity plea. So, first phase is quilt
- the DA has to prove you guilty beyonc a reasonable doupt - that can go on for weeks if you have a full phase -
there is some talk that you might plead guilty to the first phase. The second phase has to do with whether or not
you were sentally responsible (legal responsibility issue) and there the defendant has the burdern of proof to
show that he was not resconsible for the crises. If ycu are found responsible you are sentenced and if you are
sound nonresponsible you wouid go to the Mendota State Hospital. There are pros and cons either way.

4: You and [ both know that there's really not any pros in this situation. One thing I want mace perfectly clear -
somehow | have Lo make it clear that none of these crisec were sotivated by racial hatred or sex hatreg for gay
people. These are both wrong and that is what the papers have clayed up according to what the prisoners have tee”
sayinc. The papers dian't knox what the tolive wag so Lhey inventec one - that's xhy ['s getiing so mucn fiach
from other prisopers.



One reason I's here is to ¢lear up aisunderstandings - like the point you just made - the fancy word is necrophile

= has 'somebody talked to you about that?
Yeah - Jerry explained a little bit of it.

At least sy understanding is that it isplies these people have to be dead bafore you could enjoy thea and that was
not sy understanding. [ was concarned it you are going to be labeled or branded as a necrophile.
That's not the best description to be labeled ith.

It was sy understanding that you engaged in sexual behavior with deceased people which is ane thing but that does
not necessarily mean necrophile - that you needed them dead to enjoy them - you never implied that to me. You
hinted that it was done for other reasons - prolongation - availability and control - you had a nonrejecting kind
of situation.

Yeah, and that’s true. It did seem that after they were completely in my control after strangulation that it
becase sasier to fulfill ay sexual desires, whether that labels me what you just said.

It becase easier to get relief or satisfaction after they were dead.
Yeah - or at least after they were drugged.

Kow would that help? You would get satisfaction to have the person incapacitated.

It gave me 2 feeling of total control over thes. [ could take my time and not worry about entertaining thes,
keeping them satisfied - the issue of having control of them wade it more exciting for me. And then as things
progressed, I was branching out into the cannapilism aspect - trying to find greater fulfillment and satisfaction
and the taking pictures of the internal organs and the saving of the heads. It was just further branching out

trying to find greater satisfaction - stimulation.

Kinky kind of things - like a husband an¢ wife trying different things? .
Yeah - [ didn't start doing all these things all at once - it sort of bduill up.

I see a necrophile - has to kill a person before he can enjoy thes an¢ I thought you could enjoy thes alive and

sedated and you would rather have thes alive.
True - that’s why | started that arilling.

The killing was not done ta bring about their death - that was the sexual thing - there is such a being, but that
15 not my uncerstanding of you. To you the death was kinc of a means to an end - it xas a vehicle by which to

prolong the relationship.
That's a good way - that's what it was - right. Becavse of time restraints, not having a house of my own - it w=as

the only way to aake 1t possible, at least in part.

Do you see the c¢ifference? [! =ay be subtle - you are still saving sexual contact wiih deceased people - people
are still getting killed, but that's not the reason. Your wanting to keep thew alive speaks against a pure

necrophilic probles.
Yeah - we were - he showed the viceo tapes - we had he tv and ver here and we watched the Return of the Jedi wiin

the emperor character- the txorcist Il tape and he nac & lot of eiectronics equipment brought in,

What about the videos?
I was just pointing out to him the 3ain character - Return of the Jedi - th

in the sovie - science fiction - good special effecte,

at he uses a lot of control and power

So you were impressed wi‘h the esperor.
Right - that wac the main focus - he exvaed tatzi cantral - z:wer cver his eapire. [ couid identify with his - !

used to watch it before | went t¢ bars - to sor: of gsvsn ~v::lf oo,

What did you wan!t power over’
all aspects of life - financial, social, sexual.



pid you want to be king of the worlg?

~ Yeah - that would have been the ultigate - carrying it to an extrese - that would be nice - at least in sy own

life I wanted wore power and control. - ] didn't feel like I had any power.

You wers an eaployee so you were locksd into somebody else’s wishes there - you weren't your own boss.
Which I didn’t like - no - never got any satisfaction from the job. Then we watched a couple of pornography taves

= I showed hin the ones that appealed to me the most - one that showed the strip tease act that goes on in Chicago
that I used to watch,

So he brought thea - the police have thes.
Yezh - they have all ay tapes.

How do we stand on the necrophile issue?
I think how you described it -

Do you think you've been consistent on that? Khat I's afraid of is that at trial there's going to be a mixed
understanding - we've got three different forsulations going on - either you are or you're not - the term itself
is vague - there are not chapters and books written about this, but I guess there are sose people that this is
their thing.

I understand. That wouldn®. make sense to me to that extent because I was trying to keep thea alive during the
last period with the drilling - by having them dead, that was the only way I knew how to control thes completely

at the tine.

You could have had a very compatible cooperative partner - wouldn't that be good enough?
It would have, but I never did run into anybody who was willing to be permanently cooperative.

Was it the control - was that exciting for you - or did it just make things easiar for vyou.
No. it was exciting having cospiete dominance.

Did their being dead - did that spoil the sexual experience at ail?
No. It didn't until I had to do the dismembering anc sverything.

Did 1t matter much to your enjoysent of the guy that he was deceased.
No because at that point I had complete control and so that heightened the excitesent.

It was more exciting than with a live person.
Yeah. 8ut if he had been alive and completely in a zoabie-like state - totally compliant that would have been

better.

Don't you need some participation on the other quy's part?

When ! was doing this - no. Because of the participation - in most instances wouldn't have been cosplete
compliance to sy wishes - and I was never interested in bondage or torture - that's how some people fulfill tneir
desire for control, and I was never interested in that - I dian’t want to cause any pain.

It was just as such fun when the guy was dead - you could enjoy him - it didn't spoil it that he was deceased.
No, because that was the only mechanisa.l could get coaplete control at the tise. It was only later on that I.
tried to change that - to render them in 2 zombie-like state - t0 keep thes alive - so they would be with e for

a such longer period of time - alive, intaractive, but on ay lerms.

Has this contrel thing always been - where else has that shown in your life?

It started with that bike incident with the bat and the pike - that's when [ firet started thinking like that.
Remember that jogger I saw along the country roag - that w»as :3e first tise | ever thougnt of taking someone by
force - when ! was around 1S or 14. A jogger along the country road - ang he was 2ttracilve - orobably aroune of
or so. And so | sawed a baseball bat in half - took the hancle zart - took my bike and waited for him ajong :*¢
country road and was planning on knocking him out ang enjoyinz him sexvally in the woods - that was the first



thought of violence - probably when I was 15 or 16.

The interest then was to have 3 guy knocked out in the woods and enjoy his.
Uh-huh. That is the first tise ] hag thoughts of doing something like that. [ went out and waited, but he never

case by and so I abandoned the jdes - ] just went out once waiting for his.

IF's kind of sisilar to what you ended up doing later isa't it?
Right - starting with Hicks. 1 was 18 when I set Hicks.

Had that been on your mind for awhile?
Yeah - for a few aonths. It started coaing into focus about two years after I was attacked by those group of

seniors in high school - I was walking back from a friend's house one night and was approached by three seniors
and one of thes had a billy club or something and whacked me on the back of the neck real hard for no reason.
Unprovoked - when I was [4 - 9th grade saybe, They hit me once and I ran away from thes and ran all the nay hoae,
I don't know if that triggered anything - the technique that I was using - I never thought about it uatil [
started talking about all this stuff with people - I never gave it any conscious thought through the years.

The idea of incapacitating someone by & blow and then having sex with this disabled person - have any idea where

this idea came froa.
No, I don't - no conscious idea. The best way to get control of someone.

But you knew months before that - maybe years - that you would enjoy homosexual behavior.

I was 14 when | had the consenting meeting with Tyson at the club house. In the cosaunity I was living in,
hososexuality was the ultisate taboo - it was never talked about - there was no outlet. There was never any
opportunity for a good sex life - I never saw any opportunity norsally to meet anyone like that - it was just :n
Issue that was never discussed in the community at all, WNever met anybody that was of the same aindset as syself,
s0 1 didn’t see any other way than to ao it forcefully - when I was 16 - that's when the ides first came. That's
the only way ! could think of saking it pessible to satisfy myself.,

Are you saying that had there been other avenues for you?
Had I aet someone who [ thought was gay, I provably would nave done things differently - but [ never dic.

I still think there is a qualitative differsnce between being a homosexval necrophile or a heterosexual necroohiie
- the only way I enjoy women is if they are dead and that is why I kill thes - so I can get them in a ceceaseq
state - that is part of the pleasure - I get sore pleasure when i person is all bondeg up or S&M behavior - that
further enhances ay sexual experience. My understanding of your sexuality is that you didn't need to have them
deceased for your sexual needs - it was just a vehicle - not administrative - somehow logistical means to an end
type thing. Have you bdesn able to count the nusver of approaches you have taken (¢ acnieving this snd? ®e can
glve the baseball bat one Lise and then you get intc - is tne next venicle just the haicion - did you make 2 3
jump to Halcion - was there anything in between?

No - then it goes to just using visual pictures and magazines up until Hicks - good looking aen.

in
i3

As tar as vehicles to render the person submissive - death is the ultimate submission - ultimate passivity - s0
you can do your own thing. There was the baseball bat, barbells - what about alcohol?

Nost of thea didn’t want to drink enough to be in that mode - alcohol played a part, but the Kalcion - I started
using that in the bath house here in Milwaukes. [ did try ether and chlorofora later, but it never seemed to worr
- it never seesed to lengthen the unconscious state - I tried it on a couple - the ones that I was grilling - aii
the drilling people - it didn't work for some reason.

You wanted o prolong the sedated state?
Yean - without using more pills. 1 con't know why iz ¢izn'

the harcware store ang used a pecicine cropper 1o areg Lt ot oot omInti s
naliet one time when I was out of pitis.

n

wire = 1 ysec one of those adust masks you can bu- -
eeg o have any effect. | trieg :
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Well these are all different ways to try to achieve the same thing, But again, it wasn't to get them deceased so

that you could enjoy thea because that was -
Ho it would have been nych agre preferrable to have someone completely compliant for a long period of time - alive

=~ that would havs beep the best,

Are you really sure you tried that hard to go that route?
Well, I tried it with the drilling.

No, to find this compatible partner?
I probably didn't try as hard as I should have when I was at grandma’s - because of the living conditions - I was

living with her and it just wasn't possible to have a long ters relationship with anyone like that - under those
conditions. And then when I soved into the apartsent, I had done it several times and it worked - so | Just
continued with that aethod. Your saying I should have tried harder.

I'n not inpressed - that you started up so sany relationships and that you were abandoned and jilted and had your
heart broken tine and time again - and finally you resort to what you did.
No, I didn’t ~ no.

I would assume that there are a lot of people out there that would have liked to have an ongoing relationship.

It's just a matter of finding each other.
Uh-huh. No, I didn't - I guess I didn't look hard enough.

So, what do you daydreas about? Your interest is in hososexuality.
Right. I need sose goodlooking guy to -

You aren’t dreasing about some incapacitated person.
Daydreasing about thes being comoletely compliant with By xishes - being with thes for 2 long period of time -
having daydreams of Incapacitating thes ever since the baseball bat incident - because that is the only way I knew

of -

About whopping somebody?
[ don't know how much ! daydreamed about that - I concentrated ay daydreaes on 2 good-looking guy who was lying

there - I never really entered any real violence into most of the daydreams. He would just lie there - kissing,
tovehing, in total compliance with sy wishes.

In this regard, the clubbing the quy - basebal) bat, barbell - that in and by itself - did that hold any sexual ‘

pleasure for you?
No. If that was sy thing, I would have tortured them - | wasn’t interested in that.

50, the assault aspect - from strangling to dismeabering, etc - that's not sexuval.
Ro.

There was a lot of work involved in the disposal?
Too such.

You kept some stuff - it wasn't all junk for you.
Yo, I wanted to keep the skulls and sometizes the genitals - so I didn't feel like

completely.

I was losing the person

o, just that much of a keepsake - you could use that and kind of recreate the guy - I have a skull and I can

think of the guy,
ight - that's why I took the pictures too.

So you could use those for arousal purposes - couléd you actualiy iarcuse yourself with the pictures and the skul)"

Yeah,



That could turn you on just liks looking at 4 magazine? :
Yeah - in fact it was better becayss i nas more personalized - if I had baen able to gst one of these chaabers -

it's a freeze drying chamber - [ would have used that - it preserves the person in life-like condition
peraanently. Preserve the body indefinitely. Yeah - they have such things now days.

So the parts could be ysed as a turn-on. You could excite yourself - get an erection and all that stuff.
Yeah - but it wasn’t as good as having 2 whole person.

Have you had your best sexua] experience with one of your pick-ups - a really great evening?
Yeah - only when they are under my cosplete control though.

You sust have had guys that just totally went along with you - have a wonderful evening together - wasn't that as

good?
Hot as sany as you would think because 2 lot of them wanted anal sex which I wasn’t interested in, and they just

wanted to hop from room to rooa in the bath clubs.

So, even shared partners throughout the evening - it isn't just one guy -
Sometimes it is, but a lot of the times it isn’t. Very prosiscuous.

S0, was your best ever wiin a live person?
Mo, it was with a guys that I drugged - while they were drugged.

Your best deceased experience was never as good as your best drugged experience - is that what you are saying?
Right. I had a3 lot of good drug experiences - it worked rather well.

It's too bad you didn't stop there.
Yeah, that's right - that’s true.

But that wasn't enough?
No - it wouldn't have lasted long enough.

It didn't have the longevity?
Right.

There were shortcomings in the deceased technique too.
I know - that was better than nothing. Only being able to be with thes for a few days - at least

save something from thes. There was drawbacks - they didn't last forever.

I was able t¢

Besides being illegal.
The ultimate drawback.

You must have known you couldn't do this forever?
True. 1 had a great terror of being caught - so | never wanted to get caught. [ never wanted to

that's why I went to such great lengths to dispose of the evidence - using the acid technique.

be apprehenced -

You can do the same thing to a deceased body as you can on a live person can't you?

Right.
A south job is a south job, anal intercourse is anal intazrcourse, kissing and whatever is all the same isa’t it7
Yes.

Is there comething s¢ driving, so pleasurable that vou nhac t: ~eve them in a deceased state o do
fhe tac:or of complete control and the time factor.



So it's tise and control - that's the only advantage to having thes deceased. Otherwise, the sexval behavior was

the same?
Right.

So, it's like when she's drunk, I get to have intercourse with her - so I gotta get her drunk - when she's not
drunk, she won't have intercourse - so there's no big prize for you in the dacsased state other than the control

issue and the longevity issue?
Uh-huh.

Your squeezed out a few more hours - 3 couple of days?
Right.

But othernise the behavior is kind of the sase?
Uh-huh.- I guess I never took the tine to really nuture any long-term relationships.

People vary in how attached they becose - soae people readily get involved or fall in love or become close and

some people are very aloof.
The only long-ters attachments that [ was interested in was of a sexval nature - as far as regular friendships -

it never intarested me to~ such. After work I like to just go and do sy own thing - go to the bars - try to meet
the ideal person that 1 was physically attracted to.

No nonsaxual interest in people - you didn't have those kinds of friends?
Just work acgquaintances.

Confidants or people you talked to?
No - never had anything like that. Xept everything to myself.

Do you think you are kind of a loner?
Uh-huh. Yes, I think so.

How about with your family?
After the divorce, I really never kept in touch with thes very such at all.

Where they your confidants while you were growing up and stuff?
No - we would talk about things, but I would usually keep my innersost feelings to myself.

So you didn’t confide in thes - either one of thes? Any reason why not?
No. 1 just felt it was best to keep my private thaughis private - I didn't really trust ay private thoughts with

anyone eise - even family aembers.

Do you think - it occurred to me last week thal sayde this kind of aloofness from people in general - stancoffish
- do you think this affected your ability to have the kind of relationship with a guy - if I's a loner with
people, I can be a loner with men and women -

[ think it did. After the Hicks incident, I reaily closed syself off as far as interpersonal relationships - I
felt I had something to hide and it affected se greatly. I could interact with people just fine at work and
things, but it was almost like leading a doudle life - it's almost the way it felt.

You mean you had this whooping secret tc carry arounc xith you? Which seans you can never be honest with somebacy

- you can’t be honest with the world anymore.
Uh-huh. Right - that's the way [ felt.

faiam as e
fvhe & we-.

Like vou are a fugitive from justice and can't be
Uh-huh - 2 double life - it affected all areas of sy [i°:



It certainly got worse - right?
It did.

In talking about your personality style you are 3 kind of stand-offish kind of guy in general with people - there

is no reason why you should be extresely wars and honest and get real close to a2 gay man.
Yes, that was my mindsat, | was nsver one that was real interested in getting involved with a big group of people

or anything - even from sy earliest childhood.

Were you lonely - did you miss people - were you missing something?
During high school years it was frustrating to not be able to meet soseone of ay interests so it was frustrating -

yeah it was lonely.

What about afterwards?
And afterwards.

Like in Miluaukee - are you lonely?
Uh-huh.

You felt lonely - being lomely was being by yourself - kind of sad - Sowe people don't mind it.
I can take it to a point, but not years and years.

See, maybe had you been a little sore susceptible to form a relationship with some other guys - saybe none of this
aight have happened.

And if I didn't have such a desire for the total control and domination - right - if I wasn't so selfish. I have
to adnit what I was doing the vltimate in selfishness.

I asked you about that - it's like putting my sexval interest above their well-being - are you with se on that?
Right - uh-huh - that’s accurats.

¥hich brings up - that’s a value - that's an attitude - that's conscience - how much of a conscience do you have?
A guy can rob a bank and shoot S tellers and snuff out these pecple and just go in a convenience siore and steal
$50 and shoot the clerk - that person has a probles with his conscience - there’s something wrong with their
attitudes and values - we all have a conscience - sose are thicker than others - there are sose people that
couldn't go through a red light if they are in the middle of the Nevada dessert because it’s against the law.
Some people are very conscience stricken.

No woral compass. That’s why when I first got back up here to Milwaukee after I tried to straighten out ay life
and it didn't work with the religious - going to church and everything - I progressively started going to the bars
- the bookstores and then T found out what a bath club was and I tried that with a cemetery and a mannecuin
because I didn't want - I was trying to find a way to satisfy ayself without hurting anyone again iike I did wiid
Hicks. But after the Asbassador Hotel - which was not intentional, I had no morals - no moral compass after that

So that sensitivity, or that thoughtfulness, or something was gone?
It was gone.

But it wasn't across the board - you dida't becose a cosmon thief.
Ko, but there's a big differsnce between stealing and doing what I was doing.

So, the hell with their life - who they are, or what they are.
It sade it possible (easier to do it) for me to do it if I didn't get to know them well - if I didn't know such

about thea - [ depersonalized thea.

Was that an active process? How ¢o you do that?
Uh-huh. Just not ask them any questions about where they live or their hose life or anything - not having i2-:
conversations with thes. If I had gotten to know them any etier, 1t probably would not have happened - 1f [ «:-

in a private setting at home and their was Lime 10 taik, maype it would have been different - [ don'! know - :
g
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when .irst started doing this again 1 was living at Grandsa’

You didn’t tell e about the cesetery incidgnt.
Dida't 12 Did I tell you about the mannequin?

Yes - 1 brought it up. 1 sai
- you just never told ae about the ceaetery °

well, that was around the sase tinse period - in M
ran acrass a guy, 18, who had disd - went to the
was buried I went out = I bought 2 sh

aidaight - 1 went to the gravesite and was planni

To take the body - to steal the corpse?
Yes - but it was in the middle of winter and the

¢ and there just «asn't that tise period to do that.

d that you should have 3 aannequin and you said that once you went and got a panhequin

jlnaukee - at grandlother’s. Looked throught the obituaries and
syneral hose and yiewed the body - he was attractive, After he

ag on trying to dig him up.

ground

10 ualk_out of the cemetery at pight with a body over your shoulder?

Not aver my shoulder, put in the cart that 1 had

what's that all about?

That was another effort to try to satisfy the craving

Then the killing has already been done for you.

W does this fit in?
- as aorals = 1 didn't want to have 10 hurt

1s this post Torme?
This is before Tony - 1 was living in Milwaukee b

anything.

“his is pefore Tony's death - during that phase Y
Iust bath houses.

co there [ don't have t0 do the killing - at leas
right?
Right.

Did you now you could get in rrouple for that -
graves anymore.
gyt it's a auch lower level than doing whal 1 was

syt the value for you is that at least now the pe
Right.

3¢ your hope was -~ at best you aight have thea fo
longer - what was your thinking.
That was By thinking. To have thes for a few day

- a wagon.

ovel - a wagon type device to carry the body back and at 12 at night - 12

was too hard, soO it didn’t work.

g - the desires - without hurting anyone.

The guy was already dead ° that's what you needed.
Right - but I didn't want to have to do the act ayself.

anyone 0 satisfy ayself.

¢t 1 hadn't set Tony yet - and even nig - 1 didn’t plan on doing

ou were doing bath nouses and stuff?

¢ 1 didn't kill the guy, put then I'a

ll

doing later.

rson is in 3 deceased state.

quilty of robbing a grave -

it's not charged very often - there aren’t aany people robbing

¢ a couple of days -of if they are eabalned they might last

S.

"¢ the ground was frozen - but you would have been stuck with @ pody on your hands.

nt. Right.

you never cwned car?
No, just for & chort period after 1 case up fros
the bus in M)lwaukee all the tise.

Miami aRC LieEl «i.n Dad. Hever had a car in Wilgpautee. U2t
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What about the guys you would take hoae - what did they do with their cars?
They usually cane by bus or walked - pone of thes had any cars - none of the people 1 set had cars.

Was that on purpese?
No - it just worked out that way.

You and a guy go hose together in 3 car = he gives you a ride hose and then he's done with and then his car is

parked down in the street.
That wouldn't have worked.

Was that an issue?
Yeah - if they had a car, then I wouldn't ask thes back.

You meet the guy at the tavern, and he says I have a car =
Then I wouldn’t have pursued it any further.

This goodlooking guy that owns an automobile would have come back to your place in his car - that would not have

worked out?
No.

gecause then you have to dispose of the car = of leave the car at the bar.
No. Usually they would have wanted to drive the car pack - so that's ruled out.

Little things like that pade a difference.
Yes.

dow coes that interfere?

They would have parked the car near the house and that wouldn's have worked - they could have been traced.

How auch did you earn d year?
about anywnere from $20,000 to $25,000. 1 wasn't good at saving soney = 1 ysually ate out a lot and was paying ay

grandma $400 aonth rent and I never seesed to be able to build up any cash.

spend 2 lot on booze?
Uh-hup - quite a bit.

Do you think Nistorically you had this cavalier {casual, carefree) attitude about killing people?
No - it concerned se because of the chance of being caught - so no there was nothing cavalier about it.

Do you think you were kind of thin about that sort of thing - what bothers &e is at the age of 18 you were able

ro even consider whopping Hicks.
Yes - there was something wrong with ay sorals that's for sure. That's how strong the cospulsion - the driving
urge was - made some wrong choices.

you were conscientious, or did you do 2 lot of things that weren’t very wise of reckless?
sajor compared to

It became

In general did you feel
Yeah | had one shoplifting incident here in Milwaukee - drunk and disorderlies, but nothing

these - 1 didn’t have a cavalier attitude towards it - not a carefree attitude if that’s what you pean.
pasier as time went by - after the Ambassador incident.

Can you set up for me youf final arrest?
Okay, a week defore the arrest | had been drinking a can & Seer at a bus stop - Jjust sitting there thinking 3ns .-

was at night and Tracy fdwards case by and sat down next i0 RE and asked ne for 2 cigarette - he was waiting *
the buc - 1 gave him a sigarette - we had just a short rgpvercation - he got on the bus and went home. A wee!



home, saw hia and recognized his from the bus stop incident, asked his whether he wanted to go back for $50 for
pictures - he agreed - bought some 151 proof rus - didn’t have pills left - was planning on getting his really
drunk and doing it that way. We got back to the apartment - we were atching the Exorcist video - drinking.

He was worth killing?
Yeah,

why were you out of pills?
[ had used them all up previously. All the pills were used on victiss. We were sitting there drinking for saybe

"an hour - watching the video - I told him I wanted to take some bondage pictures and put one cuff on one hand - he

didn't want to do that'and so after putting the cuff on his hand I have no memory of anything until five ainutes
before the police knocked on the door with him in front. They case in and asked me if I knew hinm - asked me where
the key to the cuff was - I pointed to the bdedroom, but it was actually in the trash outside - I don't know why I
pointed -to the bedroom - they went in - opened the top drawer to the dresser and saw the pictures - they cuffed se
and then they looked in the fridge and saw the head and I don’t resesber the ride down - I remember waking up and
talking to the detective - I don't resember the ride down to the police station,

’

How much did you have to drink that day?
about 10 beers over the course of the whole day and that's not enough to make me blank out - so, I don't know why

I lost track of time like that and blanked out.

Were you drinking any of the rum - were you sixing drinks?
The rum was for hia. I don’t remesmber drinking anything other than beer.

Drinking was always involved tc some degree wasn't it?
veah, it was.

In all the cases - in general were all alcohol reiated to some degree - do you think that helped to ¢o it?
Uh-huh. Tt lowered sy inhibiticns and made it easier to go through with the act - it heightened the cexyal

arousal.

How have you been since the arrest - you are still gay?
Yes, I still have those inclinations.

You haven't become neutral or heterosexual?
§g, [ wish I could, but it doesn’t work that way.

vou still have sexval feelings - what are they?
Intzrest in a good-looking guy, but any thoughts of violence I push out of wy mind. [ tune it out.

You would still enjoy an incapacitated person? If you had your druthers would it be pleasurable. Could you do it
again? Could you have a drugged person and enjoy his sexvalily?

1 am trying my best to push those thoughts out of my mind - whenever they cose to me, I just start reading or
doing something else - I try not to think about it.

fsn't there a chance that people hearing about what you did might get some bright ideas?

That's an interesting question because ['ve gotten letters from people I don't know - guys - who have said that
they are killing people and doing the same thing. I've given those letters to Jerry Boyle and he's had the police
follow-up on that. I think there's been two letters - but the police are rotified about those.

killing thes like you are - kiil thes and use them for sexuai purposes?
Uh-hun. Why anyone would write about it and publicize it lixe that [ have no 1dea. Hopefully it won't give tr2e
any ideas. [ don'! have any control over that, that's for cyre.
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So basically 75 -100 times in bath houses and hotels - differeat men - Milwaukee and Chicago - and those you were

not paying for.
Right - they were consensual.

So the paysent is to get them to come home with you.
Right.

Did you first try to get them to come home with you without paying thes and save yourself money?
I did, but it seesed that offering money always seesed to make them more willing to come back, so I just went with

that standard procedure. More of an incentive fqr ther.

Didn't any of thes come home with you on their awn?
Once - Sears - the last guy - he was talking to me in the bar before we left - he's the one that started up the

conversation with se, but it always made it easier if I offered money so that's what I continued to do.

A lot of thes might have on their own - you're not giving yourself much credit.
I don't think they would have. I quess I didn’! give myself much credit - I always offered them money.

So all the guys that came home with you - money was part of it. There weren’t dozens of guys that came hoae and
left without being paid. Hundreds of guys also didn't come to your apartaent.
Yes. The times ] didn't offer soney was just in the bath house.

So if there's any drive - I think we kind of ruled out a pure necrophiliac drive - I need to have the guy deac sc
I can do ay sex thing - I want to do things homosexually with this person and also I want to control this guy - so
the issue is when we are talking about trying to control someone and not kill thes, we are talking about putiing
your desire for homosexual behavior and also your desire for passivity.

If it was a pure necrophilic drive, I wouldn't ever have startes using the d¢rilling technique to rencer them in &
peraanent zombie-like state.

Tae <iandarc ‘for responsibility has to do with apiiity to control your conduct to the requiresents of law - wnizn
means ability to confors to the law and not kiil people. You chose to kill them as part of your routine to render
thes inactive - so to conform, you would have had to put your need to have thes passive aside and would have had
1o glve up your homosexual - what are you controlling - your need -

Neeg for total dominance.

Pyt that aside and any cexual interest
Sight - which seese¢ impossible to do wnen ] was cut on tne

wreet.

[

Eut vou did control it at different places and setiings - it was there.
Pight.

we haven'! talked much about the altar. You brought it up, but [ didn't ask you much - was it crucial?

That was a center [ was constructing in the bedroom - with skulls on the table of the victias - two completed
skeletons standing on each side - a large lamp with blue giobe lights to give the room {with all the lights off) a
dark blue aysterious effect and with the two incense burners on the end of the table - that was where ] was

planning on -

Did you get that far?
¥0. HNothing got set up.
contact, 1 guess, ¢emons or satan - to

Tt was to get In contact with the sciritual forces to gain power, To perfore rituais t2

3

Do vou believe in that stuff?
Yeah - and the purpcse of it was Lo draw power to me - [° :.. :szzcts of ey l1fe - financial. social, sevua:
<1x aore aonths hac gone by 1t would have been CORpisi2.. :i:: .. [ &lreadv hao the tapie and alannes on 2201070



et this far -~ 1 don’ foll
cforaing fi uals ants atan. 1 prought the pook DY - the Satad
.0 the past - 1¢ gitferen t the pecult pookstore 1 was 10 the process of ¢ raulatlng the
1025 - vere they atanic did it cose
cone fros hew, 1 fel pat the t¢ help solidily contro and power. atanic acts
ous acts The gxorcist e fu 4y tantasles- 1 concentl on the third - that was the pest
was vore T alistic @ fit into 8Y tant idn't think possesse 4id not nink 1 nee ]
\ink you are going 10 restity. _
KnoW ° g debatlng whethe 14 or not. 1°11 nake that decision in the future - shortly 1 aight
ney 1S not sayind 1can't g sort of 1eaning rowards 8¢ not Lestifying put it's ® decision
1d you want restify - 1's ot saying You should Of shouldn‘t.
sure that the issue the potives 1S cleared uP-
o pretly concern apout 3t peind racial 4 all that ” anything else you would 1ike 10 cover
everything sl will sretts be nandled © the questxonxng.
gy ask ¥ y did you ¥ill thes what will you say?
exual contro dosinance ~ e catisty the ustiul desires that 1 had that wers 8 ohsessIve in ny lite
ny cuest\ons?
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1124 West Wells Street
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Dear Mr. Boyle:
Enclosed is the report of Park E. Dietz, M.D.

The State may also call Dr. Phillips Resnick as a
psychiatric expert to speak to the issue of paraphilia and
necrophilia and related issues raised in the reports
received from the defense.
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E. Michzmel McCann
District Attorney

Dr. Phillips J. Resnick, M.D.
University Hospital of Cleveland
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PARK ELi.lor*r Dlst. M.D. M.P.H. PH.D.
537 NEWPORT CENTER DRIVE. #300
NEWPORT BEACH. CALIFORNIA 92660
(714} 760-0422
January 10, 1992 |

E. Michael McCann, Esg.

District Attorney ‘

Safety Building, Room 412

821 West State Street o
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53233-1487

RE: State of Wisconsin v. Jeffrey L. Dahmer, F-912542

Dear Mr. McCann:

At your request, I have conducted a forensic psychiatric
evaluation of Jeffrey L. Dahmer with respect to his mental
state at the time of 15 homicides with which he 1is charged
in Milwaukee County. My sources of information in
conpleting this evaluation include a review of the
voluminous documents provided to me by your office,
including reports on police interviews of Mr. Dahmer and
numerous other persons, police reports, criminal justice
system records, school records, mental health records,
pharmacy records, and employment records; approximately 18
hours of interviews of Mr. Dahmer on January 6, 7, and 8,
1992: a briefing at the Medical Exaniner’s Office; an
escorted tour of gay bars frequented by Mr. Dahmer: a visit
£o Mr. Dahmer’s apartment building; inspection of
pornography recovered from Mr. Dahmer’s residence in
September 1988 and July 15891: inspection of photeographs
recovered from Mr. Dahmer’s apartment in July 139917 viewing
of segments of movies identified as significant by Mr.
pahmer; and inspection of photographs of the scenes of the

charged offenses.

THE QUESTION CF MENTAL DISEASE

In ny opinion Mr. Dahmer did not suffer from any condition
+nat would be medically recognized as a mental disease at
the time of the charged offenses, though he drank heavily on
weekends, has certain dysfunctional personality traits, and
nas certain deviant sexual interests. Physicians are not in
universal agreement as to which mental disorders should be
regarded as mental diseases, and some might consider alcchol
dependence or sexual deviations as mental diseases. With
respect to the definition of mental disease given in the
Wisconsin Instruction on the Issue of the Defendant’s
Criminal Responsibility, none of the mental disorders
evidenced by Mr. Dahmer is an abneormal condition of the mind
which substantially affects mental or emctional processes.



P

REPORT RE. JEFFREY L. DAHMER
PARK DIETZ, M.D., PH.D. / PAGE 2

Rather, he abuses alcohoi and has unusual sexual interests
that affect what it is he prefers to do sexually.

Mr. Dahmer‘’s subjective experience of his sexual preference
is that he desires sexual access t0o an attractive male
partner who is under his complete control and who will not
leave him. He considered and acted upon several options for

achieving this goal:

(1) Mr. Dahmer consistently indicated in his interviews with
me that his preference would have been an enduring
relationship with a living young man of the desired habitus
(muscular, slim waisted, slim hipped, and without chest
hair) who would willingly allow Mr. Dahmer control over
their sexual activities. He never met anyone with whom he
thought he could develop such a relationship. In the
absence of such a relationship, he would settle for less
attractive, paraphilic alternatives.

(2) His second choice would have been a "zombie"™ sexual
partner, who would remain alive indefinitely but would be
completely lacking in will and therefore subject to his
complete control. He experimented with the creation of such
"zombies" by injecting muriatric acid or beiling water into
the skulls of four of his victims while unconscious, but
this did not achieve the desired effect. He considered
experimenting with an electrical probe inserted into the
brain for the same purpose, but lacking technical knowledge
did not attempt this. No RSM-III-R diagnostic category
captures this particular sexual interest, which resembles
the fantasy underlying the movie entitled the "Stepford
Wives" and various science fiction plots.

(3) His third choice was an unconscious sexual partner, and
this he created on many occasions by administering a
"sleeping poticn® consisting of a particular prescription
medication dissolved in beverages. He administered this
concoction to many sexual partners in bathhouses, to several
men he took to hotels or his residences, and to the men he
is crharged with killing in Wisconsin. This was his
principal means of fulfilling his desires, as it allowed him
to remain with a man of his choosing for several
uninterrupted hours, during which he would nmasturbate,
fondle, touch, and rub against the man, listen to the man’s
heartbeat and body sounds, and engage in oral and anal
sexual acts with those he found sufficiently attractive.

His efforts to prolong the state of unconsciousness by using
ether or chloroform were not successful, and those men who
became comatose after trephination died sooner thep he
wished. No DSM-III-R diagnosis captures this particular
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sexual interest any more precisely than the concept of
necrophilia, though the fantasy of an attractive,
unconscious person occurs elsewhere in Western cultures
(e.g., in the movie "Sleeping Beauty").

(4) His fourth choice would have been a freeze-dried man of
the desired habitus. He learned of this possibility from a
television show on peonle who kept freeze-dried pets, and he
consulted Taxidermy magazine at a public library to find
advertisements for the necessary equipment. When he found
that the equipment would cost on the order of $30,000, he
abandoned hope of using this method in the foreseeable
future. Although this idea was appealing to him, it did not
become sufficiently erotic and enduring to be designated a

paraphilia.

(5) His fifth choice was a freshly dead corpse of the
desired habitus, which permitted many of the same forms of
sexual activity, but had the disadvantages of an absence of
body sounds, decomposition at ambient temperatures, and the
need to dispose of the evidence. It is his enduring pattern
of sexual arousal to thoughts of such activity that
underlies the diagnoesis of necrophilia.

(6) His sixth choice was to masturbate while locking at the
viscera exposed through an incision extending into the
abdominal cavity of an otherwise intact male Of the desired
habitus. It is his enduring pattern of sexual arousal to
thoughts of such activity that underlies the diagnosis of
partialism. The term "partialisam" was reintroduced in 1987
through the publication of DSM-III-R; it most often refers
to a focus on particular non-genital parts of the intact
body (such as what scme might call a tfoot fetish™ or "leg
fetish"), but the diagnostic manual is silent as to whether
it might apply to a focus on exposed viscera. An
alternative term that could be applied is "splanchnaphilia®
[from the Greek, in which splanchna means viscara], though I
am unaware of any previcus use of this term. Mr. Dahmer did
masturbate while locking at exposed viscera and also used
photographs of this image to promote masturbation.

A diagnosis of frotteurism is also warranted because of
several incidents in which Mr. Dahmer rubbed himself against
unconsenting male strangers whom he found attractive at a
festival and becausa of his rubbing against and touching the
victims whom he rendered unconscious or dead. In addition
to the foregoing, Mr. Dahmer has had transient periods of
exhibitionistic behavior (exposing himself), pygmalionistic
behavior (erotic use of a statue), and erotic cannibalism
(sexual excitement associated with eating coocked human
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muscle). He exposed himself on several occasions to
unsuspecting males in the nid-1980s, but neither did so ner
fantasized doing so at the time of the charged offenses,
Mr. Dahmer once stole a male mannequin and used it for
masturbation until his grandmother found it in his Closet,
but he developed no enduring interest in statues or
effigies. He had no enduring interest in cannibalism, but
rather tried it out of curiosity and made use of the
occasion to masturbate to fantasies of a victim he had
consumed. Although he did so on as many as 10 occasions,
this did not develop inte an enduring or intense sexual
interest. The one occasion on which he participated in
vampiristic behavior, tasting the bloocd of an attractive
young man at the Plasma Center where he worked as a
Phlebotomist, proved neither sSexually arousing nor orally
gratifying, and he did not repeat this behavior.

The origins of Mr. Dahmer’s deviant sexual interests are not
entirely known to him. at puberty, Mr. Dahmer‘s initial
masturbation fantasies were of young men (teenagers and
young adults), and his rate of masturbation was at the high
end of the normal range, estimated by him as two or three
times daily. He had a few experiences of kissing and
fondling a male Peer when he was approximately 14. or 15. He
has consistently denied ever having been sexually or
physically abused. Events in his childhoed that may have
been incorporatad into his masturbatory fantasies include:
~-having been struck in the back of the neck with a blunt
object by one of a group of three teenagers one night when
he was 13 or 14, causing him to run home terrified.
--dissecting a fetal Pig in a 9th grade biclogy project
(abcut age 15); he took the head home with the teacher’s
permission, removed the tissue with a small paring knife,
Cleaned and bleached the SKull, and disposed of it within a
few weeks,

--dissections of dead animals found by the roadside,
including the dog whose daecapitated head he hung on a tree
in the woods to frighten a friend, to whom he pretended
having discovered the dog’s head.

--a Junior high school class trip to a museum, which he
thought was in Akron, Chio, where he spent approximately
one-half hour examining transverse sections of the human

body.

When asked if thoughts of viscera had wandered into his mind
during masturbation while an adolescent, Mr. Dahmer thought
they probably had and seemed to accept that this might be
the origin of his enduring sexual interest in this imagery.
By late adolescence, thoughts of rendering a victim
unconscious and of exposing the viscera were a reqular
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though not invariant component of his sexual fantasies. oOn
one occasion at age 15 or 16 he hid in the brush to lie in
wait for a jogger he had seen twice and found attractive,
pPlanning to strike the man on the back of the neck with a
sawed off baseball bat so that he could use the unconscious.
man sexually; the jogger did not come by and was not seen

again.

Mr. Dahmer recalls no reliance on pornograpnay, television,
film, or other media images in the development of his
fantasies. The pornography recovered from his residences in
1988 and 1991 is standard homosexual pornography, analogous
in most instances to such heterosexual magazines as Blayboy,
Pepthouse, and Hustler, though a few more explicit magazines
were also recovered. Although a variety of sexually deviant
images are interspersed in the photographs, there was no
discernible selection of magazines or clippings reflecting
anything other than an interest in naked males of the
desired habitus. He estimated having spent some $3,000 on
pornography over the years, some of which he had discarded.
He had no fetishistic interest in weapons, though he used
one particular knife for most of the dismemberment of his

victins,

Although Mr. Dahmer identified with powerful, ewvil
characters in three movies ("Return of the Jedi," "Exorcist
IIZ," and "Hellbent Hellraisers II"), he was not
particularly excited by the torture depicted in these
movies, nor did he acknowledge any enduring sadistic
interests. Mr. Dahmer and I viewed the relevant segqments of
these movies together, and he reported having watched these
scenes Oon many occasions before going out to find a victim
in an effort to further his identification with the
powerful, evil characters. He even purchased yellow-tinted
contact lanses to simulate the appearance of the evil
characters in two of these movies.

Mr. Dahmer’s crimes are related to his excessive drinking,
for he reports having veoluntarily and purposely used alcohol
to decrease his inhibitions against having sex with
strangers, against having sex with partners less attractive
than his ideal, against killing his partners, and against
dismembering his victims. He stated that neither the
killing nor the dismemberment was ever sexually exciting to
him: on the contrary, these were aversive activities that he
needed to Arink to accomplish. His drinking, which was
heaviest while he was in the Army, was associated with
several symptoms of alcchol dependence, including a
persistent desire to drink, continued drinking despite
Knowledge that drinking interfered with his college studies
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and performance in the Army, continued drinking despite
knowledge that he committed crimes while drinking and risked
arrest, and occasions on which he experienced withdrawal
symptoms when he ceased drinking. Although Mr. Dahmer
limited his drinking to weekends during the years in which
the charged offenses occurred, a diagnosis of mild or
moderate alcohol dependence appears warranted.

With respect to his longstanding personalify functioning,
Mr. Dahmer does not meet criteria for any of the recognized
patterns of personality disorder, though he has certain
strong character traits. Although he failed to conform to
social norms with respect to lawful behavior during much of
his adult life, including the charged offenses, and has
certain other antisocial features, Mr. Dahmer does not meet
criteria for antisocial perscnality disorder and in
particular lacks featuraes of a conduct disorder before age
15. He has had no close friends or confidants for many
years, which is a schizoid or schizotypal personality trait,
but he does not have the schizoid personality disordar
because he desired close relationships and sexual
experiences, is capable of apparently normal social
interaction, and was able to sustain brief cordial relations
with coworkers and men he would pick up for one night
stands. Although he flirted with certain superstitious
beliefs (including those that underlie his planned "teumple, "
whare he would admire his collection of skulls and skeletons
in the hope of getting in touch with a higher power), and
although scme people described him as "odd" or "strangen
because he was quiet and a loner, he does noct neet criteria
for schizotypal personality disorder because his appearance,
speech, and affective responsiveness are normal, he lacks
suspicious or paranoid ideation, and he does not have
unusual perceptual experiences, ideas of reference, or
excessive social anxiety.

Considering that Mr. Dahmer’s occupational and social
dysfunction are so readily explained by his drinking, sexual
deviations, and criminal activity, it is unnecessary to give
a diagnosis of personality disorder, though a diagnosis of a
mixed personality disordaer with antisocial, schizoid, and
schizotypal features would be defensible. Likewise,
clinicians who do not follow the guidelines of DSM—-IIT-R
might reasonably give a diagnosis of a schizoid or
schizotypal personality disorder, particularly to encompass
the dabbling with the supernatural reflected by Mr. Dahmer’s
dalliance with the satanjc Bible (which he found consistent
with his self-indulgent philosophy but uninteresting and
implausible in its metaphysics), interest in science fiction
and horror movies, and planned “"temple."
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In technical terms, his diagnoses according to DSM-III-R at
the time of the chargaed homicides are:

Axis I: Alcchol dependence, mild or moderate
Necrophilia
Frotteurisn
Partialism (or splanchnaphilia)’"“

Axis II: Antisocial, schizoid, and schizotypal
personality traits

THE QUESTION OF CAPACITY TO APPRECIATE THE WRONGFULNESS OF
HIS CONDUCT

In my opinion, at the time of each of the 15 charged
homicides, Mr. Dahmer had substantial capacity to appreciate
the wrongfulness of his conduct and in fact did appreciate
the wrongfulness of his conduct. The evidence on which this
opinion is based includes but is not limited to: (a) the
fact that Mr. Dahmer told me that at the time he killed each
of these 15 victims, he appreciated that it was wrong to
kill the victim: (b) the fact that Mr. Dahmer in some
instances took steps to reduce the chances he would be
identified as the last person seen with a victim; (c) the
fact that Mr. Dahmer in each instance committed the charged
offense in a private setting, hidden from the view of
others; (d) the fact that Mr. Dahmer found it necessary to
drink alcohol to overcome his inhibitions against killing
the victims; (e) the fact that Mr. Dahmer feared being
caught in the act of killing a victim or in the presence of
a drugged, comatcse, dead, or dismembered victim; and ()
~he fact that Mr. Dahmer took elaborate steps to destroy
svidence of his crimes or to hold it secure against
discovery by others, including his technigques for disposal
of bodias and for decreasing odors, locking the cosmetic
case in which he kapt one skull, securing his apartment, and
painting skulls that he retained so that they would appear

artificial.

THE QUESTION OF CAPACITY TO CONFORM HIS CONDUCT TO THE
REQUIREMENTS OF LAW

In my opinion, at the time of each of the 15 charged
homicides, Mr. Dahmer had substantial capacity to conform
nis conduct to the requirements of law. The evidence on
which this opinion is based includes but is not limited to:
(a) the fact that Mr. Dahmer told me that at the time he
killed each of these 15 victims he would have refrained from
doing so had the victim agreed to remain with him
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i for a few weeks: (b) the fact that Mr. Dahmer
zgign;:r;igt at the time he killed each of these 15 victinms
he would have refrained from doing so had a witness entered
the room; (c) the fact that Mr. Dahmer was able to suppress
his sexual behavior other than occasional masturbation for a
prolonged period around 1983 or 1984, when he immersed
himself in religion: (d) the fact that Mr. Dahmer was able
+o satisfy his sexual desires with masturbation at all
times: (e) the fact that Mr. Dahmer did in fact satisfy
himself exclusively with masturbation from about 1973 until
the murder of Mr. Hicks in 1978, from that time until his
entry into the homosexual subculture of pornographic
bookstores, bathhouses, and gay bars in the early 1980s, and
at various times thereafter; (f) the fact that Mr. Dahmer
prepared himself for some of the murders by clearing space
in his apartment for victim storage, by powderizing tablets
before going out to find a victim, by drinking, by viewing
pornography, by watching the movies that allowed him to
identify with evil and powerful characters, or by a
combination of these methcds; (g) the fact that Mr. Dahmer
generally limited his murders to weekends when he would have
sufficient time to enjoy and initiate disposal of the victim
before returning to work; (h) the fact that Mr. Dahmer did
not kill any of the men he was attracted to while in bars,
on the street, at the mall, in the peep show booths of
pornographic bookstores, or in bathhouses after discovering
how difficult it was to remove a corpse from the Ambassador
Hotel, but rather controlled himself unless and until the
circumstances were more opportune for promoting privacy and
evading detection; (i) the fact that Mr. Dahmer did not kill
those men whonm he found attractive and had rendered
unconscious even after lowering his own inhibitions through
drinking where the bathhouse setting would preclude readily
escaping detection; (3) the fact that Mr. Dahmer did not
Xill men he had drugged unless he continued to find thenm
sufficiently atiractive to warrant futher steps; (k) the
fact that Mr. Dahmer reported that after rendering each of
his victims unconscious, he voluntarily drank additional
alcohol for the purpose of overcoming his natural
inhibitions against killing them; (1) the fact that Mr.
Dahmer did in each instance wait until the victim was in his
place of residence, under his contrel, and behind closed

doors before killing the victim.
Yours sincerely,

Park Elliott Dietz, M.D., M.P.H., Ph.D.
Clinical Professor of Psychiatry and Biobehavioral Sciences



GEORGE B. PAUEAMO M.D.

925 East Walls g
Milwaukae. Wi 532
(414) 278-4630

January 8, 1992

The Hon. Laurence C. Gram, Jr.
Circuit Court Branch, 33
Safety Building, Room 578

821 W. State Street

Milwaukee, WI 53233

RE: JEFFREY L. DAHMER
Case No. F-912S542

Dear Judge Gram:

Pursuant to court order and s.971.16, I examined the above named
defendant in order to assess whether, at the time of the offenses with
which he has been charged, he was legally sane or legally insane. The
defendant is charged with 2 counts of First Degree Murder and 13 counts
of First Degree Intentional Homicide. The defendant was previously
convicted in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County in Case No. F-882515
of the felony offenses of Second Degree Sexual Assault and Enticing a

Child for Immoral Purposes.

The defendant was examined by the undersigned on the following

occasions:

October 14, 1991 - Milwaukee County Jail Libkrary Room - 3% hours

1)

2) Qctober 19, 1991 - Milwaukee County Jail Library Rcom = 3% hours
2) Novemper 20, 1991 - Milwaukee County Jail Library Room - 3 hours
4) January 4, 1992 - M1ilwaukee County Jail Likrary Rcom, in

con-joint examination with Samuel Friedman, Ph.D., - 2% hours.

Prior to starting the examination I introduced myself as a court
appointed psychiatrist and I advised the defendant of the .
non-confidentiality of the examination. The defendant understood the
provisicns and gave his consent te tne examinacion.

Jeffrey L. Dahmer is a 31 year old white male, with light complexion,
tall, well developed and well nourished. H1S hair is brownish-blond and
his face was unshaven during most of the interviews. Hls posture was
erecs, his ambulation normal and, on observation, there was no presence
of any neurological deficits, unusual facial mimicry, tics or
mannerisms. He sat up straight in his chair, a bit tense only during

the first part of the first interview, and his attitude was one of

cooperativeness and friendliness. He appeared to be calm and free from

any emotional lability.

His speech was clear and understandacle. His answers and/or statements
were coherent and relevant and his .3eas crogressed in a logical way.
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There was no presence of cirrcumstantial, tangential or disorganized
thinking. At no time did he exhibit delusional or hallucinatory ideas.
At times he showed spontanei:, but mest of the time he lim:ted himself
to answering the questions posed to him. H1S answers were fully
explanatory and to the point. He showed reflective capacity when so
engaged by the examiner, and unimpaired and rational thinking while
discussing the events of his past life and the charges against him for
which he assumed complete responsibility as the enly actor. He appeared
to Ze of high intelligence and he had a certain degree of emotional
tranquility and easiness while discussing the matters at hand. The
examiner felt that the defendant was almost relieved to unburden his

conscience of many painful memories. '

Mr. Dahmer identified himself correctly and stated that he was born in
Milwaukee on 5/21/60. He recounted a number of family moves during his
childhood, due to his father's schooling and work, from Wisconsin to
Icwa and, finally, to Chio. 1In Ohio, after changing residence several
times, he stated that they sett-led in Bath, where he attended Revere
High School from which he graduated at the age of eighteen. He gave h:is
grades as having been mostly at a C level.

He remembers himself in ch:ilcdhocd and adolescence as a loner, surrounded
by arguing parents at home and "arrogant jerks" in schecol. "They picked
on me because they were bigger."” He admitted to angry feelings and to
his inability to express his anger openly, afraid that "it coculd make
matters worse." He felt angry at his parents, espec:ally during the

r the frequent arguments hbetween them.

e-divorce period, because of th
When he was not sulking he would walk out of the house ints the wooden
r eakble trese

2as5 nearby and get rid of his angry ize
nks. At the time of my interview with his
h David) stated, "I could hear the noise

feelings by teating s

.

ranches against tree &
rother Cavid on 12/30/
Zm 1ns.de the house ¢

-~ "
.cng time.

stad in taxonomy and displayed a collection
at school. His Ekrother David, when

o
[ ol (]

The defendant became inte

of 1insects (moths, butterfl:ies, atz.)
tnterviewed, stated that Jeifrsy was also interssted in disseczing smal
animals such as tadpoles, and using formaldehyde o preserve them,” and
that, "At times he used t5 oint out the varicus organs
defendant does not seem to racollest -he above avents raccunzed bv nis

her, aven though he admic=< I ol

omgulsive interest 1n dissec:iing some animals that
roa I di1d 1t four or five t:mes. I was golng <0 Xeep their bones an

make a statue out of them 1
usad a knife, some tvpe of

hat, "When I was .

ty

ro

O
L ot

n
LXe a Xldermist, but I never got Lo Lt. =z
larce «n:ife. The animals were mcstly dogs
foxes." He also stated that dur:ng that period he was doing some
dissection 1n biology class at school as a part of his curriculum and he
remembers taking home the head of a oig from school and keeping the
skull. "I kept it pretty secret. We lLived 1n a wooded area."

Ouring his 2arly adolescence he also was involved in hcmosexual

- a
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experimentation with one of the friends he chummed around with for
several years, but, he stated, "only four or five times". His brother,
David Dahmer, remembers that the defendant used to go out with three
friends, and with one in particular. "They pulled him down to the level
of being nerdish.” David also said that his brother Jeffrey was
involved in streaking and drinking with his friends. Even though his
brother stated that Jeffrey used to drink alcohol already at the age of
13, the defendant stated that most of his drinking and smoking of
marijuana started at age 17. "Beer and hard liquor with friends. Not
less than a 6-pack a day and more so in ccllege...mixed drinks and
wine." He experienced drunkenness and hangovers but was never
hospitalized for them. Mr. Dahmer stated that, between the ages of 17
and 18, he experimented with marijuana and hashish, three to four joints
a day, alone or with others. He remembers passing out saveral times.

The defendant's self-concept during childhood and adolescence was a poor
one. "I was a loner and felt picked on by other boys but I never got
into a fight. I masturbated daily from 14 on. I never enjoyed sports;
I always thought the other guys were better than me. I was anvious of
other boys. At times I felt so angry that I would have thoughts of
killing them. When masturktating I would look at pictures of
good-looking guys in magazines - trim with good muscle tcne, youngish,
not older than 30. There were no racial preferences. In fantasies I
admired their physical appearance and I used to think of myself lying in
bed with the man from the magazine as a male, not a female." He latar
told me that his role in his homosexual encounters was always an active
cne. He also stated that he had never had any hetesrosexual exgeriences.

The defendant talked about his increasing frustration wi
during the latter part of his adolescence. He also felt Zru
about his increased weight -~ 290 lbs - following his con .
marijuana. He fel% somewhat uncomfortable and frustr
start new relationships. He was frustrated by his father' t
demands on him and his mother's unpredictable and argumentative zehavior
ith his father and with him. He felt helpless in his desire to change
his life. It i1s worth ment:ioning what his kbrother David stat
12/30/21: "I remember Jeff as withdrawn, never smilincg, doing things
only when prompted by Mom or Dad, and when angry he would storm cut of
the house, go to the wooded zack vard smashing wooden sticks against the
trees, Jeffirev was prone to lvine and decsilt at hcme f2r which he was
r2erimanded. He got mad but eventually he would admisz =
wrongdoing." The defendant stated that he never felt
younger brother and had accegted him fully. Actually,
chose his brother's name, acccrding to his mother in m

Lnterview with her eon 12/23/91.

2 his
he defesndant
eghcne
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[t
0
[0}
r

g
t
[11]
j—r

his heavy drinking continued and he felt
My drinking was 1ncreasing.
' After a semester,

At college in Columbus, Ohio,
"directionless...l didn't have clear 1deas.
I felt I wasn't fitting into any particular group.’
Jeffrey Dahmer joined the army at his father's suggestion.
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He went through basic training and seems to be proud of it. He became a

medic and after two weeks he was transfarred to Germany. He was
Stationed at Baumholder, 40 milss from Frankfurt. "That was 1in 1980-81.
I was taught basic CPR, how to set bones and stop bleeding, medication
dispensing, etc."” He admits to heavy drinking - beer, a 6 or 12 pack at
night, and at times brandy, wine or Jaegermeister. "I was a drunk.
Once I found myself in Hamburg instead of stopping in Frankfurt on my
way back from Munich. I couldn't stop drinking. I got into some figh
and yelling matches. My sexual activity was limited =o pornograpghic
magazines and masturbaticn." He disclaims any rcmantic or non-romantic
homosexual relations while in Germany, stating that he would have been

afraid of having them there.

a)

3

Back in the United States in March 1981, after a few months in Miami and
three months with his father in Ohio, together with his father he
decided that he would come to M:ilwaukee and live with his grandmother,

"I had been drinking heavily."

Throughout the interviews the defendant was, at all times, at ease, ang
apparently comfortable. He did nect smoke. His speech was always
coherent and relevant and his ideas progressed logically. He was fully
Cooperative. His affect was aprropriate to the situation. His memory
for past and recent events was good. He showed a minimally depressed
mood but no detachment. He stated that he felt he had to tell his story
SO that his conscience would not bother him so much.

Mr. Dahmer stated that he lived with his grandmother at 2357 south 57th
Street, 1in West Allis for eirght vears, beginning in Oczcber 1981.
During part of that per:zod h:is drinking was descriked as, "Not tad. T
would drink only on weekends." But he added that he soon began to drinj
more at lecal taverns and stated that at times, "I would drink oo
much."” He would return home az 2 or 3 A.M. or,
stay out all night. He stated that he was arrested for disorderl
conduct (drunkenness) once in West Allis and twice in Milwaukea. "I was

only jailed overnight."

cccasizcnally, he would

fie was fired from his job at the Blood Plasma Bank on State Street in
Milwaukee after one year for ferformance. "I didn't like to stick
Deovle with needles." He d:4d mporary odd jobs unt:il he was hired ov
the Amtrcsia Chocolate ompany where he werked for seven consecutive

years.

the time he resided at his

The defendant claims that during
drinking and also to stop his homosexual
1

grandmother's he tried to stco Znking
behavior. “I tried to turn my 1:le around. I started going to church
t

with my grandmother. I didn't <rink €or two years until one day, while
in a public library reading a :took and minding my own business, a guy
handed a note to me. In the note he tnvited me to have sex with him
downstairs in the l.orary bathronom." =Sven though at the time he

dismissed the offer, the defendant cla.~3 that that 2plsode turned h:.s
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life for the worse., "I started drinking again, and heavily, going to

porno book stores, gay bars, bath houses. I was still living at my
grandmother's house. At the bath houses I started my homosexual
behavior again and there I began to experiment with prescription drugs.
In '89 I was charged with and convicted of second degree sexual assault

and enticing a child for immoral purposes. I had to report to WCS and I

was placed on probation for five years."

In 1989 he moved to the Oxford Apartments at 924 N. 25th Street
Milwaukee, because, he stated, "It was close to work and the rent was
low." "I wanted to get a place of my own." He obviously wanted to be
free from his grandmother's supervision and did not want his drinking

behavior to upset her any longer.

Specifically gquestioned about the offenses he is charged with, in a calm
and spontaneous fashion, he explained to the examiner that the present
charges do not include a white male victim that he killed after a
rendezvous in a Milwaukee hotel. "That was the first case in Milwaukee.
It was a long time from the first incident in Chio. He also explained,
spontaneously, the Ohio incident, which he dated back to 1979. And,
upon further questicning regarding any other important memories relevant
to the topic we were going to discuss he stated, "I remember that when I
was 15 I saw a guy about 18 years old while I was walking about five

from home. At the time I had the thought c¢f sawing a

miles away
enough to carry on a bike. I liked

baseball bat in two 0 make it small
him and I had the :1dea of hitzing him on the head and having sex with

hlm."

Questiconed about his first two offenses = First Degree Murd

read:ily stated that they had occurred prior to his con
molestation, and while he was still residinc at hl x

The defendant calmly discussed with this examiner

Degree Murder and the 13 counts of First Degree In
During the recounting of each of the offenses he 1
Jeffrey Dahmer spoke in a coherent and relevant manner. His thinking

followed a logical sequence. He was calm and in complete control of his

emotions. He was able to go into specif:ic detalils about the enticement

d wizth,

and sexual seduc+ion of his wvicz:ims, love-making, use of drugged drinks,

his killing of them py knifing or strangling, his photographing the deac

persons or parts of the dead bodies, Rls di sposal of the dead bcdies -y
eling them, boilling

crushing bones, by cutting, dismembering, disemkbow

the flesh and his attempts to pressrve them.

ed tyre of behavior but was, every.
time, the outcome of a calculated, gre-arranged plan that the defendant
was able to carry out. He desc:;bed how he obtained all the necessary
items for such heinous crimes and how he decided to secure his apartment
with a high quality secur:ty system. The defendant was certainly driven

by a tremendous amount of repressed hostility, {rustrated desire and
intense fzelings of feared reject:cn, as 2xemplified by several of his

The above was not part of a
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own statements. "I wanted to keep him there....Il didn't want to lose
him....I found him very good looking....I wanted to keep some memorials
of him....I continued to lie next to his dead body kissing him....It was
not hate or love, it was lust - lust would be a better word..."

It is possible that the above feelings and a basic ambivalence, "He was
very affectionate....He was so nice to me," together with hls sexual
sadism, were at the basis of his wanting to keep his victims half-alive,
ln a zombie-like state, by dr:lling holes into their skulls and
injecting muriatic acid into their brains. Symbolic memorabilia such as
parts of the victims' bodies, isclated bones, or entire skeletons and
skulls testify to his fetishistic trends. Anthropophagy climaxed some

.0f the murderous scenes.

Questioned about his own feelings concerning his unconscionable crimes,
he stated, "I always wished to have control over events. I often
fantasized that I was always able to get what I wanted: power, sex
money. I made my fantasies more powerful than my real life." Furcher
quastioned about whether he derived any satisfaction or thrill from his
actions, he stated, "Yes, I got a kick out of it but I wasn't really
completely satisfied. t was giving me some pleasure. I believe it was
like a compulsion." He also stated that during his killing sprees he
had been drinking but that he was quite aware of what was taking place.
The defendant did not seem to have a great deal of remorse for his
killings. He seemed to want t5 emphasize that lust and Tower were at
the basis of his actions. He was also concerned about the media
lnterpretation that his behavicr was "racially oriented" and appeared *o
be frightened by the possible ccnseguences of the above since he is :n a
Jail/prison environment in which he 1s surrounded by so many black

ilamates.

The examiner interviewed, via chone, the natural mother of the
defendant, Joyce (Rocky) Dahmer on 12/23/91, the defendant's father,
Lionel Dahmer and his present wife Cherie on 12/29/91, and the
defendant's brother David Dahmer, alsc on 12/30/91. The above

interviews corroborated what Jefirey Dahmer, himself, had already

stated. His mother stated, "He was never happy in school - a lcner. It
< cry.” "Jerff never really

hurt tz send him to school. He would

exiitblted initiative...he felt inadequate...He felt infer:or...He was a
withdrawn child," stated his father. His brother David added, "He drank
from the age of 13...He was withdrawn...He could not exgress
anrger...[and] went on cycles of anger and withdrawn behavior." Th
above interviews also revealed -he Dahmer family to have keen a
dysfunctional one. A great deal of arguing over a period of many years
leading to a traumatic divorce iefr the defendant feeling angry,

rejected, frustrated and directionless.

From a descriptive psychiatric point of view, the defendant was at all
times 1in good contact with his environment and free from any psychotic
thinking. He appeared to be self-centered but was superficially
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pPleasant and cooperative, free from any major "nervousness" and lacking
any real remorse for his misdeeds. He is of high intelligence but with
long standing interpersonal difficulties and lacking any sincere empathy

for others.

From a dynamic point of view, he grew up .as an inadequate, 1insecure
individual with deep fz2elings of inferiority and rejecticn. His
intrapersonal conflicts alsc cgenerated aggressive, hostile tendenc:ies
that led to his murderous behavicr. His sexual drives functioned as a
channel through which destructive power was expressed. Jeffrey Dahmer
could best be described as an orcanized non-social lust murderer,
indifferent to the feelings of others and self-centered in his attitude.
He perpetrated his crimes in a methodical and shrewd way. His cruel
behavior was a source of pleasure and excitement. He was driven by an
obsessive fantasy of power over others, while he basically felt
inadequate, insecure and rejected. As in the lust murderer, the
defendant's sexual desire was combined with basic aggressive behavior
and sadistic manifestations. His aggressivity was channeled,
secondarily, into a homosexual libidinous activity. It could be
described as a murderous satyriasis with repetitious
Obsessive-compulsive behavior.

The defendant's electroencechalogram (EZG), Cat Scan of brain and a
Chromosomal Analysis were reported as negative for pathology. The
WAIS-R (Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale - Revised) and the Rorschach,
corroborate the clinical findings of a high I¢ and a

a projective test,
The Minnesota Multiphasic Personality

lack of psychotic thinking.

Inventory was administered to Mr. Cahmer once in 1986 and twice in 1983
while he was on grokation. Subseguent administraticns of a complete
battery of psychological tests took place on 7/28/°1, 8/10/91, 11/16/91,
12/2/21 and 1/4/9.. Profiles cbtained from the twec recent tZ2sts are

remarkaply similar. The 1886 and 1989 profiles are those 2
personality disorder with some symptomatic features
depression. The 1991 and 1992 tests were taken after a substantial
period of incarceration. Although still revealing a distinct
personality disorder, there 1s a more recent worsening of adjustment
level and greater intrapsychic discomfort. In the clinical interviews,
Mr. Dahmer revealed that he is subject to zoth taunting and threats Irom
his Jellow prisoners. He states that he has become "paranc:id" sut
acknowledges that there is a real:stic basis for his concerns. Th

three profiles are strongly asscc:iatad with acting out behavior and a
negative therapeutic prognosis.

After reviewing the Criminal Complaint freom the Milwaukee Police
Department, the District Attorney's records, including a large group of
photographs of the victim's which were taken by Mr. Dahmer and by the
Medical Examiner's Office, a complete battery of psychological tests
administered and read on 9/28/86 by David C. Osmon, Ph.D., the interview
notzs of Zvelyn P. Rosen, Ph.D., who counseled the defendant from Marzh

1987 through March 1988 for a total of 29 interviews, the gsychological
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report by Charles M. Lodl, Ph.D., dated 1/5/89, the psychological report
by Norman Goldfarb, pPh.D., dated 3/10/89, the psychiatric examination
report and psychiatric notes of Dr. William Crowley, dated 6/11/91,
6/18/91, 6/27/91 and 7/17/91, the DePaul Hospital records of the
defendant covering the period $/1/90 to 4/18/91, the psychological
testing performed during November 1991, by Deborah Anderson, Ph.D., the
results of a psychological battery of tests performed by Xenneth H.
Smail, Ph.D. and dated 7/28/91 and 8/10/91, the testing done by Samuel
Friedman, Ph.D. on 11/16/91, 19/9/91 and 1/4/92, and my extensive
examination of the defendant for a total period of thirteen hours, and
of his parents and younger brother for an additional five hours, it is
my professional psychiatric opinion to a reasonable degree of medical
certainty that the defendant, Jeffrey Dahmer, can be psychiatrically
classified as: 1) Personality Disorder not Otherwise Specified

{301.90), formerly called Mixed Personality Disorder, with antisocial,

obsessive-compulsive, sadistic, fetishistic and borderline features; 2)

Alcohol Dependence.

In addition, it is my grofessional psychiatric opinion to a reasonakle
degree of medical certainty that the defendant, Jeffrev Dahmer, was
legally sane at the time of the offenses he has been charged with.
Indeed he possessed substantial mental capacity ts differentiate right
from wrong, refrain from doing wrong, appreciate the nature and quality
of his actions, and conform with the requirements of the law.

will be of usefulness to the Court. In any

i hope that the above report
rther guest:ons, please do not hesitates to

P
event, 1f there are any £
e

1
call on me. Thank you very much for your referral.

ruly v

A 24 ‘ M%/
eof?%cé%)Palermo, M.D. _:fi:::>

Diplomate, American Board of Psychiatry,

Clinical Professor of Psychiatry, Medical College of Wisconsin
Professor of Criminology Adjunct, Marguette Universily
Forensic Psychiatrist, Milwaukee County Mental Health Comzslex

GBP:amb
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DITL VY MAACTON aE #12Y
MILWAUKEE, WISCONSIN 53225

TELEPHONE 464.4520
AREA CODE <16

SAMUCL M. TRICDMAN, #n. DO,
CONSULTING FEYC~CLOG ST

The Tenth of January
Nineteen Hundred Ninety-'wo

Honorable lLeauvrence C. Gram, Jr.
Branch 33, Circuit Court

8§21 W. State Street

Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53233
Re: Jeifrey L. Dahmer
Case No. F=-08125:22

court order of November 11, 1991 I concducted

Pursuant to your

psychological evaluations cf the above named defendant, and am
respresenting my fincdings in this letter. Prior to meeting with
Mr. Dehmer I had an cportunity to review the pertlnent crimineail
complaint and had access to & larce number of photocraphs taken
both by Mr. Dahmer and the police. These photos concerned the

victims of the alleced crimes and the immediate enviroment 1in

which the alleced homicides took place. I was also abile to revisw
&2 nuember of reports of mental health professiocnals who saw Mr.
Detmer during his pericd cf grcbation following a previcus charts ¢
sexuoal assault. FRepcrts were macde avallable Ircm & psyconologlss
employed by the Degartment of Ccrrecticons, a psychologist Ire-
guently used to evaluate sex offenders, and procress nctes from =z
psychclosist who encaced in psvchotherapy with Mr. Dahmer durin
ceriod of prokation. Of particular value was a Minnesota Mult:
Fersonality Inventcory protocol administered on February 20, 18¢

by the ccrrectional psychologist.

On December 19, 1691 I was invelved in a conference call with

¥z. Dahmer's mother, Jcyce Flint who spoke with Dr. Palermo ancd ~=
for acpreoximately thirty minutes. On December 20, 1281 I inter .zw
Licnel end Shari Dahmer, Jeffrey's father and steg-mcther. Jeilir-sz:
ycuncer tbrother David was interviewed on December 31, 19891.

My ‘contacts with Mr. Dahmer were as follows. On November l6, 1=z:¢1
conducted a clinical interview and administered the Rorschach I-~-
Blots and selected cards of the Thematic Apperception Test. Th.:=
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and administered the Minnescta
A further interview was held
£ the Mirinesota
&s completed.

. Dahmer was Polite, pleasanst &nd

Cooperative. Even while discussing matters of Seéamingly emotiona]
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Page Three
Re: Dahmer

The clinical interviews with Mr. Dahmer and his family reveal a
number of pertinent psychoZynamics which are partly explanaetory
£ later behaviors. Nonetheless there is a paucity of content
underlying the violent and sadistic nature of the crimes. It isg

evident that Mr. Dahmer was édversly affected by the marital

discord between his parents. There is some information that his
mother was extremely nervous and irritable during his chilchood.
There is also information that the father had distanted himself

from his son and my have been dissatisfied with his son's achieve-

ments and adjustment level. There is early evidence of poor

self-esteem which has been noted by others throughout Mr, Dahmer's

childhood, adolescence and zzult years. During adolescence Mr.
Dahmer began drinking excessively and appeared to use alcohol

both as a tranguillizer anéd a means of escaping from an intolerabie

reality.

Feelings of lust particularly concerned adolescent, youthful
males of well proportioned zhysigue. Such individuals were read
found in gay bars, adult book stores and shopping centers. pDez:
©f the victims were a means of obtaining necrcghilic cratificazi
and prolonging psychologic control. There is sore allusicn o
rémcrse and cuilt during the periccs tbetween victims but remecdis
by persistent alcohol abuse. Despite the lencthy histcry of
psychopathclocy and often lurid Eehavicr it 15 remarkable =ma=
tlere was an absence of érpriocrlate mental health attenticn.
During the periocd of probation following the sexual assaul+ char
Mr. Dahmer was successful in concealing his criminal activities
and was hardly forthcoming to the professionals who saw him.

One psychological report was able to describe him as "dangerous”

but no follow-up measures were tazken.
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reality contact noted clinically.
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of material of psychotic nature.
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Ncone of the

responses would be predictive of the benav1o* descrited in the
criminal complaint.

A summary of test and clinical findings is consistent with

"DSM~III-R diacnosis of 301.90
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RE: JEFFREY L. DAHMER
F-912542

12/20/91 Interview Notes:

(Interviewed at Columbia Correctional Institution) 31 years old. Has
not had any further court appearances. Sleeps until around 11:00 am anc
then meets with his attorney - one of the attorneys is usually with him
all week - mentioned attornev Boyle' "$6,500 lap-top Toshiba computer."
Has been at CCI since 11/23/91. Last court appearance was arcund 10/1 -
about dismissing some motions. Trial is scheduled for 1/27/92. Has not
seen Dr. Smail at CCI, or since my last interview. Has not seen Dr.
Polermo at CCI, but saw him 3-4 times in Milwaukee. Saw Dr. Andersocon
during the morning the day before my last examination - has seen her twc
times. Saw Dr. Berlin during the afternoon on the day before my last
examination - has not seen him since. Saw Dr. Freedman 2-3 times in

Milwaukee and once at CCI - was given the Rorschach and the TAT in

Milwaukee and the MMPI at CCI.

Again, understood the reason for our meeting to be, '""to determine what =
mental state is or was in the past.” (I then mentioned the sinus change:
on his x-rays - "I don't care - I would if I were on the streets.’)
Mentioned the extensive security at CCI when he was brought here. Denie:
any suicidal thoughts or intents at this time - described how he uses a
plastic Bic shaver and.how he could commit suicide with it 1Z he wantecd
to - he is in isolation and they would not be able to get to him In time
- "but I don't plan on doing it." Talked about his attorney dcing much
traveling and interviewing potential examiners - may have to see another

examiner from Chicago.

Over the years, said he has forgotten the names of some of the viciims -

they would just use their first names - '"it was standard procedurs 0

-

keep things impersonal - don't ask a lot of personal questions - ust

small talk." Said there were three victims at grandmother's - th:

individuals were not killed there, but left from her residence.



When asked how he felt after the Doxtator homicide - said he was
"surprised that I was doing it again - it fueled my desire - it was too
late to stop - it was on my mind during the week = to pick up and keep
them permanently - I was in too deep of trouble, so it didn't matter -
think that's accurate - too far past that point." (Denied attempts to

stop or self-reform at that point.)

-

RICHARD GUERRERO (count 2 - victim 4 - after Hicks, Tomey and Doxtator.)
Met him at the entrance to the Phoenix Bar - on Water Street -~ 3 gay bar.
Had-not seen him before (Guerrero) -Awas leaving the bar - had a 6-pack
with him and it was closing time - "spur of the moment" - approached him
and talked about sex and a video tape - offered him money, but did not
pay him. Was Hispanic - about 5'10" - appeared "attractive'" - asked hir
only because he was attractive - said he would not have approached him :i-
he was fat and bald. The two of them took a bus to grandmother's - was
feeling "fairly drunk" - drank from 10:00 to 2:00 am. Before 10:00,
would be "relaxing" at home - did not go out from 7:00 to 11:00 Dbecause
some individuals would not be wanting to leave at that time. A* home, "=
and Guerrero took their clothes off, laid on the bed together for abou*
one hour - said he kept the sound down low so-ne would not wake up

grandmother =- they were upstairs in his bedroom. Went downstairs and

made a coffee and Irish Creme mix and added 4-5 Halcion tablets (alwavs
used Halcion). Gave it to Guerrero and he drank it and fell asleep -
Guerrero said he had to leave about 5:00 am. JD did not go to sleep.
Found him attractive and knew that he would kill him to 'keep him
permanently." Grandmother would wake up around 7:00 am and go to zhurch
arcund 11:50 am. Took him to *he basement that morning and "befors :he
came back" (from church). Did not dispose of Doxtator for about one weer
- did Guerrero right away - "it was too big of a risk to keep him a.!
week.". Kept the skull and used Soilex at grandmother's that morning.
Prompt disposal of Guerrero - said it was "too stressful having Dox:ator
there all week (worried about being discovered)." [Kept Guerrero be~guse

he was '"very attractive" - disposed of the body in two hours - thre- 23
1b. bags - flesh and bones - tripled bagged - put in the Monday mcr: .ng
trash - watched from his window "to make sure nothing went awrv' ‘hed
the trash pick-up). When asked, sz2id he was concerned about the ; - 3

[

being discovered later in the trash - "but there is so much ton..:



apparently that worked" (throwing it in the trash).

Usually drank less at grandmother's - Irish Creme and coffee only - she
did not have liquor in the home - had Irish Creme in his closet - knew
would only be able to use him séxually after he was killed for a few
hours because grandmother would be getting up. Got up with her - the body
was left on his bed - had breakfast with grandmother - she never went
into his bedroom - "to be with her and appear normal." Said he was
"halfway drunk" - 6-8 beers at the bar - felt sober in the morning. Kept
the skull - cut up his clotheé into small pieces - put them in the trash
‘Monday morning. Used the body for sexual purposes until grandmother woke
up - masturbated while he looked at the body and touched the body - no
anal sex. Said he "knew it was horribly dangerous - was taking a
horrible risk - but the desire was there and no other source of
satisfaction in my life." (Admitted that there was some mental struggle

as to whether or not to take his life.)

Later moved into his 24th Street efficiency apartment - for two months.
Met the Laotian - took pictures of him for $50 - pictures in his
underwear and gave him the sleeping mixture - he did not fall aslee:.

The victim left and went home and possibly passed out at home and then
later told his parents. Was arrested about 1:00 am and spent six cavs in
the county jail. The police searched his apartment - they did not find
the skull - had only one skull (Guerrero). Admitted that he was "hciding
his breath" (was worried about them finding something or "a second
search') - one skull was the only concern he had. Was later placed cn
bond and moved back in with grandmother. Was charged with enticing 2
child for immoral purposes. After being on bond, then disposed of :the
skull - "it was too dangerous to keep it.'" Was then examined by Dr.

Lodell. Went to trial in Judge Gardner's court - was sentenced to one

year with work release. Three months later, started his one vear at the

Huber dorm.
During those three months, met ANTHONY SEARS at the LaCage - a gar (=7 on
2nd and National - at closing time. “hen asked, said that durins

time he still had desires, but --~-=~ -2s too much "legal activit+’ ol
but did not find

[

on so he just used pornographyv ... . -2eotapes,



fulfilling. On the way out of LaCage, around 2:30 am, started up a

conversation with him - "he was very willing to go back" - got a ride in
Sears' friend's car - Sears was Black - said race did not matter - "jus:
so they're good looking - color does not make any difference." Had he

not found anybody attractive, said he just would have gone home. Got a
ride with Sears's friend - JD and Sears were in the back seat - Sears wa.
giving JD a blow job in the back seat - they were both "fairly drunk."
Got out at 57th & Lincoln(?) and walked two blocks to grandmother's
house. He would ask his victims how long they could stay - Sears said h-
had to be back by 7:00 am. Said Sears was very 'special." Made him
coffee and Irish Whiskey in the kitchen - then went to the bedroom and
they '"played around" =- kissing and masturbation. Sears passed out and
then JD strangled him with his hands. Said he wanted a "momento -
keepsake.'" (When asked, agreed that he had a disregard for their 1life -
said he would not have done it if he had known them - they were stranger:

to him - "I blanked it out of my thinking - the ultimate in selfishness -

not considering someone else.'" Implied that selfishness has alwavs beer

a trait of his - perhaps not a '"blatant' trait - "just in my though:

processes.”" We discussed the choice/balance between his sexual rleasure

and the individual's life.) Strangled Sears and left him on the bed -
grandmother got up and later went to church. Laid with him for atouz :zr-
hour and had anal intercourse. Said a dead victim was not as good as a
live one - "the best you could hope for under these circumstances."
Agreed that had he been living in his apartment, he might have tried to

keep a relationship with Sears going - "he was very special.”
Grandmother was gone about four hours ~ it was Easter time. Used :he
body - kept the skull with flesh on it - preserved the head in a bucke=:
of acetone. Bought the acetone on Monday for this purpose - "to dress
down'" the flesh and keep it preserved - called a taxidermist and asked
how to preserve a rabbit head - soaked the skull in solution for one weekx
after the brain was removed - this was hard to do - removed the first
vertebrae and used a '"long desert spoon and hollowed out the skull!" -
worked on it all Monday in his bedroom - ''made sure the door (bedrz m)
was locked" when he went to work on the third shift. Kept the s~. | wi=--
the flesh on for one week in a bucket in the closet - then drain=: *

the acetone and said this skull and flesh were preserved well - - T



out of solution for one week - dried it out - would masturbate when he
looked at it. Also preserved the penis and testicles (said the size of

the penis was not important).

Said the head later became "mumified" - kept it and bought a Samsonite
cosmetic case and put the skull in the case. He eventually had to start
his work-release program - put the case in his locker at work - for nine
months - a combination locker - did not worry about someone finding the
head. (When asked, said that as long as the trash was picked up on a
Monday, he worried less - if the bags.were at the curdb for several days
and-there was a later in the week trash pickup at grandmother's - that
would have caused problems.) Said Sears was ''very nice looking." When
asked, said the gentials were '"for a keepsake ~ for display purposes" at
his apartment on 25th Street. Had bought a "black lacquered podium'" in
his bedroom. Did not have any guests - (agreed it would have been rather

shocking to see the penis and testicles on display).

After finishing his work-release - did not see the suit case for nine
months - Sears skull became moldy - cleaned the flesh out and kept the
skull and genitals. When asked, agreed that the skull and the genitals
were more for "historical” interest - the genitals were not used for
stimulation/masturbation purposes. Instead, would go to book stores for

magazines and videos for stimulation purposes - said he spent 'thousands'

on pornographic materials. Said he was able to keep the various victims

fairly separate. When asked, said Sears was 'one of the best so far - in
the top three." The last victim at grandmother's residence.

(As part of another discussion said, "I've never heard voices - I want o
purge myself of everything (tell everything)." Then mentioned that he

was with Dr. Berlin for about two hours.)

Said that he was sentenced to his work-release program about a month
after killing Sears. When asked what he was doing with his desires. said
that he was just using pornography - saw some other men but did nc: :ind
them attractive, so he did not approach them. He continued to go ~-.°
(before starting work-release) and went to the Chicago bath clubs - - .t

only for cne-night stands. Then suo:d that the "ideal situation'



have been to have '"a home and a regular lover.'" Then clarified a
misunderstanding that I had and said that most of the gay people do have
a steady lover, but that he did not - "pretty much a loner in the middle
of a‘crowd;" Said that he was somewhat in the :"middle" as far as ‘
desirability goes - was not considered completely undesirable and was
approached by other men ~ was also not'considered the "best catch."
that '"best catches'" for him would have been male dancers - '"the best
looking - the Chippendale look" (the touring male strippers for ladies
shows). Said, '"looks are-everything - I was very shallow in my desires."

Said the majority of gay men are paired off.

Said

At the bars, said he would drink and '"scan the crowd" - did not dance -

did little talking. When asked, said he had friends at work but did not
go out with them - did not have aﬁy social life - just the bars and the
bath houses - admitted that he felt lonely - agreed that had he more
interaction with people he might have had less homosexual/homicidal

urges.

After being released from work-release, lived back at grandmother's for a
few months - did not commit any more homicides. Then moved into a new

-t
cine

apartment for a couple months and continued going to bars. Was in

work-release program from 6/89 to 3/90. Then lived at grandmother's Ior

three months and then moved into his apartment in the summer of 1990.
When asked about the apparent lapse between victims (Sears and Smith) -~
said that during that ''dryspell" - continued to engage in pornographyv and
attend bath clubs (Chicago only) - one-night stands - no more homiczides -

was going to wait for his apartment.

Two months later (summer of 1990) met RAYMOND SMITH -~ '"Cash D" - said he
was Black - "attractive ~ a male hustler'" - after closing time - offered
him money - Smith was waiting to get picked up - told JD he was a male
hustler - not gay - "if no money - no sex" - offered him $50. Smith
wanted $100 - agreed to wait to get money from the bank the next day.
Gave him the drink mixture. (Then said that about a month prior to this
at his apartment, he got the coffee cups mixed up and he, JID, drank -he
drugged coffee and passed out. Was then robbed of $300 and said

tables were turned.'" Had used about five Halcion tablets.) Wwhi!. 1th



was passed out, strangled him and laid with him for a few hours - put h:
on the black table - took about 20 pictures - did not consider trying tc
get him to remain voluntarily because he knew that he was not gay and nc
interested in a relationship - '"that was my modus operandi at that time
no struggle (internal) - my conscience was seared." (Then implied that
his. conscience was "seared" after the Ambassador Hotel case - said he
drank 151 proof rum with that victim and had no intentions of killing
that victim - Tormy). In regard to '"Cash D," said there was no
pafticular internal struggle about killing him - "just that area of my
conscience that had no rule at all - I just viewed them as objects - it
made it easier - there was no malice at all - I didn't hate them -
otherwise I would have tortured them - I tried to make it as painless as
possible." S2:id there was always some sort of sexual contact before the
strangling - said the strangling was a means to an end. Afterwards, fel
a sense of control and power - "I could do whatever I wanted with them

and I didn't have to worry about what they were going to do (leave,

1A}

etc.).

(Then said that Dr. Polermo's "analysis' was that ''these people were ev:
and I was trying to destroy evil.' Said he told Dr. Polermo that he wa:
"totally off base - that's bunk - he's pretty convinced of that
(formulation) - I never gave him any information to reach that

conclusion.”

Took pictures of "Cash D" on the table - two days of this. Then took h:
to the bathroom and did the defleshing and dismembering - the first cne
at his apartment. Put the flesh in trash bags - there was a 'huge”
dumpster in the back of the apartment building "so I didn't worry about
;he pick-up day." Wanted to keep the skeleton - bought a large 80-gallc
kettle at a restaurant supply store on Water Street for cleaning the
bones - said he did not bury the remains because of the "apartment
setting." Used four boxes of Soilex and would boil the bones for a few
hours and then rinse off the bones - they were very clean afterwaris -
all the bones come unattached - bought the Soilex at the Ace Hardware
store - had asked the taxidermist before and was told about Socil- .

rt
[

Would put the bones in a container and soak them in a bleach so!'." an

about a day and then put them in :he closet for a month to drv

1
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all the bones and was hoping to reassemble them. Said the body remained

usable for about three days. Worked the Monday 11 p.m. shift. Then
returned home to get some sleep and continued doing the boiling work

(agreed he got quite proficient). Said the "Cash D" case ended with a

box of bones.

Next case was EDWARD SMITH - the "Sheik'" - summer of 1990. Saw him at
the Phoneix Bar - around one a.m. - Smith was dancing and ''caught my eve

- I approached him and he was very willing.'" Took a taxi back to his
apartment - did not know his real name - was called the Sheik because he
wore a turban around his head -~ never saw him before - "'tall and nice
looking." Gave him the drink mixture and strangled him - took some
pictures - "the same scenario.” (A week before, said he bought a floor
freezer at Sears at Southridge - to store bones that had flesh on them -
in case he was too tired to clean them afterwards.) Used the body for
sexual purposes for a few days - no anal intercourse with Cash D or the
Sheik. Defleshed in the bathtub and cleaned the bones - put them in a
second box in & hallway closet with the skull(s). (When asked abou: <he
camera, said he bought an Onvx Instamatic Polaroid - did not own a camer:
before - bought it before the Cash D case. Cash D was the first to be
photographed. Used a Polaroid camera so that he would not have to send
the film out for processing - "I didn't want to take the chance.'" 3Bcugx-:
the camera two months after Sears.) Said that having their bodies for
sexual purposes was quite fulfilling - "I could keep something and enjov
the control and the contact and not have to rush like in a bath house."
(Said he did not want to testify at his trial.)

1~

Then mentioned LQUIE PENAT(?) - one month later ~ Hispanic = 15 years ol:z
but thought he was older. A busboy at the 219 Club - had seen him befor=
- after closing time, offered him money - then took a cab back to the
apartment. '"Laid around" for about three hours. Penat said he would mee-
him the next evening - he had to get home early before his mother woke u:
- did not give Penat the drink mixture. Agreed to meet him at 12 nocn -
Penat was not there and then returned at 12 midnight and he was -h-re -
some confusion over the meeting time. Had bought a rubber mallet :- an

- 3

army surplus store. Returned tn -he apartment and took pictures 1

not know how to keep him - had ..- lie on his stomach for a pas



him in the back of the neck with the rubber mallet to knock him out - wa:s
going to try the mallet instead of sleeping pills - it did not work and
Penat got dressed and threatened to call the police and left. Returned
later and asked for money to use the phone - there was a phone three
blocks away - JD thought he was going to call the police - asked JD for a
couple dollars change - assumed he was going to call the police so he
grabbed him in/near the apartment doorway - admitted that he attempted to
strangle and kill him at the moment - did not want him to call the
police. Then they started talking - talked him out of calling the
police. JD then walked him to a cab stand at 7 a.m. and gave him some
cab money home. Said Penat did call the police - he told that police
that he was hit on Water Street and carried back to the apartment - the
‘police did not believe him (the detective told him this after his
arrest). JD wac never questioned - no charges. Agreed that he '"lucked

out.”

Found the next individual at the 27th Street Bookstore - did not recall
his name (ERNEST MILLFR) - at 3 a.m. - after closing time - on his way tc

the bookstore to buy some pornography. (Said he was involved with more
white men than black men.) Approached Milleron the street - offered hinm
money - "tall and muscular" - Miller agreed - knew he would kill him.
Gave him the drink mixture (did not have any pills available in regard tc
Penat - since the Penat episode, made an-.appointment with his doctor -
said he couldn't sleep - obtained a small refill - only two or three
Halcion tablets). Did not know Miller was. from Chicago. Returned to the
apartment - only had three pills - Miller became slightly drugged -
"definitely attractive" and wanted to keep him - used a knife and
punctured the carotid artery - "he was unconscious, but if I tried to
strangle him, he would have woken up - one neat stab wound and died
quickly." Stabbed him on his bed - much blood on the bed - most of the
blood soaked in between the mattresses - used bleach to clean off the
stains and threw out the sheets - wanted him because he was '"'so
attractive." Took pictures on the table - in various poses and then
would use them for masturbation purposes later. (Said his pictures were
as good if not better for masturbation purposes than the ones he bought.)
Said the body was useful for shout three days - kept the body on ::. bed
or the table while he was at work. Said he would have a normal r:_. : of



work - he got his Jjob done (agreed he was leading a double life). Said
that killing ''got so routine'" that he was able to concentrate on his
work. Said that "on purpose' he did not ask them who they were so that

he would not get to know them - '"so they were objects."

After the third night, took the body to the bathroom - did half the
dismembering and then had to go to work. The next morning, the manager
stopped him in regard to a complaint about a bad smell. The police were
called and checked the wrong apartment - had actually kicked the door in.
He_then finished his clean-up job before he went to work that night.

Kept various organs and muscles - rinsed them off for later consumption -
put them in clean bags - the first time. Did this out of '"curiosity - tc
see what they tasted 1ike" - later, felt that after eating them they then
became "part of me." Kept the heart, liver, kidney, thigh, arm, and
abdominal muscles. Kept about 25% of the muscles - in gallon freeze bags
- 50-75 bags - one to two pounds per bag - first time had done this.
There was nothing in the freezer before, but now the freezer was full -
three boxes with bones were now in the closets. Prepared about six meals
with the body parts. One month before his arrest, threw out about 30
1bs. worth of the bags because he had lost his job and did not have any
money and would have to move out - was doing housecleaning and got rid c:I

the parts. Then mentioned painting the skulls - Miller's, Cash D's, and

Sears' - three skulls - painted them in artificial color in case &nyone
saw them - one individual from Chicago saw them and JD said they were
"artificial."

The next individual was DAVID THOMAS - met at Wisconsin and water Street:
- Black - did not know his name = waiting for a bus - one a.m. -~ offerec
him money - sexually propositioned him = usually after making a pass, ths=
person agreed - "s hit or miss'' situation - Wwas sometimes turned down at
bars. (When asked, said he was never hit by a person on the street after
a pass - a few times was told to scram, etc. One time was hit with a
beer can and knocked out and kicked in the ribs - at his second
apartment. After his arrest for enticing a child - moved out of h:s
second apartment and was living with grandmother - thought his former

apartment would be empty, SO he went back there with this individo:a!

someone had moved in - went to the sasement of the apartment bu..:



where he was attacked with the beer can. Was hospitalized overnight and
had stitches in his head - told the police he was mugged. The second
time he was ever attacked was while on work-release - did not go home fo-
Thanksgiving dinner - was '"too embarassed to go home" - his relatives
were there - including his father. Went to bars instead and drank nearl:
a whole bottle of Yukon Jack - was "extremely drunk." Was picked up by
an older man and they went to his apartment (not JD's) =~ he (JD) was
"hogged tied" - the other individual engaged in '"'strange sexual bondage
acts.”" JD started yelling and was let down and ran off. Returned to ths
Huber Dorm - '"very drunk and very late" -~ was kept back from work for twc

days because of being late.)

(Thomas continued.) Returned to JD's apartment - gave him the drink
mixture - strangled him - '"same scenario (his words)." Then changed his
routine - "I wanted to cut down on the chances of anyone discovering me."
Then bought two heavy duty trash barrels with a cap in the cover - to
pour in the acid - did save Thomas' skull. Said it was "a safer way to
dispose of the remains." Said all previous bones were kept for later
reassembly. Later "acidified" some sets of the bones, but kept the best
set (the 27th Bookstore case - Miller) for assembly. (Then mentioned
that he tried to dry out the skulls of Guerrero and the Sheik's - 120
degrees in his oven - the water in the bones popped and spoiled the
skulls and "made them crumble' - so threw these two skulls away.) Said
there was nothing left of Thomas ' body (except the skull?). Said this
was the first time he took a picture of the abdomen slit open - used the

pictures for masturbation purposes.

Next individual was CURTIS STRAUGHTER (2/18/91). After a two week

vacation - saw him at a bus stop near Marquette - approached him - they
went to bars and drank. Returned to the apartment and masturbated and
had sex and watched videos. (Then mentioned watching the video Exorcist
3 - watched it frequently - "I felt so evil and deprived by this time,
the movie appealed to me - I related to it - I watched it before I went
to bars and brought people back.'" Said he did not believe he was
possessed by the devil, but said he did not understand what he was up
to.) Strangled Straughter and defleshed him - saved his hands ar

genitals and kept them in formaldehyde - kept the skull - "for m -.-:os



and keepsakes." Acidified the flesh and the bones (second time).

Learned that formaldehyde worked better than acetone.

(When I commentéd that he was apparently not interupted during his

routines, he said that the manager once knocked on the door about the

smell. He let him in the apartment and showed him the freezer - told the
manager that there was spoiled meat and the manager believed him - said
he would take care of it right away - the body parts in the freezer

looked like regular meat. Was never interupted prior to or during the

ti@e of killing the victims. When asked what it would have taken to sto:

him he said, '"to agree to make it permanent - a longer commitment.')

Said the apartment smell was always an issue/concern - from the acid
barrels and the odor from the trash barrels. Said by Tuesday or
Wednesday following the Saturday night/early»Sunday a.m. pick-up, would
have to dispose of the parts in the barrels. Understood that he would
then not be able to pick somebody up the following weegend because of

parts being in the barrels. Would then.substitute by going to the bath

houses in Chicago, or use videos cr pictures. Said he was also wcrking

Said it was"''a tiring process to buy
Said he would havs

six days a week and was 'tired."
acid and dismember - time consuming in the clean-up."”
to buy new acid -~ four gallons for each ba:rel - muriatic - the only acicé
he would purchase and it worked and he used it = tried sulfuric écid one
time - it was so strong that it made a cloud in the room - made the

barrel hot.

We then talked about his cycle. After using the body, would then be

involved for a couple weeks with the use of the body parts and the
Said he was often '"too tired," or '"didn't have

storage and the clean-up.
During the '"interlude,'" said he did

the time" to find another victim.
not have any planned times when he wanted to pick someone up again - just

when he had the time - but admitted that the interest and desire were

there.

-~ F

The next individual was ERROL LINDSEY (4/7/91) - met at tiie corner
27th and Rilbourn - during the davtime - Black - "nice looking" -

- d1d

it just for the money.'" A couple weeks before, had bought some .- _uffs



"to avoid a potential struggle - a godd safeguard.”" Lindsey was not gay
- cuffed his hands - said he "wanted someone to stay around that was
alive." VUsed an electric-drill and drilled a hole into the top of the
skull and brain - filled a syringe with muriatic acid - "I didn't want tc
have to keep killing and just end up with skull." Did not strangle him -
tried a drill. Lindsey woke up and then JD injected one more time - woke
up again and Lindsey appeared somewhat normal, but said he had a
headache. Was not handcuffed. Then Gave him the drink mixture and
strangled him - took many pictures. Then said he wanted to '"'save
something different." Laid the body on a plastic sheet on the bedroom
floor - cut from the back of the head to the back of the spine and took
all the skin off. Tried to preserve it in a salt solution - "just
another momento.'" Acidified the flesh and the bones and later had to

acidify the skin - saved the skull.

The next individual - TONY HUGHES (5/24/91) met at the 219 Club after
closing - could not hear - wrote notes and shared hand signals. Re*urned

to the apartment and gave him the drink mixture - '"was very drunk" =~ did
not remember giving him the drink mixture - did not remember strangling
him - "pretty drunk - I woke up and he was dead.'" Said he was '"'too
tired" to do any dismemberment. Kept the body on the bedroom/bathrosom
floor for three days. (When asked, said that he had anal intercourse
with about half of the victims - '"just if I was in the mood." Said he
did not like anal intercourse being done to him, but sometimes enjoved

doing it to others, or to a body.)

Next mentioned KONERAK STINTHASOMPHONE - at the Grand Avenue Mall - "he

caught my eye.'" Propositioned him and offered him $50 - RKonerak was
undecided - '"he appeared older to me'" - did not know it was the brother
of the one he took pictures of years earlier. Returned to the apartment
- took two pictures - drank. Tried the drill and acid technique. Later
in the evening, wanted some more beer and left the apartment. Had one
beer and left at closing time and returned to the apartment. Konerix was
on State Street sitting on the curb unclothed - some women were there -
told the women that he was a friend and that he, Ronerak, had walx. ? sut
of the apartment. The police came - Konerak did not speak Engl:i«- -

Konerak did not want to go back -- -he apartment, but the two n: .



took him under each arm and helped walk him back to the apartment.
Inside the apartment, said the police saw the two Pictures of Konerak i-
his underwear (Hughes's body was on the floor in the bedroom) - Ronerak
was not bleeding through the hole in his head - there was no anal

intercourse before he left to 80 get some more beer - Konerak was not

bleeding from anywhere. The police left. Gave Ronerak a second

injection of acid and killed him - was "disappointed" that he died (tha-=

this technique was .not successful).. Took some pictures and had anal

-intercourse. The next day, put both Konerak and Hughes in the tub and

defleshed them - kept both heads - the first time ever had parts from tw

individuals in the barrels. (Said he got his acid from the Ace Hardware

store near Water Street - said no one was ever suspicious of his buying

the acid - §2. 50 per gallon.) Thought Konerak was about 16 years old.

Said the next individual was MATT TURNER (6/30/91) - met at the bus
station in Chicago - offered him money and agreed to return to Mllwaukee

- had been to bath houses - two nights that weekend - had one lover for

one night only - turned down the second night. Met Turner at the Chicagz:

bus station - they watched videos and then gave Turner the drink mixture

= strangled him and a few days later dismembered him and saved the skul:

Put the flesh into trash bags - did not use acid - put the bones in the

freezer with some flesh left on them - put them in the freezer so that
they would not smell. Kept the skull and the unclean bones in the

freezer.

The next weekend, went back to Chicago - went to Carol's Nightclub - saw
JEREMIAH WETINBERGER there - Weinberger performed oral sex on him in the
corner at Carol's - he wanted to be JD's "houseboy for the weekend" -
curled up next to JD on the bus on the way back to Milwaukee - said this
"embarassed him (JD) - I'm not an exhibitionist or anything." (When
asked about getting caught or getting into trouble, he implied that there
was "so many close calls and nothing happened - I felt successful. Said
he never thought about who they might have been, or about their families
- "I blocked those thoughts out of my mind.") Returned to his apartment
- had sex and watched videos - Weinberger told him he hed to be back
Monday morning. They drank (before noon) - tried the drill techni:e

with boiling water - "to make them zombie like. Weinberger wok» . two



hours later - he was "disorientated" - gave him some more pills and a

second jpjection of boiling water and he fell asleep. Left him on his
Left for work and

still alive, but

disappointed that he was in a coma - wanted them to be mentally alert

enough so they 'could follow my commands." Said he spent all day Tuesday
Took pictures and had sex with him. Did

bed. g§zi4 the second injection made him comatose.
returned and was '"happy'" to see that Weinberger was

trying to revive Weinberger.
not know what to do - was hoping/waiting for the effect to wear off and

he would be more alert. Weinberger was comatose when he again left for

work . When he returned the next day, found that Weinberger had died.
Took -pictures and masturbated and put him in the bathtub. Beheaded him
and put the head in a bag in the freezer. Left the body in the tub with
a bleach water mix (first time) - closed the shower curtain.

A few days later, met the next victim QLIVER LACY - Black - "well built
and attractive" - at 27th Street - around 3 p.m. - on a Sunday afternoon

- was due to work that Sunday evening - he was "especially attractive" -

(Agreed that he was not 'shy" - would go up to strangers

was not gay.
Returned to the apartment -

and make sexual propositions on the street.)
[=Rdid

gave him the Halcion mixture "immediately' because he knew he was not gav

and would not want to stay around - did not use the drill. Had brought

some chloroform in an attempt to experiment with trying to prolong the
effects of being drugged after the Halcion mixture - to prolong the
period of unconsciousness -~ brought the chlorofrom at Laber(?) Pharmacy.
they drank alcohol in the apartment that afternoon, but the problem that
arose was that JD was not free and was scheduled to go to work at 11 p.m.
Chioroformed Lacy with a dust mask and

- called in sick - lost his job.
Lacy woke-up Monday morning about

dripped the chloroform onto the cloth.
4 am (this technique did not work, either) = then gave him Halcion and

coffee and strangled him with a strap (said Straughter was the first one

that he used the strap on - see previous notes). Had sex and anal sex -

kept a portion of the biceps - said Lacy was '"one of the more attractive

Said he still had frozen body parts from the earlier case, but

ones."
"On the spur of the moment,” took some fresh

was not going to use them.
nuscle - never froze the biceps - froze the heart for later consumption -

tooK many pictures. Weinberger was stiil in the tub - did both Lacy und

Weinberger together - put the flesh in trashbags and froze the bon.s ‘or



later "acigification.” Kept both heads for later cleaning. Agreed that

the "freezer was full of heads" = lacy, Weinberger, and the Chicago bus

statjon case- Said three were painted and several were unpainted.

Said he drank much more and on a daily basis after losing his job -
Said, "I didn't want to keep on doing

formerly, just drank on weekends.
Said several individuals

it - that's why I tried the drill technique."
were not gay - at least five - gave their names.

The next and last individual was JJIOSEPH BRADEHOFT - Caucasian - after he

lost his job. Was drinking excessively - saw him in front of Marquette -

approached him - returned to the apartment in the afternoon -~ had sex -

gave him the Hal~ion mixture and strangled him. Did not take any

pictures - on the bed for two days - decomposed rapidly and had magsgots
on his face. Placed the body in the bathtub - put the head in the
freezer - put the flesh in trashbags and the bones in the freezer for

later cleaning.

Said he bought a new thicker and stronger 57 gallon trash barrel because
the previocus barrels were too thin - they allowed too much odor through
the plastic - did not like the smell - would open the windows to let the
when asked, said '"very much so" he was behind in cleaning up
Said he had the bones of the "Chicago bus station case,"”

. Said his plans were to keep Lacy's
Had the bones in
wWhen he

smell out.
the bones.
Lacy, and Bradehoft in the freezer.
skeleton, but then acidify the other three skeletons.
the new barrel without any acid in it - had not bought any acid.
was arrested, had Lacy's bones in the freezer and Lacy's head in the
refrigerator (had used the head the night before for masturbation

purposes).

A few days later, was at the Grand Mall - approached an individual =~ had
talked to him the week before - the individual came up to JD and asked

for a cigarette the week before on Wisconsin Avenue. JD saw him a week

later at the Mall - approached him - offered him money and returned to
the apartment. The victim drank 151 proof rum - "I drank beer.' Did not
have sexual contact - wanted bondage pictures - the victim agreed t'o
having one cuff placed on his wrist - they were watching the Exorc:.s:



/éJD passed oyt - no sexual contact as of this time - the
vi .
deof pirt was off. Did not know why he (JD) passed out (appeared

Vic S s .. . . . ' '
r tfupset and disappointed in himself for letting this happen) ''that's
a .

}?' gered the whole thing (his arrest)." The other individual left.

wb,;f‘f trié
ke up in his living room = the police knocked at his door five

). JD. wo
sinutes later and asked for the cuff key. The police saw some pictures
Said he

+in the drawer and then saw Lacey's head in the refrigerator.

f?does not remember leaving the apartment, or the ride to the police

Ef&"i_i; ’
B2

station. Said he had about ten beers that day and was quite mystified as

to why he blacked out. Woke up and talked to the detectives. Said he did

not feel drunk while talking to the police. Estimated he gave about 15

statements - understood he did not have to give a statement to the police

- "I just wanted to get it off my chest."

When asked about his sexual desires since his arrest, implied that they
are suppresed and not on his mind - '""because of the circumstances.'" When

asked if he could kill someone again, he said he would not because he

would "consider the consequences."

END OF NOTES

d 12/23/91
c 1/1/92
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CRIMINAL COURTS
PSYCHO-DIAGNOSTIC CLINIC A X
’, Summit County Courthouse {\
209 South High Street \
Akron, Ohio 44308-1610
216 379-2333

KATHLEEN P. STAFFORD. Ph.D., ABPP . JOSEPH F. ADKINS
Director/Clinical Psychologist Apr il 27 ’ 1992 Psychiatric Social Worker

Honorable James R. Williams, Judge
Summit County Common Pleas Court
209 South High Street

Akron, Ohio 44308

RE: Jeffrey L. DAHMER
CASE # CR 91 09 2090
Competency Evaluation

Dear Judge Williams:

Jeffrey Dahmer is a thirty-one year old single male referred
for an evaluation of his competency to stand trial pursuant
to Ohio Revised Code Section 2945.371. He 1is charged with
two counts of aggravated murder and one count of kidnapping
which allegedly occurred on or about June 18, 1978.

Mr. Dahmer was interviewed at the Columbia Correctional
Facility in Portage, Wisconsin on April 17, 1992. He was

also administered the Wechsler Adult Intelligence
Scale-Revised, the Neurobehavioral Cognitive Status
Examination, and the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality
Inventory-2. At the beginning of the evaluation, he was

informed of the purpose of the evaluation and the limited
confidentiality inherent in a court-ordered evaluation. He
understood this information and he agreed to participate in
the evaluation accordingly.

In addition to the clinical interview and psychological
testing of the defendant, the following information was
reviewed in preparing this report:

- a copy of the journal entry ordering the evaluation

- a copy of the indictment for the alleged offenses

- interview with the defendant's stepmother, Shari Dahmer,
April 7, 1992
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- interview with the defendant's father, Lionel Dahmer,
April 13, 1992

- information provided by Attorney Lawrence Vuillemin

- interview with Dr. Patricia Allen, Clinical Psychologist
at Columbia Correctional Institution, April 23, 1992

- interview with Detective Richard Munsey, Bath Police
Department, April 15, 1992

- information from the Prosecutor's file, including the
Bath Police Department investigation of the alleged
offenses, statements made by the defendant after his
arrest in Milwaukee, Wisconsin in July, 1991 and the
defendant's prior arrest record

- March 10, 1989 presentence psychological evaluation by
Dr. Norman Goldfarb

- psychiatric evaluation and progress notes, Dr. William
Crowley, June 11 - July 18, 1991

- reports, notes and testimony provided for the
defendant's trial in Wisconsin by Dr. Fred Berlin,
Dr. Judith Becker, Dr. George Palermo, Dr. Samuel
Friedman, Dr. Park Deitz, Dr. Carl Wahlstrom, Dr.
Frederick Fosdal and Dr. Kenneth Smail

- records of defendant's treatment by Dr. Patricia Allen,
and Dr. Richard Arnesen, Columbia Correctional
Institution, February 25 - April 9, 1992

SOCIAL HISTORY: Jeffrey Dahmer was born in Milwaukee,
Wisconsin on May 21, 1960. According to the defendant's
father, the defendant's mother had medical and emotional
problems throughout her pregnancy with the defendant, and
was prescribed a variety of medications, including
barbiturates, opiates and synthetic progesterone. There is
reportedly a maternal family history of substance abuse and
emotional problems. The defendant's father has a Ph.D. in
analytical chemistry and has been steadily employed as a
research chemist in industry since the defendant was six
years of age. His mother was a full-time homemaker during
his childhood, but she has reportedly earned a master's
degree in counseling and worked as a counselor in California
since the defendant's parents were divorced in 1978, when he
was eighteen vyears of age. The defendant also has a
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brother, six years younger than he, who is presently working
and attending college. The defendant's father married his
stepmother in December, 1978.

Jeffrey Dahmer was an average student who graduated from
high school 1in 1978. He attended Ohio State University
during the fall term of 1978, but did not perform well
academically because of alcohol abuse. He did not return to
college, but instead enlisted in the United States Army in
late 1978 or early 1979.

Mr. Dahmer spent most of his Army career in Germany as a
‘field medic. He had disciplinary problems in the Army, as a
result of alcohol abuse, but he was never provided any
treatment. He received an early discharge under honorable
conditions from the Army on March 26, 1981.

After his discharge, Mr. Dahmer worked at a sandwich shop
for approximately six months in Miami Beach, Florida. He
could not make ends meet because of his alcohol abuse, and
he returned briefly to his father's home in Ohio. He did
not obtain employment in Ohio but continued to drink

heavily. After several months, the family decided that the
defendant should attempt to 1live with his paternal
grandmother, a retired school teacher 1in Milwaukee,
Wisconsin. The defendant agreed to move 1in with his
grandmother, and he obtained a job as a phlebotomist at the
Milwaukee Blood Plasma Center. He described this as a
low-paying, unsatisfying 3job which he lost when there were
staff cutbacks. Mr. Dahmer subsequently worked at the

Ambrosia Chocolate Company Factory in Milwaukee as a laborer
from January 14, 1985 until he was terminated on July 15,
1991, due to excessive absenteeism.

Mr. Dahmer has never married and never fathered any
children. He reported that he has never had any
heterosexual interest or feelings of attraction. He has
engaged in homosexual activity, but he has never maintained
an ongoing homosexual relationship. His family was not
fully aware of his lifestyle prior to his arrest in July,
1991.

LEGAL HISTORY: Police records indicate that Mr. Dahmer was
charged with a traffic violation in Bath, Ohio on June 25,
1978. On December 12, 1978, he was noted to be in the
company of a friend who was suspected of driving on lawns
and through driveways with his lights off during the early
morning hours. The defendant was also guestioned in
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December, 1978 regarding a theft of jewelry from his father
and stepmother's home, but this same friend later admitted
to having stolen the items and returned them.

While in the Army, Mr. Dahmer reported that he received an
Article 15 for behavior that amounted to being "drunk and
disorderly". After his discharge from the Army and his
return to Ohio, he was arrested on October 7, 1981 by Bath
Police for disorderly conduct, open container and resisting

arrest.

In August, 1982, the defendant was convicted of disorderly
conduct and fined fifty dollars in Milwaukee. 1In 1986, he
was arrested by Milwaukee Police on a charge of lewd and
lascivious behavior, which was subsequently reduced to
disorderly conduct. He was found guilty and sentenced to
one vear of probation. 1In 1988, the defendant was arrested
in Milwaukee for sexual exploitation of a child and sex
assault, second degree. He was convicted of second degree
sex assault and enticement of a child for immoral purposes
and sentenced to a one-year work release program in the
Milwaukee House of Correction and five years of probation.
He served his time in the work release program from May of
1989 until March of 1990. While still on probation for this
offense, he was arrested on July 23, 1991 in Milwaukee and
eventually charged with fifteen counts of murder. He plead
guilty to having committed the offenses, and was found sane
in a Jjury trial in Milwaukee, Wisconsin in February, 1992.
He 1is presently serving fifteen consecutive life sentences
at the Columbia Correctional Institution in Portage,
Wisconsin.

SUBSTANCE ABUSE HISTORY: Mr. Dahmer reported that he began
to wuse alcohol and marijuana during his junior year of high
school. By the age of seventeen, he was drinking with
friends before school three to four times a week. He stated
that he was caught with alcohol on his breath in school on a
couple of occasions, but that the school counselor merely
talked to him and he was never suspended. However, his
alcohocl abuse continued on an episodic basis and worsened
after the alleged offenses occurred in June of 1978.

Mr. Dahmer's father and stepmother reported that the
defendant drank to the point of blacking out and forgetting
what he had done with his wallet, his glasses and the car.
He resisted attempts by his father and stepmother to get him
into some sort of therapy or involved with Alcoholics
Anonymous.
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While living with his grandmother in Milwaukee, the
defendant attempted to reform his ways by attending church
and drinking substantially less. However, about the age of
twenty-five, he began to drink again, consuming up to
approximately twenty-four cans of beer on weekends.

Mr. Dahmer did not drink while sentenced to a work release
program from May, 1989 until March, 1990, with the exception
of a pass at Thanksgiving, 1989, during which he drank and
passed out. Mr. Dahmer resumed drinking in 1990 after his
release from the House of Correction in Milwaukee. His
drinking increased during the week prior to his arrest in
July of 1991, in response to his termination from his job.
In addition to black-outs, Mr. Dahmer has experienced
withdrawal symptoms and increased tolerance to the effects
of alcohol. He reportedly quit using marijuana after 1978.

MEDICAL AND MENTAL HEALTH HISTORY: Mr. Dahmer has never
received treatment in a psychiatric hospital. He did not
receive any counseling as a child or an adolescent. There
is reportedly a family history of emotional difficulties and
substance abuse.

As an adult, Mr. Dahmer received outpatient therapy ordered
by the court with a Milwaukee psychologist, Dr. Evelyn

Rosen. He indicated that he did not participate
voluntarily in therapy and resisted the therapist's attempts
to work with him. Mr. Dahmer indicated that he had been

referred to the DePaul outpatient alcohol treatment program
after discharge from the work release program at the House

of Corrections in Milwaukee. He also started to see Dr.
William Crowley approximately one month before his arrest
in July of 1991. However, he indicated that it was not

possible for him to be open in a therapeutic context because
of the criminal nature of the behavior in which he had been
engaging.

Dr. Patricia Allen, the clinical psychologist who sees Mr.
Dahmer approximately three times per week at the Columbia
Correctional Institution, reported that the defendant is
being treated for anxiety and depression. He is housed in a
restricted unit while he is being oriented to the prison
setting. Mr. Dahmer has been prescribed Prozac (two 20 mg.
capsules in the morning), an anti-depressant medication, by
his treating psychiatrist, Dr. Richard Arnesen, for the past
month. Dr. Allen indicated that Mr. Dahmer seems to be
experiencing less severe bouts of depression currently. She
does not feel that he is imminently suicidal, but she
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believes that Mr. Dahmer sees suicide as a potential option
for himself over the long term. Dr. Allen has not noted any
signs of psychosis, or loss of contact with reality, during
her treatment of Mr. Dahmer.

Mr. Dahmer's physical health is described as good. He has a
history of a surgical repair of a double hernia at age
three. He was treated with Prednisone for joint pain
approximately four years ago. He reported that he was
"mugged a couple of years ago" and rendered unconscious for
approximately six hours. He was treated for "a couple of
hours" at West Allis Memorial Hospital once he regained
consciousness, and he suffered no long-term effects from
this injury. Records indicate that various medical tests
performed in conjunction with the -evaluations for the
Milwaukee trial were essentially normal.

CLINICAL INTERVIEW: Jeffrey Dahmer 1is approximately six
feet tall and weighed approximately one hundred seventy
pounds at the time of the interview. He was neatly groomed
in Jjail attire. He related to the examiner in a polite and
cooperative manner. He was appropriately serious for the
context o©f the evaluation, but he did display the capacity
to smile and engage in some mild humor when that was
appropriate. Mr. Dahmer was quite articulate, although it
was difficult for him to speak at length at times because of
the number of evaluations by mental health professionals,
and the numper of interviews with law enforcement
authorities, in which he has participated over the past nine
months. There were no indications of major perceptual or
thought distortions throughout the evaluation. Mr. Dahmer's
speech was logical, relevant and coherent. No signs of
hallucinations, illusions, or delusions were elicited or
observed. He was well-oriented to time, place and person.
His memory appeared to be intact. He displayed a moderate
level of anxiety and depression, which was appropriate for
his situation but which did not appear to interfere with his
ability to think and reason. He indicated that he has been
struggling with ongoing suicidal ideation, although his
belief in an after-life has dissuaded him from making any
recent suicidal attempts. He indicated that he has
scratched himself out of a sense of frustration. He also
attempted to keep a razor blade to use if he decided to kill
himself in the future. However, the razor blade was
confiscated by the correctional staff.

Mr. Dahmer indicated that he has experienced severely
depressed moods, particularly on weekends in the
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correctional facility. His sleep 1is disturbed, and he
typically does not fall asleep until about 4AM. He
indicated that he occupies himself by reading letters and
books and watching television. He smokes approximately a
pack of cigarettes a day and drinks coffee. He has not been
able to energize himself to the point of participating in
morning exercise. He is isolated from most social contact
at the correctional facility at this point, although he does
have some interactions with correctional staff in addition
to his treating psychologist and psychiatrist. He indicated
that his appetite is not disturbed and that he has gained a
"few pounds" since his arrest.

PSYCHOLOGICAL TESTING: Mr. Dahmer had been administered
psychological testing on several occasions over the past few
years 1in conjunction with court cases. He responded to the
test administered to him as part of this evaluation in a
cooperative and efficient manner.

On the Neurobehavioral Cognitive Status Examination, Mr.
Dahmer was found tc be alert, well-oriented to time, place
and person, and attentive. His language functions, as
measured by comprehension, repetition and naming tasks, are
intact. His reasoning abilities, as measured by a
similarities task and a hypothetical judgment task, were
very good. His perceptual-motor functions and calculatiocn
abilities were within the average range. He showed some
mild impairment in the ability to recall four words learned
early in the session. However, there was no indication of
any other memory impairment, and it is likely that the lack
of salience of this information for the defendant
contributed to his mildly impaired recall.

Mr. Dahmer's performance on the Wechsler Adult Intelligence
Scale-Revised was in the average range. He performed below
average on one subtest, Arithmetic, the one test on which he
did not appear to put forth his best effort. His scores on
three o¢f the verbal tests, Vocabulary, Comprehension and
Similarities, were above average, indicating that he has a
very good capacity for verbal reasoning and problem solving.
The defendant's anxiety and depression may have decreased
his efficiency on some of the timed, performance tests, and
his actual intellectual functioning may well be above
average. However, his abilities to understand, analyze and
reason do not appear to be compromised by his present
distressed mood.

Mr. Dahmer was somewhat reluctant to take the Minnesota
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Multiphasic Personality Inventory-2, and his responses to
the items in the latter portion of the test suggest that he
became rather careless or random in responding, thereby
invalidating that portion of the test. However, he does
appear to have responded validly to the first two-thirds
of the test, on which the standard validity and clinical
scales are based. Individuals with similar profiles have a
pattern of chronic psychological maladjustment, wusually
viewed diagnostically as a severe personality disorder.
They feel alienated from others and appear to be aloof and
cold. They have great difficulty in social relationships.
Anger, anxiety, depression and impulsivity are problems for
them. They are also highly prone to the development of an

addictive disorder. The defendant reports particular
problems with alcohol abuse, sexuality and suicidal
ideation. Similar prisoners 1in correctional settings

require mental health treatment within the institution.

COMPETENCY ASSESSMENT: Mr. Dahmer was able to name the
charges he faces in Summit County and to provide a coherent
account of events at the time of the alleged offenses. He
was aware of the sentence he could receive if he pleads
gullty or 1s convicted as charged. He indicated that his
defense lawyer, Attorney Lawrence Vuillemin, had travelled
to Columbia Correctional Institution to meet with him. Mr.
Dahmer reported that he had had no difficulty in relating to
his new attorney. He was pleased that his parents have
replaced his Milwaukee attorney and indicated that his
family seems to feel that Attorney Vuillemin will represent
his interests well.

Mr. Dahmer stated that he was dreading his return to Summit
County, as he had found the trial in Milwaukee to be quite
distressing. However, he stated that he had given a
statement to law enforcement authorities regarding the
present charges because it is his desire to resolve this
matter for the sake of the victim's family. He indicated
that it 1s his intention to plead guilty to the present
offenses. He 1is fully aware that he <can receive a
substantial sentence if he pleads guilty, but he indicated
that this sentence is of minimal consequence to him, given
the fact that he 1is serving fifteen consecutive 1life
sentences in the State of Wisconsin. He is aware that he is
waiving his right to a trial by jury if he pleads guilty,
and he views this as a desirable alternative, given the
stressful nature of the trial he underwent in Milwaukee.

Mr. Dahmer was well-acgquainted wi+h the roles cf the various
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in a criminal courtroom and with the adversarial
nature Of the proceedings against him. He displayed the

capacity to consider the defense alternatives available to
him and to make a reasoned choice among them with the

assistance of counsel.

figures

OPINION: Jeffrey Dahmer is a thirty-one Yyear old high
school graduate of at least average intelligence with a
history of unskilled but stable employment. He has
long-standing psychological difficulties, including alcohol
dependence, sexual conflicts and personality problems. He
is presently serving fifteen consecutive life sentences at
the Columbia Correctional Institution in Portage, Wisconsin,
where he is receiving psychiatric and psychological
treatment for symptoms of anxiety and depression and
suicidal ideation. However, he is not currently displaying
any symptoms of a major mental illness, including perceptual
or cognitive distortions or difficulty with thinking. He
has a very good understanding of the nature of the
proceedings against him and he has the capacity to work with
his attorney to make a reasoned decision about the best

response to these charges.

Therefore, based upon the clinical interview, psychological
testing and the available information, it is my opinion that
the defendant is <capable of understanding the nature and
objective of the proceedings against him and of presently
assisting in his defense. Thus, it is my opinion, with
reasonable scientific certainty, that he is competent to
stand trial.

Tt should be noted that two weeks will have elapsed between

the time of the April 17 interview and the scheduled court
hearing on May 1. It is my understanding that arrangements
have Dbeen made for me to update this evaluation on May 1,
1992 +to ensure that the defendant's condition has not
deteriorated since the April 17th interview.

Respectfully submitted,

/(W’QU«/%&- W;PLQ .

Kathleen P. Stafford, Ph.D., ABPP
Director/Clinical Psychologist
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Mr. Gerald p, Boyle
Attorney at Law

1124 W, wells Street
Milwaukee, WI 53233

RE: Jeffrey Dahmer

Dear Mr, Boyle:

In accordance with your féquest, I have éxamined the above notegd
individual, I am nowApreparei to render an oPinion that I under-

Prior to My psychiatric interview of the above no ted Person,
had lengthy conversations with You about the circumstapnces of the
case. you furnished ne with the confession given by Mr. Danmer
to the Police. I also received fronm You and youyr associates
additiona} information that Supplemented the Confession, I
received sonme wWOrk product notes done by your °ffice which re-~
vealed additional information that the defendant disclosed to you

interest ¢to me before T traveled o Wisconsin to meet with him,
Of course, also had a3 CoOpY of the Criminal complaint Stating

the_charges and what Supported thenm.

I traveled to Wisconsin and met with Mr. Dahmer op November 12,
1991, Spending Several hours wWith him on that day, Subsequent tq
that, r looked at o ther Written materials, SPent a good deal of
time with YOoU and members orf Z0ur office, viewed Photographs and
did a number of other things i{n Preparation to formulating what
thought ¢ be a Proper psychiatrje Statement relative o this

Ccase, )

Otherwise, jj the early 1lirfe Of Mr. Dahmer hasg been foung, It
may be that Such evidence could stily matarialize subsequently. I
have noteg that he was an dverage student, g found that Prior to
1978 when he Committed hisg firse <illing, he Ya8s engaged ;g

Saxual activity of , homosexual Aatuire.  This was poe Of great



import except for the fact that he started.zﬂﬁ~ _____ £ .the age aof
%:.., or p searlier, experiencing R INECIEIN  sexual
ntasies’ ded - thoughts of necrophik¥a.” The necrophiil-

ic fantasies were aboUt males exclusively. I found that in 197g
he committed his first killing, which was an early harbinger
regarding some of his future conduct. Further necrophilic behav-
ior per se, however, was apparently dormant for the next nine

years,

I learned from Mr. Dahmer and from other documents and sources
what transpired in his life from 1978 to 1987 when he committed
the next killing. I learned of his schooling, his military
experience, nis work record. I learned of his thought processes

and of his continuing mind set.

In summary, I have clinically interviewed Mr. Dahmer, reviewed
his mental processes and studied voluminous additional material
regarding his background. It is my professional belief that in
1987 when he committed his Ffirst charged homicide in Wisconsin,
he was suffering from a mental disorder. The type of disorder is
paraphilic disorder, not otherwise specified (specifically,
necrophilia). This paraphilic disorder is a mental disease and,
in my professional judgment, because of said mental dissase Mr.
Dahmer lacked substantial capacity to conform his behavior and/or
his conduct to the requirements of law. It is my professional
cpinion that this condition, as stated above, was in existence at
the time specified and that it continued through ‘the commission
of all of the other charged homicides. I further believe that as
time went on his impairment, which was already substantial in
1378, continued to become even worse.

I trust that these commeats will prove useful and that they have
been responsive to your gquestions. If I can be of any further

‘assistance, please do not hesitate tc let me Xnow. Obviously I

will be further supplementing this opinion which I have made wi=h

a reasonable degree of medical certainty as the trial dats ra-
garding these matters approaches. If my opinion in any substan-
tial way changes based on further clinical interviews or the
availability of additional informatiom, I will immediataly let

you know,
Thank you very much.
Sincerely,
6—:' B&.ﬂ )
./V.L/ s
Fred S. Berlin, M.D., Ph.D.
Associate Professor,

The Johns Hopkins University, School of Medicine _
Director, The Johns Hopkins Sexual Disorders Clinic
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